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Preface

NEW TO THIS EDITION

Finance is a dynamic discipline, as illustrated on this book’s cover by the evolu-
tion of payment methods from coins and paper currency to bitcoin. As we made
plans to publish the eighth edition, we were mindful of feedback from users of
the seventh edition and of changes in managerial finance practices that have
taken hold in recent years. For example, in the United States of America, the
Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 made sweeping changes to the corporate and
personal tax codes. The new tax law changes the corporate tax from a progres-
sive structure to one with a flat 21% tax rate. It also allows firms to immediately
expense many types of capital assets while imposing limits on interest deduct-
ibility. This edition incorporates these changes and highlights how tax changes
may alter firms’ incentives in a variety of ways.

In every chapter, our changes were designed to make the material more up to
date and more relevant for students. A number of new topics have been added at
appropriate places, and new features appear in each chapter:

e We have rewritten all of the Focus on Ethics boxes, using new examples to
highlight situations in which businesses or individuals have engaged in unethi-
cal behavior. The boxes explore the consequences of ethical lapses and the ways
in which markets and governments play a role in enforcing ethical standards.

e New in this edition are Chapter Introduction Videos and animations. In the
introduction videos the authors explain the importance of the chapter content
within the context of managerial finance. The animations for select in-chapter
figures and examples allow students to manipulate inputs to determine out-
puts in order to illustrate concepts and reinforce learning. MyLab Finance
also offers new and updated Solution Videos that allow students to watch a
video of the author discussing or solving in-chapter examples. We have also
updated the financial calculator images that appear in the book to better
match the financial calculator available on MyLab Finance.

e The chapter-ending Spreadsheet Exercises as well as select end-of-chapter
problems in the text are now offered in MyLab Finance as auto-graded Excel
Projects. Using proven, field-tested technology, auto-graded Excel Projects
allow instructors to seamlessly integrate Microsoft Excel content into their
course without having to manually grade spreadsheets. Students have the
opportunity to practice important finance skills in Excel, helping them to
master key concepts and gain proficiency with the program.

e We added new problems to each chapter, many of which require students to
use real-world data and features of the new tax code to reach a solution.

The chapter sequence is essentially unchanged from the prior edition, but
there are some noteworthy changes within each chapter. This edition contains
fifteen chapters divided into seven parts. Each part is introduced by a brief over-
view, which is intended to give students an advance sense for the collective value
of the chapters included in the part.
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Part 1 contains two chapters. Chapter 1 provides an overview of the role of
managerial finance in a business enterprise. It contains new, expanded content
focusing on the goal of the firm and the broad principles that financial managers
use in their pursuit of that goal. Chapter 2 describes the financial market context
in which firms operate, with new coverage focusing on the transactions costs
investors face when trading in secondary markets.

Part 2 contains three chapters focused on basic financial skills such as finan-
cial statement analysis, cash flow analysis, and time-value-of-money calculations.
Chapter 3 provides an in-depth ratio analysis using real data from Whole Foods
just prior to its acquisition by Amazon. The ratios provide opportunities for
interesting discussion about some of the possible motives for that acquisition. We
reorganized the flow of material in Chapter 4 to emphasize first the broad goals
of strategic and operational financial planning and then the importance of cash
flow within any financial plan. In Chapter 5, we rewrote much of the discussion
to make time-value-of-money concepts simpler and more intuitive. We also added
new coverage of growing perpetuities.

Part 3 focuses on bond and stock valuation. We placed these two chapters
just ahead of the risk and return chapter to provide students with exposure to
basic material on bonds and stocks that is easier to grasp than some of the more
theoretical concepts in the next part. New in Chapter 6 is a discussion of the neg-
ative interest rates prevailing on government bonds in Japan and some European
countries, as well as an expanded discussion of the tendency of the yield curve to
invert prior to a recession. Chapter 7 offers new coverage of the use of price-to-
earnings multiples to value stocks.

Part 4 contains the risk and return chapter as well as the chapter on the cost
of capital. We believe that following the risk and return chapter with the cost
of capital material helps students understand the important principle that the
expectations of a firm’s investors shape how the firm should approach major
investment decisions (which are covered in Part 5). In other words, Part 4 is
designed to help students understand where a project “hurdle rate” comes from
before they start using hurdle rates in capital budgeting problems. Updates to
Chapter 8 include new historical data on stocks, bonds, and Treasury bills, as
well as examples and problems featuring real data on companies such as Apple,
Google, Coca-Cola, and Wal-Mart. Chapter 9 contains new material on the use
of market-value-based weights in the cost of capital calculation featuring actual
data on the capital structure of Netflix. Throughout the chapter we have revised
examples and problems to reflect today’s low interest rate environment and the
correspondingly low after-tax cost of debt faced by most public companies.

Part 5 contains two chapters on various capital budgeting topics. The first
chapter focuses on capital budgeting methods such as payback and net present
value analysis. A new feature of this chapter is an updated discussion of eco-
nomic value added using data from Exxon Mobil Corp. The second chapter in
this part explains how financial analysts construct cash flow projections, which
are a required component of net present value analysis. It also describes how
firms analyze the risks associated with capital investments.

Part 6 deals with the topics of capital structure and payout policy. These
two chapters contain updated material on trends in firms’ use of leverage and
their payout practices. Chapter 12 provides a new Focus on Practice box dis-
cussing how Qualcomm’s highly skilled labor force turns what often is thought
of as a variable cost into a fixed cost and thereby creates operating leverage.



Preface 29

The chapter also contains new expanded coverage of the role that expected bank-
ruptcy costs play in capital structure decisions. A new discussion in Chapter 13
highlights how and why companies have shifted their payout policies away from
dividends and toward share repurchases over time.

Part 7 contains two chapters centered on working capital issues. A major
development in business has been the extent to which firms have found new ways
to economize on working capital investments. The first chapter in Part 7 explains
why and how firms work hard to squeeze resources from their investments in
current assets such as cash and inventory. The second chapter in this part focuses
more on management of current liabilities.

Although the text content is sequential, instructors can assign almost any
chapter as a self-contained unit, enabling instructors to customize the text to
various teaching strategies and course lengths.

Like the previous editions, the eighth edition incorporates a proven learning
system, which integrates pedagogy with concepts and practical applications.
It concentrates on the knowledge that is needed to make keen financial deci-
sions in an increasingly competitive business environment. The strong pedagogy
and generous use of examples—many of which use real data from markets or
companies—make the text an easily accessible resource for in-class learning or
out-of-class learning, such as online courses and self-study programs.

SOLVING TEACHING AND LEARNING CHALLENGES

The desire to write Principles of Managerial Finance, Brief Edition came from
the experience of teaching the introductory managerial finance course. Those
who have taught the introductory course many times can appreciate the difficul-
ties that some students have absorbing and applying financial concepts. Students
want a book that speaks to them in plain English and explains how to apply
financial concepts to solve real-world problems. These students want more than
just description; they also want demonstration of concepts, tools, and techniques.
This book is written with the needs of students in mind, and it effectively delivers
the resources that students need to succeed in the introductory finance course.

Courses and students have changed since the first edition of this book, but
the goals of the text have not changed. The conversational tone and wide use of
examples set off in the text still characterize Principles of Managerial Finance,
Brief Edition. Building on those strengths, eight editions, numerous transla-
tions, and well over half a million users, Principles has evolved based on feed-
back from both instructors and students, from adopters, nonadopters, and
practitioners. In this edition, we have worked to ensure that the book reflects
contemporary thinking and pedagogy to further strengthen the delivery of the
classic topics that our users have come to expect. Below are descriptions of the
most important resources in Principles that help meet teaching and learning
challenges.

Users of Principles of Managerial Finance, Brief Edition have praised the
effectiveness of the book’s Teaching and Learning System, which they hail as one
of its hallmarks. The system, driven by a set of carefully developed learning goals,
has been retained and polished in this eighth edition. The “walkthrough” on the
pages that follow illustrates and describes the key elements of the Teaching and
Learning System. We encourage both students and instructors to acquaint them-
selves at the start of the semester with the many useful features the book offers.
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Six Learning Goals at the start of the

chapter highlight the most impor-

1 tant concepts and techniques in the
chapter. Students are reminded to

think about the learning goals while

working through the chapter by stra-

tegically placed learning goal icons.
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The Role of Manageiial Finance

LEARNING GOALS [ MyLab Finance Chapter Introduction Video ]

[T Define finance and the

—To help students understand the rel-

managerial finance WHY THIS CHAPTER MATTERS TO YOU
function. . M : .
In your professional life evance of a chapter within the over
Describe the goal of the . R
firm, and explain why ACCOUNTING You need to undk d the between tt archlng framework Of managerlal
maximizing the value of the and finance functions within the firm, how decision makers rely on the fina . R .
firm is an goal you prepare, why i a firm’s value is not the same as
for a business. maximizing its profits, and the ethical duty you have when reporting financial fmance, every Chapter has avallable m
results to investors and other stakeholders. D 1 M :
ki o ey INFORMATION SYSTEMS You need to understand why financial information is yLab Finance a ShOI‘t Chap ter mtro
D o e important to managers in all functional areas, the documentation that firms must duCtiOH VideO b n authOI'
manager. produce to comply with various regulations, and how manip i ion for y a .
Explainthe Key principles personal gain can get managers into serious trouble.
that financial managers use MANAGEMENT You need to understand the various legal forms of a business .
when making buses rgaisaton. how o commaniens e gon o o 5 aploy e e Every chapter opens with a feature,
decisions.  the and disadh of the agency relationship . .
o e looal o gf | Petwean s managers an i owner, and o compansation st an titled Why This Chapter Matters
LG Eesc” OO egat SE=c align or misalign the interests of managers and investors. .
usiness organization.
g MARKETING You noed to understand why increasinga ' reveus or ket to You, that helps motivate student
LGO Describe the nature of the share is not always a good thing, how financial managers evaluate aspects of . . . .
principal-agent relationship customer relations such as cash and credit management policies, and why a firm's mnterest by hlghllghtlng bOth pr OfCS-
between the owners and brands are an important part of its value to investors. . .
managers of 8 CPOANON.  PERATIONS You nes 0 st th fancil baneis of creasing a ' sional and personal benefits from
Cl e"Pta'" SUAEIETE production efficiency, why maximizing profit by cutting costs may not increase the h . . h h 1 . 1
corporate governance Frens valu, and b Bt o) Cuting el oy ol neres
e v irm’s value, and how managers have a duty to act on behalf of investors when ac leVlng the C apter earnlng goa S.

operating a corporation.
manage agency problems.

In your personal life Its first part, In Your Professional
Tow Hpls rmciplos s vl you eanege oot o mobey s afscrvay Life, discusses the intersection of the

finance topics covered in the chapter
with the concerns of other major
business disciplines. It encourages
students majoring in accounting,
information systems, management,
marketing, and operations to appre-
ciate how financial acumen will help
them achieve their professional goals.
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The second part, In Your Personal Life, identifies topics in the chapter that will
have particular application to personal finance. This feature also helps students
appreciate the tasks performed in a business setting by pointing out that the tasks
are not necessarily different from those that are relevant in their personal lives.

— —— Learning goal icons tie chapter content to the
. Inance an e rirm

: T learning goals and appear next to related text sec-
The field of finance is broad and dynamic. Finance influences everything that . L
firms do, from hiring personnel to building factories to launching new advertis- tions and again in the chapter-end summary, end-

ing campaigns. Because almost any aspect of business has important financial

dimensions, many financially oriented career opportunities await those who o :

i RO e I N U I TR OO RO of-chapter problems and exercises, and supplements
yourself pursuing a career in another discipline such as marketing, operations,

Secounting, Suppty chain, or human resources, soul find that unceretanding 4 such as the Test Bank and MyLab.

few crucial ideas in finance will enhance your professional success. Knowing
how financial managers think is important, especially if you’re not one yourself,
because they are often the gatekeepers of corporate resources. Fluency in the lan-
guage of finance will improve your ability to communicate the value of your
ideas to your employer. Financial knowledge will also make you a smarter con-
sumer and a wiser investor with your own money.




THE ROLE OF BUSINESS ETHICS

business ethics Business cthics are the standards of conduct or moral judgment that apply to
Standards of conduct ormoral  persons engaged in commerce. Violations of these standards involve a variety of
judgment that apply to persons  actions: “creative accounting,” earnings management, misleading financial fore-
engaged in commerce. casts, insider trading, fraud, excessive executive compensation, options backdat-
ing, bribery, and kickbacks. The financial press has reported many such
violations in recent years, involving such well-known companies as Wells Fargo,
where employees opened new accounts without authorization from customers,
and Volkswagen, where engineers set up elaborate deceptions to get around pol-
lution controls. In these and similar cases, the offending companies suffered
various penalties, including fines levied by government agencies, damages paid
to plaintiffs in lawsuits, or lost revenues from customers who abandoned the
firms because of their errant behavior. Most companies have adopted formal

MATTER OF FACT

Finance Professors Aren‘t Like Everyone Else

Professionals who advise individual investors know that many people are more willing to
invest in the stock market if it has been rising in the recent past and are less willing to do
so if it has been falling. Such “trend-chasing” behavior often leaves investors worse off
than if they had invested consistently over time. Classical finance theory suggests that
past performance of the stock market is a very poor predictor of future performance,
and therefore individuals should not base investment decisions on the market’s recent
history. A survey found that at least one group of investors did not fall prey to trend
chasing in the stock market. When deciding whether to invest in stocks, finance profes-
sors were not influenced by the market's recent trend, presumably because they know
that past performance does not predict the future. That's just one of the lessons in this
book that can help you make better choices with your own money.

Source: Hibbert, Lawrence, and Prakash, 2012, “Do finance professors invest like everyone else?” Financial
Analysts Journal.
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For help in study and review, boldfaced key terms
and their definitions appear in the margin where
they are first introduced. These terms are also bold-
faced in the book’s index and appear in the end-of-
book glossary.

Matter of Fact boxes provide interesting empirical
facts, usually featuring recent data, that add back-
ground and depth to the material covered in the
chapter.

IRF EXAMPLE 5.10

MyLab Finance Animation

Timeline for present value
of an annuity due ($700
beginning-of-year cash
flows, discounted at 4%,
over 5 years)

MyLab Finance Financial
Calculator

Note: Switch calculator
to BEGIN mode.

Input ~ Function

4 w
5 [
ot
[

Solution -3,240.93
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T TRV TR TDEC] TS
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In Example 5.8 involving Braden Company, we found the present value of Braden’s
$700, S-year ordinary annuity discounted at 4% to be $3,116.28. We now assume
that Braden’s $700 annual cash in flow occurs at the szart of each year and is
thereby an annuity due. The following timeline illustrates the new situation.

Year
0 1 2 3 4 5
L 1 1 1 1 1
$700 $700 $700 $700 $700

\4
$ 700.00
673.08

647.19
622.30
598.36
Present Value $3,240.93

We can calculate its present value using a calculator or a spreadsheet.

Calculator use Before using your calculator to find the present value of an annuity
due, you must either switch it to BEGIN mode or use the DUE key, depending on
the specifics of your calculator. Then, using the inputs shown at the left, you will
find the present value of the annuity due to be $3,240.93 (Note: Because we nearly
always assume end-of-period cash flows, be sure to switch your calculator back to
END mode when you have completed your annuity-due calculations.)

Spreadsheet use The following spreadsheet shows how to calculate the present
value of the annuity due.

A I B
Mﬂ% 1 PRESENT VALUE OF AN ANNUITY DUE
2 | Annual annuity payment $700
3 | Annual rate of interest 4%
4 | Number of years 5
5 | Present value -$3,240.93

Entry in Cell B5 is =PV(B3,B4,B2,0,1).
The minus sign appears before the $3,240.93
in B5 because the annuity’s present value
is a cost and therefore a cash outflow.

Examples are an important component
of the book’s learning system. Numbered
and clearly set off from the text, they
provide an immediate and concrete
demonstration of how to apply financial
concepts, tools, and techniques. Many of
these feature real-world data.

Examples illustrating time-value-of-
money techniques often show the use

of time lines, equations, financial cal-
culators, and spreadsheets (with cell
formulas). For instructors who prefer

to use tables with interest rate fac-

tors, an IRF icon appearing with some
examples indicates that the example can
be solved using the interest rate factors.
The reader can access the Interest Rate
Factor Supplement in MyLab Finance.
The Interest Rate Factor Supplement is a
self-contained supplement that explains
how the reader should use the interest
rate factors and documents how the in-
chapter examples can be solved by using
them.
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MyLab Finance contains additional resources to demonstrate the examples.

The MyLab Financial Calculator reference indicates that the reader can use the
finance calculator tool in MyLab Finance to find the solution for an example by
inputting the keystrokes shown in the calculator screenshot. The MyLab Finance
Solution Video reference indicates that the reader can go to MyLab Finance

to watch a video of the author discussing or solving the example. The MyLab
Finance Video reference indicates that the reader can watch a video on related

core topical areas.

Fran Abrams wishes to determine how much money she
will have after S years if she chooses annuity A, the ordi-
nary annuity. She will deposit the $1,000 annual payments that the annuity pro-
vides at the end of each of the next 5 years into a savings account paying 7%
annual interest. This situation is depicted on the following timeline.

IRF PERSONAL FINANCE EXAMPLE 5.7

MyLab Finance Animation

Timeline for future value of Year
an ordinary annuity ($1,000 2 3 4 5

end-of-year deposit, earnin
4 " 9 $1,1 OOO $1, OOO $1, OOO $1,1 OOO $1, OOO

7%, after 5 years)
$1 ooo 00
1,070.00
1,144.90
1,225.04

1,310.80
$5,750.74 Future Value

o

MyLab Finance Financial

Calculator As the figure shows, after S years, Fran will have $5,750.74 in her account. Note

that because she makes deposits at the end of the vear. the first deposit will earn

PVy=CF +r (5.7)

- REVIEW QUESTIONS MyLab Finance Solutions

5-10 What is the difference between an ordinary annuity and an annuity
due? Which is more valuable? Why?

5-11 What are the most efficient ways to calculate the present value of an
ordinary annuity?

5-12 How can the formula for the future value of an annuity be modified to
find the future value of an annuity due?

5-13 How can the formula for the present value of an ordinary annuity be
modified to find the present value of an annuity due?

5-14 What is a perpetuity? Why is the present value of a perpetuity equal to
the annual cash payment divided by the interest rate? Why doesn’t this
chapter provide an equation showing you how to calculate the future
value of a perpetuity?

- EXCEL REVIEW QUESTIONS MyLab Finance Solutions

5-15 Because tax time comes around every year, you smartly decide to make
equal contributions to your IRA at the end of every year. Using the
information provided at MyLab Finance, calculate the future value of
your IRA contributions when you retire.

5-16 You have just graduated from college and begun your new career,
and now it is time to buy your first home. Using the information
provided at MyLab Finance, determine how much you can spend
for your new dream home.

Personal Finance Examples demonstrate
how students can apply managerial
finance concepts, tools, and techniques
to their personal financial decisions.

Key Equations appear in green boxes
throughout the text to help readers identify
the most important mathematical relation-
ships.

Review Questions appear at the end of each
major text section. These questions chal-
lenge readers to stop and test their under-
standing of key concepts, tools, techniques,
and practices before moving on to the next
section.

NEW! Some sections have dedicated Excel
Review Questions that ask students to dem-
onstrate their ability to solve a financial
problem using Excel.
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Most schoolchildren marvel when
hearing Manhattan was purchased for
a song in 1626. As the story goes,
Peter Minuit of the Dutch West India
Company gave the Lenape Native
it clo il irir, "

about 787 Euros today after adjusting
for inflation. Based on the recent
exchange rate between the Euro and
the U.S. dollar, that translates to
about $871. Now, the deal looks a bit

Was the Deal for Manhattan a Swindle?

ments,
L

to today, the sum would grow to
roughly 4 trillion guilders or $2 trillion
Based on New York City's Depart-
ment of Finance property tax assess-
$2 trillion is roughly twice the

£l . L

Qualcomm's Leverage

Qualcomm Inc., one of the largest
semiconductor companies in the
United States, designs and sells wire-
less telecommunications chips. Unlike
some other chip manufacturers, such
as Intel, Qualcomm is largely a fabless
company, meaning that it does not
own and operate its own fabrication
(i.e., manufacturing) plants, but rather
outsources the production of the
devices it sells to third parties. This
strategy makes Qualcomm’s fixed
costs lower than those of other firms
that manufacture their own products.

Even so, some of Qualcomm'’s costs
are fixed. The company invests heavily
in research and development, and it
incurs those costs well before it knows
what the demand for new devices will
be. In addition, Qualcomm'’s labor
force, numbering roughly 30,000

in practice

employees, is highly skilled. Many of
the company’s workers have advanced
degrees in technical fields such as elec-
trical engineering. Although we often
think of labor as a variable cost, most
companies do not lay off their most
skilled workers due to a temporary
decline in sales. Thus, at least some of
Qualcomm’s payroll is best considered
a fixed cost, at least in the short run.

To what extent do Qualcomm'’s
fixed costs give the company operat-
ing leverage? As demonstrated in the
following table, the company experi-
enced sales increases in every year
from 2011 to 2014, but the percentage
increase in EBIT was significantly
greater than the gain in sales only in
2011. From 2012 to 2014, Qualcomm's
degree of operating leverage hovered
at or below 1.0, prompting some Wall

Street analysts to question why the
company was not able to increase its
profits faster during a period of rapid
sales gains. In 2015 and 2016, Qual-
comm fell behind the leading edge of
technology, and some of its core chips
for cell phones were no longer com-
petitive. As a result, sales fell in 2 con-
secutive years, and EBIT fell even
faster. In 2015 and 2016, Qualcomm'’s
degree of operating leverage roughly
doubled what it had been in the previ-
ous 4 years. Qualcomm experienced
the downside of operating leverage in
2015 and 2016 without benefiting from
it in the previous years when sales
were on the rise.

» Summarize the pros and cons of
operating leverage.

Item FY2011 FY2012 FY2013 FY2014 FY2015 FY2016
Sales revenue (millions) $14,566 $19,121 $24,866 $26,487 $25,281 $23,554
EBIT (millions) 54,882 $5,705 $7,561 $8,034 $§7,212 $6,269
(1) Percent change in sales 32.4% 31.4% 30.0% 65% ~4.6% —6.8%
(2) Percent change in EBIT 48.6% 16.8% 32.5% 6.2% ~10.2% ~13.1%
DOL[(2) + (1)] 15 05 1.1 1.0 22 1.9
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In Practice boxes offer insights into impor-
tant topics in managerial finance through
the experiences of real companies, both
large and small. There are two categories
of In Practice boxes:

Focus on Ethics boxes help readers under-
stand and appreciate important ethical
issues and problems related to managerial
finance. Nearly all of these boxes are brand
new in this edition, and those that are not
brand new have been substantially revised.

Focus on Practice boxes take a corporate
focus that relates a business event or situation
to a specific financial concept or technique.

Both types of In Practice boxes end with

one or more critical thinking questions to
help readers broaden the lesson from the
content of the box.

SUMMARY

FOCUS ON VALUE

The time value of money is an important tool that financial managers and other
market participants use to compare cash inflows and outflows occurring at dif-

The end-of-chapter Summary con-
sists of two sections. The first sec-
tion, Focus on Value, explains how
the chapter’s content relates to the

ferent times. Because firms routinely make investments that produce cash

inflows over long periods of time, the effective application of time-value-of-

money techniques is extremely important. These techniques enable financial
L P s

REVIEW OF LEARNING GOALS

Discuss the role of time value in finance, the use of computational tools,
— and the basic patterns of cash flow. Financial managers and investors use time-
value-of-money techniques when assessing the value of expected cash flow
streams. Alternatives can be assessed by either compounding to find future
value or discounting to find present value. Financial managers rely primarily
on present-value techniques. Financial calculators and electronic spreadsheets

firm’s goal of maximizing owner
wealth. This feature helps reinforce
understanding of the link between
the financial manager’s actions and
share value.

The second part of the Summary,
the Review of Learning Goals,
restates each learning goal and
summarizes the key material that
was presented to support mastery
of the goal. This review provides
students with an opportunity to
reconcile what they have learned
with the learning goal and to con-
firm their understanding before
moving forward.
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IRF

SELF-TEST PROBLEMS (Solutions in Appendix)

Future values for various compounding frequencies Delia Martin has $10,000 that

she can deposit in any of three savings accounts for a 3-year period. Bank A com-

pounds interest on an annual basis, bank B compounds interest twice each year, and

bank C compounds interest each quarter. All three banks have a stated annual

interest rate of 4%.

a. What amount would Ms. Martin have after 3 years, leaving all interest paid on
deposit, in each bank?

b. What effective annual rate (EAR) would she earn in each of the banks?

c. On the basis of your findings in parts a and b, which bank should Ms. Martin
deal with? Why?

d. If a fourth bank (bank D), also with a 4% stated interest rate, compounds
interest continuously, how much would Ms. Martin have after 3 years?
Does this alternative change your recommendation in part ¢? Explain why or
why not.

E5-1

LGe

E5-2

WARM-UP EXERCISES Select problems are available in MyLab Finance.

Assume that Amaya Chidori makes a ¥40,000 deposit into an investment account in
a bank in Sendai, Japan. If this account is currently paying 0.5% per annum, what
will the account balance be after 2 years?

Paul Jackson saved £6,200 over last 2 years and decided to invest in an individual
savings account (ISA), which is a type of savings account that offers tax exemptions
to residents of the United Kingdom. If the ISA pays 3% annual interest, what will
the account balance be after 3 years?

PROBLEMS

P4-1

P4-2

LGe

Select problems are available in MyLab Finance. The wyta» icon
indicates problems in Excel format available in MyLab Finance.

Depreciation On March 20, 2019, Norton Systems acquired two new assets. Asset
A was research equipment costing $17,000 and having a 3-year recovery period.
Asset B was duplicating equipment with an installed cost of $45,000 and a S-year
recovery period. Using the MACRS depreciation percentages in Table 4.2, prepare a
depreciation schedule for each of these assets.

Depreciation Early this year, Rubber Incorporated purchased a new machine for
$12,000 to shape rubber. It is estimated that the new machine will have a recovery
period of 3 years with an expected salvage value of $2,500. Use the MACRS deprecia-
tion percentages in Table 4.2 to develop a depreciation schedule for the new machine.

P4-20 Integrative: Pro forma statements Abru Industries has decided to prepare financial

plans. Use the financial statements and other information provided below to prepare
the financial plans.

Self-Test Problems, keyed to the
learning goals, give readers an
opportunity to strengthen their
understanding of topics by doing

a sample problem. For reinforce-
ment, solutions to the Self-Test
Problems appear in the appendix at
the back of the book. An IRF icon
indicates that the Self-Test Problem
can be solved using the interest rate
factors. The reader can access the
Interest Rate Factor Supplement in
MyLab Finance.

Warm-Up Exercises follow the
Self-Test Problems. These short,
numerical exercises give students
practice in applying tools and tech-
niques presented in the chapter.

Comprehensive Problems, keyed to
the learning goals, are longer and
more complex than the Warm-Up
Exercises. In this section, instruc-

tors will find multiple problems that
address the important concepts, tools,
and techniques in the chapter.

New! Excel templates for many end-
of-chapter problems are available in
MyLab Finance. These templates do
not solve problems for students, but
rather help students reach a solution
faster by inputting data for them

or by organizing facts presented in
problems in a logical way.

A short descriptor identifies the
essential concept or technique of

the problem. Problems labeled as
Integrative tie together related topics.
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Personal Finance Problem Personal Finance Problems specifi-
P4-11 Preparation of cash budget Sam and Suzy Sizeman need to prepare a cash budget Cally relate to personal ﬁnance Situa_
for the last quarter of 2020 to make sure they can cover their expenditures during . .
the period. Sam and Suzy have been preparing budgets for the past several years and tions and PCrSOnal Flnance EXampleS
have been able to identify the percentage of their income that they pay for most of ln Cach Chapter. ThCSC problems Wlll
P4-22 ETHICS PROBLEM The SEC is trying to get companies to notify the investment help Students see hOW they can apply
community more quickly when a “material change” will affect their forthcoming .
financial results. In what sense might a financial manager be seen as “more ethical” the t0015 and tCChquuCS Of manage-

if he or she follows this directive and issues a press release indicating that sales will
not be as high as previously anticipated?

rial finance in managing their own
finances.

Select exercises and problems are
available in MyLab Finance.

Every chapter includes a Spreadsheet Exercise.

This exercise gives students an opportunity to use
< have b s d ¢h k of i h sta for th ” “om-
Ly it o e expected s and owiiowe of ek over e montheof 1y | EXCel software to create one or more spreadsheets
L hrough b ) . . - .
2020 through December 2020 with which to analyze a financial problem. The

spreadsheet to be created is often modeled on a
table or Excel screenshot located in the chapter.

MyLab FINANCE

Reach Every Student by Pairing This Text with MyLab Finance

MyLab is the teaching and learning platform that empowers you to reach every
student. By combining trusted author content with digital tools and a flexible plat-
form, MyLab personalizes the learning experience and improves results for each
student. Learn more about MyLab Finance at www.pearson.com/mylab/finance.

Deliver Trusted Content

You deserve teaching materials that meet your own high standards for your
course. That’s why Pearson partners with highly respected authors to develop
interactive content and course-specific resources that you can trust—and that
keep your students engaged.

Empower Each Learner

Each student learns at a different pace. Personalized learning pinpoints the pre-
cise areas where each student needs practice, giving all students the support they
need—when and where they need it—to be successful.

Teach Your Course Your Way

Your course is unique. So whether you’d like to build your own assignments,
teach multiple sections, or set prerequisites, MyLab gives you the flexibility to
easily create your course to fit your needs.

Improve Student Results

When you teach with MyLab, student performance improves. That’s why instruc-
tors have chosen MyLab for over 15 years, touching the lives of over 50 million
students.


http://www.pearson.com/mylab/finance
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MyLab opens the door to a powerful Web-based tutorial, testing, and diagnostic
learning system designed specifically for the Zutter/Smart, Principles of Managerial
Finance, Brief Edition. With MyLab, instructors can select an adaptable preconfig-
ured course or create their own. Both options allow instructors to create, edit, and
assign online homework, quizzes, and tests and track all student progress in the down-
loadable online gradebook. MyLab allows students to supplement and reinforce their
in-class learning by taking advantage of a progress-driven Study Plan or self-selected
practice problems, quizzes, and tests. For example, select end-of-chapter problems
are assignable by instructors or selectable by students in MyLab, and because the
problems have algorithmically generated values, no student will have the same home-
work as another or work the same problem twice; there is an unlimited opportunity
for practice and testing. Students get the help they need, when they need it, from the
robust tutorial options, including “View an Example” and “Help Me Solve This,”
which breaks the problem into steps and links to the relevant textbook page.

This fully integrated online system gives students the hands-on tutorial, prac-
tice, and diagnostic help they need to ensure they are effectively learning finance
in the most efficient manner. Utilization of the resources available in MyLab
Finance saves instructors time by enabling students to more effectively learn
on their own and providing instructors with a full account of student progress,
auto grading, and an online gradebook that can seamlessly link with a Learning
Management System (e.g., Blackboard Learn, Brightspace by D2L, Canvas, or
Moodle) or be downloaded to Excel.

The Multimedia Library in MyLab Finance provides students with access
to a variety of chapter resources all intended to reinforce their learning and
understanding of the textbook content. For example, students can access a
Chapter Introduction Video for every chapter and dozens of Solution Videos for
select in-chapter examples. Students can also access dynamic animations for select
figures and examples throughout the book that provide them with the ability to
control inputs and drive outputs to better understand the concepts.

The auto-graded Excel feature in MyLab Finance allows instructors to assign all
Spreadsheet Exercises and select end-of-chapter problems without having to manually
grade spreadsheets. Students have the opportunity to practice important finance skills
in Excel and instructors have the ability to assess their learning without the hassle
of time-consuming grading. Students simply download a spreadsheet, solve a finance
problem in Excel, and then upload the file back to MyLab Finance. Students will
receive personalized feedback on their work within minutes that allows them to pin-
point where they went wrong on any step of the problem.

Chapter Cases with automatically graded assessment are also provided in
MyLab Finance. These cases have students apply the concepts they have learned
to a more complex and realistic situation. These cases help strengthen practical
application of financial tools and techniques.

MyLab also has Group Exercises that students can work together in the
context of an ongoing company. Each group creates a company and follows it
through the various managerial finance topics and business activities presented
in the textbook.

MyLab Finance has an Interest Rate Factor Supplement that explains how to
use the interest rate factors in time-value-of-money problems and works seam-
lessly with the textbook. The student can go directly to the IRF Supplement and
see the in-chapter example solved using the interest rate factors. All examples
that appear in the IRF Supplement are indicated in the text with an IRF icon.
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Advanced reporting features in MyLab also allow you to easily report on
AACSB accreditation and assessment in just a few clicks.

An online glossary, digital flashcards, financial calculator tutorials, videos,
Spreadsheet Use examples from the text in Excel, and numerous other premium
resources are available in MyLab.

DEVELOPING EMPLOYABILITY SKILLS

For students to succeed in a rapidly changing job market, they should be aware of
their career options and how to go about developing a variety of skills. In this book
and in MyLab Finance, we focus on developing these skills in a variety of ways.
Excel modeling skills—Each chapter contains a Spreadsheet Exercise that
asks students to build an Excel model to help solve a business problem. Many
chapters provide screenshots showing completed Excel models designed to
solve in-chapter examples. Many chapters contain Excel Review Questions that
prompt students to practice using Excel to solve specific types of problems. In
addition, students can access the working Excel screenshots and solutions to the
Excel Review Questions in MyLab Finance to further reenforce their learning
and understanding. Also, in MyLab students will find dozens of Excel templates,
marked in the text with a special icon, that help them model select end-of-chapter
problems so they can reach a solution faster and with a deeper understanding of
the underlying concepts. Finally, as mentioned above, every Excel Spreadsheet
Exercise and select end-of-chapter problems can be assigned and auto graded.

A B
é’i 1 FUTURE VALUE OF AN ORDINARY ANNUITY
2 | Annual annuity payment -$1,000
3 | Annual rate of interest 7%
4 | Number of years 5
5 | Future value $5,750.74

Entry in Cell B5 is =FV(B3,B4,B2,0,0).
The minus sign appears before the $1,000
in B2 because the annuity’s payments
are cash outflows.

Ethical reasoning skills—The Focus on Ethics boxes describe situations
in which business professionals have violated ethical (and in some cases even
legal) standards and have suffered consequences as a result. These boxes will
help students recognize the ethical temptations they are likely to face while
pursuing a finance career and the consequences that they may suffer if they
behave unethically. Each chapter ends with an Ethics Problem that asks stu-
dents to consider the ethical dimensions of some business decision.

Critical thinking skills—Nearly every significant financial decision requires crit-
ical thinking because making optimal decisions means weighing the marginal benefits
and costs of alternative plans. To weigh those benefits and costs, one must first iden-
tify and quantify them. Nearly every chapter in this textbook discusses how finan-
cial analysts place a value on the net benefits associated with a particular decision.
Students who master this material will be prepared to ask the tough questions neces-
sary to assess whether a particular course of action creates value for shareholders.
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Data analysis skills—Financial work is about data. Financial analysts
have to identify the data that are relevant for a particular business problem,
and they must know how to process that data in a way that leads to good
decision making. In-chapter examples and end-of-chapter problems require
students to sort out relevant from irrelevant data and to use the data that
they have to make a clear recommendation about what course of action a
firm should take.

TABLE OF CONTENTS OVERVIEW

The text’s organization conceptually links the firm’s actions and its value as deter-
mined in the financial market. We discuss every significant financial problem or
decision in terms of both risk and return to assess the potential impact on owners’
wealth. A Focus on Value element in each chapter’s Summary helps reinforce the
student’s understanding of the link between the financial manager’s actions and
the firm’s share value.

In organizing each chapter, we have adhered to a managerial decision-making
perspective, relating decisions to the firm’s overall goal of wealth maximization.
Once a particular concept has been developed, its application is illustrated by an
example, which is a hallmark feature of this book. These examples demonstrate,
and solidify in the student’s thought, financial decision-making considerations
and their consequences.

INSTRUCTOR TEACHING RESOURCES

Supplements available to instructors at
www.pearsonglobaleditions.com/Zutter | Features of the Supplement

Instructor’s Manual

® Overview of key topics

® Detailed answers and solutions to all Opener-In-Review
Questions, Warm-Up Exercises, end-of-chapter Problems,
and Chapter Cases

* Suggested answers to all critical thinking questions in
chapter boxes, Ethics Problems, and Group Exercises

e Spreadsheet Exercises

e Group Exercises

e Integrative Cases

Test Bank

More than 2,700 multiple-choice, true/false, short-answer, and
graphing questions with these annotations:

e Difficulty level (1 for straight recall, 2 for some analysis,

3 for complex analysis)

Type (Multiple-choice, true/false, short-answer, essay)

Topic (The term or concept the question supports)

Learning outcome

AACSB learning standard (Ethical Understanding and
Reasoning; Analytical Thinking Skills; Information Technol-
ogy; Diverse and Multicultural Work; Reflective Thinking;
Application of Knowledge)



http://www.pearsonglobaleditions.com/Zutter
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Computerized TestGen

TestGen allows instructors to:

Customize, save, and generate classroom tests

Edit, add, or delete questions from the Test Item Files
Analyze test results

Organize a database of tests and student results

PowerPoints

Slides include all the figures and tables from the textbook.
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PART ONE

CHAPTERS IN THIS PART

1 The Role of Managerial Finance

2 The Financial Market Environment

Part 1 of Principles of Managerial Finance discusses the role of financial managers
in businesses and the financial market environment in which firms operate. We
argue that managers should aim to maximize the value of the firm and thereby
maximize the wealth of its owners. Financial managers act on behalf of the firm'’s
owners by making operating and investment decisions whose benefits exceed their
costs. Such decisions create wealth for shareholders. Maximizing wealth is important
because firms operate in a highly competitive financial market environment that
offers shareholders many alternatives for investing. To raise the financial resources
necessary to fund the firm's ongoing operations and future investment opportunities,
managers must deliver value to the firm’s investors. Without smart financial
managers and access to financial markets, firms are unlikely to survive, let alone
achieve the long-term goal of maximizing their value.
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The Role of Managerial Finance

LEARNING GOALS

LGQ Define finance and the
managerial finance
function.

LC@ Describe the goal of the
firm, and explain why
maximizing the value of the
firm is an appropriate goal
for a business.

LG@ Identify the primary
activities of the financial
manager.

LCO Explain the key principles
that financial managers use

when making business
decisions.

Describe the legal forms of

business organization.

Wey .Y Describe the nature of the
principal-agent relationship
between the owners and
managers of a corporation,
and explain how various
corporate governance
mechanisms attempt to
manage agency problems.
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[ MyLab Finance Chapter Introduction Video]

WHY THIS CHAPTER MATTERS TO YOU

In your professional life

ACCOUNTING You need to understand the relationships between the accounting
and finance functions within the firm, how decision makers rely on the financial
statements you prepare, why maximizing a firm’s value is not the same as
maximizing its profits, and the ethical duty you have when reporting financial
results to investors and other stakeholders.

INFORMATION SYSTEMS You need to understand why financial information is
important to managers in all functional areas, the documentation that firms must
produce to comply with various regulations, and how manipulating information for
personal gain can get managers into serious trouble.

MANAGEMENT You need to understand the various legal forms of a business
organization, how to communicate the goal of the firm to employees and other
stakeholders, the advantages and disadvantages of the agency relationship
between a firm’s managers and its owners, and how compensation systems can
align or misalign the interests of managers and investors.

MARKETING You need to understand why increasing a firm’s revenues or market
share is not always a good thing, how financial managers evaluate aspects of
customer relations such as cash and credit management policies, and why a firm’s
brands are an important part of its value to investors.

OPERATIONS You need to understand the financial benefits of increasing a firm’s
production efficiency, why maximizing profit by cutting costs may not increase the
firm’s value, and how managers have a duty to act on behalf of investors when
operating a corporation.

In your personal life

Many principles of managerial finance also apply to your personal life. Learning a
few simple principles can help you manage your own money more effectively.
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1.1 Finance and the Firm

finance

The science and art of how indi-
viduals and firms raise, allocate,
and invest money.

managerial finance
Concerns the duties of the
financial manager in a business.

The field of finance is broad and dynamic. Finance influences everything that
firms do, from hiring personnel to building factories to launching new advertis-
ing campaigns. Because almost any aspect of business has important financial
dimensions, many financially oriented career opportunities await those who
understand the principles of finance described in this textbook. Even if you see
yourself pursuing a career in another discipline such as marketing, operations,
accounting, supply chain, or human resources, you’ll find that understanding a
few crucial ideas in finance will enhance your professional success. Knowing
how financial managers think is important, especially if you’re not one yourself,
because they are often the gatekeepers of corporate resources. Fluency in the lan-
guage of finance will improve your ability to communicate the value of your
ideas to your employer. Financial knowledge will also make you a smarter con-
sumer and a wiser investor with your own money.

WHAT IS FINANCE?

Finance is the science and art of how individuals and firms raise, allocate, and invest
money. The science of finance utilizes financial theories and concepts to establish
general rules that can guide managers in their decisions. The art of finance involves
adapting theory to particular business situations with their own unique circum-
stances. Managerial finance is concerned with the responsibilities of a financial
manager working in a business. Though business finance is the primary focus of
this book, the principles of finance apply to both personal and professional decision
making. At the personal level, for instance, finance helps individuals decide how
much of their earnings to spend, how much to save, and how to invest their savings.
Financial thinking helps consumers decide when borrowing money is appropriate
and enables them to critically evaluate loan offers with different terms. In a business
context, finance involves the same types of decisions: how firms raise money from
investors, how firms invest money in attempting to create value for their investors,
and how firms decide whether to reinvest earnings in the business or distribute

MATTER OF FACT

Finance Professors Aren’t Like Everyone Else

Professionals who advise individual investors know that many people are more willing to
invest in the stock market if it has been rising in the recent past and are less willing to do
so if it has been falling. Such “trend-chasing” behavior often leaves investors worse off
than if they had invested consistently over time. Classical finance theory suggests that
past performance of the stock market is a very poor predictor of future performance,
and therefore individuals should not base investment decisions on the market’s recent
history. A survey found that at least one group of investors did not fall prey to trend
chasing in the stock market. When deciding whether to invest in stocks, finance profes-
sors were not influenced by the market's recent trend, presumably because they know
that past performance does not predict the future. That's just one of the lessons in this
book that can help you make better choices with your own money.

Source: Hibbert, Lawrence, and Prakash, 2012, “Do finance professors invest like everyone else?” Financial
Analysts Journal.
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earnings back to investors. The keys to good financial decisions are much the same
for businesses and individuals, which is why most students will benefit from an
understanding of finance regardless of their profession. Learning the techniques of
good financial analysis will not only help you make better financial decisions as a
consumer but will also assist you in understanding the financial consequences of
important business decisions, no matter what career path you follow.

WHAT IS A FIRM?

What is a firm? Put simply, a firm is a business organization that sells goods or
services. However, a more complete answer attempts to explain why firms exist.
They exist because investors want access to risky investment opportunities. In
other words, firms are risky business organizations that, if not for investors’ will-
ingness to bear risk, would have difficulty generating the necessary investment
capital to operate. For example, most investors do not have the expertise or
wealth required to start a personal computer company, so instead they invest in a
company like Apple. Even when a few individuals, such as Steve Jobs, Steve Woz-
niak, and Ronald Wayne, had the requisite expertise and wealth to start Apple
Computer in a garage in 1976, vast amounts of additional money (i.e., invest-
ment capital) from investors were necessary for the firm to grow into what Apple
is today. So, ultimately, firms are intermediaries that bring together investors and
risky investment opportunities. Firms pool investment capital, make risky invest-
ment decisions, and manage risky investments all on behalf of investors who
would otherwise not be able to do so effectively or efficiently on their own.

WHAT IS THE GOAL OF THE FIRM?

What goal should managers pursue? This question has no shortage of possible
answers. Some might argue that managers should focus entirely on satisfying
customers. Firms pursuing this goal could measure their products’ market shares
to gauge progress. Others suggest that managers must first inspire and motivate
employees; in that case, employee turnover might be the key success metric to
watch. Clearly, the goal or goals that managers select will affect many of the
decisions they make, so choosing an objective is a critical determinant of how
businesses operate.

Maximize Shareholder Wealth

Finance teaches that the primary goal of managers should be to maximize the
wealth of the firm’s owners—the stockholders or shareholders. Through the years,
that recommendation has generated a lot of controversy. The Economist magazine
once referred to shareholder value maximization as “the most powerful idea in
business,” but Jack Welch, the long-time Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of General
Electric and a man Fortune magazine named “Manager of the Century,” once
called maximizing shareholder value “the dumbest idea in the world.” Welch’s
assessment is particularly ironic because during his leadership, almost no company
generated more wealth for its shareholders than General Electric. A $1,000 invest-
ment in GE stock made in 1981 when Welch took the reigns as CEO would have
grown to roughly $67,000 by the time he retired in 2001. The simplest and best
measure of stockholder wealth is the share price, so most finance textbooks (includ-
ing ours) instruct managers to take actions that increase the firm’s share price.



earnings per share (EPS)
The amount earned during the
period on behalf of each out-
standing share of stock, calcu-
lated by dividing the period’s
total earnings available for the
firm’s stockholders by the num-
ber of shares of stock out-
standing.
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A common misconception is that when firms strive to make their share-
holders happy, they do so at the expense of other constituencies such as cus-
tomers, employees, or suppliers. This line of thinking ignores that in most
cases, enriching shareholders requires managers to first satisfy the demands of
these other interest groups, at least to some degree. Dividends ultimately
received by stockholders come from the firm’s profits. It is unlikely, then, that
a firm whose customers are unhappy with its products, whose employees are
looking for jobs at other firms, or whose suppliers are reluctant to ship raw
materials will make shareholders rich because such a firm will likely be less
profitable in the long run than one that better manages its relations with these
stakeholder groups.

Therefore, we argue that the goal of the firm, as well as of managers,
should be to maximize the wealth of the owners for whom it is being oper-
ated, which in most instances is equivalent to maximizing the stock price.
This goal translates into a straightforward decision rule for managers: Man-
agers should take only actions that they expect will increase the sharebolders’
wealth. Although that objective sounds simple, its implementation is not
always easy. To determine whether a particular course of action will increase
or decrease shareholders’ wealth, managers have to assess what return (i.e.,
cash inflows net of cash outflows) and risk (i.e., the uncertainty of the net
cash flows) the action will bring. How managers do that is the focus of this

book.

MATTER OF FACT

Firms Accelerate Dividends So That Shareholders Save on Taxes

One way that firms can maximize the wealth of shareholders is by thinking carefully
about the taxes their shareholders must pay on dividends. Tax cuts enacted by Congress
in 2003 lowered the tax rate on most dividends received by shareholders to a modest
15%. However, the legislation contained a provision by which the tax cuts would expire
in 2013 unless Congress specifically acted to renew them. With a political compromise
to renew the tax cuts looking unlikely in the 2012 election year, many firms announced
plans to accelerate dividend payments they had planned to make in early 2013 to late
2012. The Washington Post Company, for example, announced that on December 27,
2012, it would pay out the entire $9.80 per share dividend that it had planned to distrib-
ute in 2013. What was the stock market’s reaction to that announcement? Washington
Post shares rose $5. By accelerating their dividend payments, companies such as
Washington Post, Expedia, Inc., and luxury goods producer Coach, Inc., were increasing
the wealth of their shareholders by helping them save taxes.

Maximize Profit?

It might seem intuitive that maximizing a firm’s share price is equivalent to max-
imizing its profits. That thought is not always correct, however.

Corporations commonly measure profits in terms of earnings per share
(EPS), which represent the amount earned during the period on behalf of each
outstanding share of stock. Accountants calculate EPS by dividing the period’s
total earnings available for the firm’s stockholders by the number of shares of
stock outstanding.
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EXAMPLE 1.1

MyLab Finance Solution
Video

Nick Dukakis, the financial manager of Neptune Manufacturing, a producer of
marine engine components, is choosing between two investments, Rotor and
Valve. The following table shows the EPS Dukakis expects each investment to
earn over its 3-year life.

Earnings per share (EPS)

Investment Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Total for years 1, 2, and 3
Rotor $1.40 $1.00 $0.40 $2.80
Valve 0.60 1.00 1.40 3.00

If Dukakis thought he should make decisions to maximize profits, he would rec-
ommend that Neptune invest in Valve rather than Rotor because it results in
higher total earnings per share over the 3-year period ($3.00 EPS compared with
$2.80 EPS).

Does profit maximization lead to the highest possible share price? For at
least three reasons, the answer is often no. First, timing is important. An invest-
ment that provides a small profit quickly may be preferable to one that produces
a larger profit if that profit comes in the distant future. Second, profits and cash
flows are not identical. The profit reported by a firm is simply an estimate of
how it is doing, an estimate influenced by many different accounting choices
made by firms when assembling their financial reports. Cash flow is a more
straightforward measure of the money flowing into and out of the company than
is profit. Companies must pay their bills with cash, not profits, so cash flow mat-
ters most to financial managers and investors. Third, risk is a major consider-
ation. A firm that earns a low but reliable profit might be more valuable than
another firm with profits that fluctuate a great deal (and therefore can be very
high or very low at different times).

Timing Because a firm can earn a return on funds it receives, the receipt of
funds sooner rather than later is preferred. In our example, even though the total
earnings from Rotor are smaller than those from Valve, Rotor provides much
greater earnings per share in the first year. It’s possible that by investing in Rotor,
Neptune Manufacturing can reinvest the earnings that it receives in year 1 to
generate higher profits overall than if it had invested in project Valve. If the rate
of return Neptune can earn on reinvested earnings is high enough, managers may
do better to invest in project Rotor even though project Valve generates higher
profits over the 3 years.

Cash Flows Profits do not necessarily result in cash flows available to
stockholders. The accounting assumptions and techniques that a firm adopts can
sometimes allow it to show a positive profit even when its cash outflows exceed
cash inflows. For instance, suppose a retail electronics store buys a laptop from a
supplier in December for $1,000 and sells it a few days later for $1,500. The
profit on this transaction for the month of December is $500, but what is the
cash flow? If the retailer pays its supplier $1,000 in December but allows its
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customer to pay for the laptop a month later in January, then the retailer actually
has a net cash outflow in December.

For these and other reasons, higher earnings do not necessarily translate into a
higher stock price. Earnings increases accompanied by increases in future cash flows
are what produce higher stock prices. For example, a firm could increase its earnings
by significantly reducing its equipment maintenance expenditures. If the reduced
spending on maintenance results in lower product quality, however, the firm may
impair its competitive position, and its stock price could drop as investors anticipate
lower future cash flows and sell the stock. In this case, the earnings increase was
accompanied by lower future cash flows and therefore a lower stock price.

Risk Profit maximization also fails to account for risk, the chance that
actual outcomes may differ from those expected. A basic premise in finance is
that a tradeoff exists between return (cash flow) and risk. In general, stockhold-
ers are risk averse, which means they are willing to bear risk only if they expect
compensation for doing so. In other words, investors demand higher returns on
riskier investments, and they will accept lower returns on relatively safe invest-
ments. What this signifies in terms of the goal of the firm is that maximizing
profits may not maximize the stock price. Suppose one firm is slightly more prof-
itable than another, but investing in the firm with marginally higher profits also
entails greater risk. Investors may well be willing to pay a higher price for the
stock of the firm that produces lower but more predictable profits.

As another way to express this idea, we can say that cash flow and risk affect
share price differently. Holding risk fixed, investors will pay more for the stock of a
firm that generates higher cash flows and profits. In contrast, holding cash flow
fixed, investors will pay more for shares that are less risky because they do not like
risk. The key point, explored in more depth later, is that differences in risk can sig-
nificantly affect the value of different investments. Return and risk are, in fact, the
key determinants of share price, which represents the wealth of the firm’s owners.

Maximize Stakeholders’ Welfare?

Critics of the view that managers should maximize the wealth of shareholders
have advanced an alternative goal advocating a balanced consideration of the
welfare of shareholders and other firm stakeholders. Stakeholders are individuals
who are not owners of the firm but who nevertheless have some economic inter-
est in it. Stakeholders include employees, suppliers, customers, and even mem-
bers of the local community where a firm is located. Those who argue that firms
should focus on stakeholders’ interests maintain that shareholder value maximi-
zation as a business objective is far too narrow. This stakeholder view is widely
held and indeed is reflected in the corporate law of countries such as Germany,
France, and Japan, whereas the shareholder value maximization perspective is
more common in the United States and the United Kingdom.

We see a number of flaws in recommending that firms neglect shareholder
wealth maximization in favor of a broader stakeholder perspective. First, as we
have already pointed out, maximizing shareholder wealth does not in any way
imply that managers should ignore the interests of everyone connected to a firm
who is not a shareholder. Managers cannot maximize the value of a firm if their
employees, customers, and suppliers are constantly dissatisfied—all those stake-
holders are free to do business with other firms. A recent study found that when
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business ethics

Standards of conduct or moral
judgment that apply to persons
engaged in commerce.

firms were added to Fortune magazine’s list of the best companies to work for
(presumably a sign of labor-friendly practices), their stock prices jumped.! This
evidence led the study’s authors to conclude that the benefits of labor-friendly
practices outweigh the costs. Apparently, what is good for employees is also
good for shareholders.

Second, proponents of the stakeholder perspective often argue that in pursuit
of maximizing shareholder value, managers take actions that push up the stock
price in the short run to the detriment of the firm’s long-run performance. In fact,
to maximize shareholder value, managers must necessarily assess the long-term
consequences of their actions because investors will certainly do so. To illustrate,
consider that in March 2017, the online retailing giant Amazon reported that it
earned a profit of $4.90 per share over the previous 12 months. Another com-
pany, Clorox, reported almost identical earnings per share of $4.92. Yet the
stock prices of these two companies could not have been more different. Amazon
was trading for $850 per share, whereas Clorox stock was selling for just $137.
In other words, investors were willing to pay 6 times more for shares of Amazon
even though it reported virtually the same EPS as Clorox. Why? Several factors
may contribute, but the most plausible answer is that investors envision rosier
long-term prospects for Amazon. If the only matter of concern to investors was
short-term profits, then the prices of Amazon and Clorox should have been much
closer because their profits, at least in the short term, were nearly identical.

Third, the stakeholder perspective is intrinsically difficult to implement, and
advocates of the idea that managers should consider all stakeholders’ interests
along with those of shareholders do not typically indicate how managers should
carry it out. For example, how much emphasis should managers place on the
interests of different stakeholder groups? Are the interests of employees more or
less important than the desires of customers? Should members of the local com-
munity who do no business with the firm have an equal say with the firm’s sup-
pliers? When different stakeholder groups disagree on the action a firm should
take, how should managers make important decisions? In contrast, the goal of
shareholder maximization clarifies what actions managers should take.

Fourth, many people misinterpret the statement that managers should maxi-
mize shareholder wealth as implying that managers should take any action,
including illegal or unethical actions, that increases the stock price. Even the
most ardent supporters of shareholder value maximization as the firm’s primary
goal acknowledge that managers must act within ethical and legal boundaries.

THE ROLE OF BUSINESS ETHICS

Business ethics are the standards of conduct or moral judgment that apply to per-
sons engaged in commerce. Violations of these standards involve a variety of actions:
“creative accounting,” earnings management, misleading financial forecasts, insider
trading, fraud, excessive executive compensation, options backdating, bribery, and
kickbacks. The financial press has reported many such violations in recent years,
involving such well-known companies as Wells Fargo, where employees opened
new accounts without authorization from customers, and Volkswagen, where engi-
neers set up elaborate deceptions to get around pollution controls. In these and

1. Olubunmi Faleye and Emery Trahan, “Labor-friendly corporate practices: Is what is good for employees good for
shareholders?” Journal of Investing, June 2011.
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similar cases, the offending companies suffered various penalties, including fines lev-
ied by government agencies, damages paid to plaintiffs in lawsuits, or lost revenues
from customers who abandoned the firms because of their errant behavior. Most
companies have adopted formal ethical standards, although clearly adherence to
and enforcement of those standards vary. The goal of such standards is to motivate
business and market participants to adhere to both the letter and the spirit of laws
and regulations concerned with business and professional practice. Most business
leaders believe that businesses actually strengthen their competitive positions by
maintaining high ethical standards.

Ethical Guidelines

Robert A. Cooke, a noted ethicist, suggests that the following questions be used
to assess the ethical viability of a proposed action.

1. Is the action arbitrary or capricious? Does it unfairly single out an individual
or group?

2. Does the action violate the moral or legal rights of any individual or group?

. Does the action conform to accepted moral standards?

4. Are there alternative courses of action that are less likely to cause actual or
potential harm?

O8]

Clearly, considering such questions before taking an action can help ensure
its ethical viability.

Today, many firms are addressing the issue of ethics by establishing corpo-
rate ethics policies that outline a set of fundamental principles guiding what their
employees must or must not do. Some firms go further and make their ethical
standards the centerpiece of their corporate image. For example, Google
famously adopted the motto “Don’t be evil.” Even for Google, however, ethical
dilemmas are unavoidable in business. The Focus on Practice box provides an
example of ethical concerns confronting Google in the wake of the 2016 U.S.
presidential election.

A major impetus toward the development of ethics policies has been the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. The act requires firms to disclose whether they have
a code of ethics in place, and firms must report any waivers of those codes for
senior management. Companies that do not have a code of ethics must explain
why they have not adopted one. Many firms require their employees to sign a
formal pledge to uphold the firm’s ethics policies. Such policies typically apply to
employee actions in dealing with all corporate stakeholders, including the public.

Ethics and Share Price

An effective ethics program can enhance corporate value by producing positive
benefits. It can reduce potential litigation and judgment costs; maintain a posi-
tive corporate image; build shareholder confidence; and gain the loyalty,
commitment, and respect of the firm’s stakeholders. By maintaining and enhanc-
ing cash flow and reducing perceived risk, such actions can positively affect the
firm’s share price. Ethical behavior is therefore necessary for achieving the firm’s
goal of owner wealth maximization.

2. Robert A. Cooke, “Business Ethics: A Perspective,” in Arthur Andersen Cases on Business Ethics (Chicago: Arthur
Andersen, September 1991), pp. 2 and 5.
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in practice

Must Search Engines Screen Out Fake News?

During his January 11, 2017, press
conference, President-elect Donald
Trump berated reporter Jim Acosta
and his employer, CNN, saying, “You
are fake news.” For news organiza-
tions to question the validity of facts
cited by politicians was nothing
unusual, especially during an election
year, but throughout the 2016 presi-
dential election cycle, Trump turned
that dynamic on its head through his
confrontations with CNN and other
news organizations. These exchanges
sparked a debate about the responsi-
bility of Google, Facebook, and other
Internet-based companies to identify
websites spreading fake news.
Google offers an interesting case
study on value maximization and
corporate ethics. In 2004, Google’s
founders provided “An Owner's
Manual” for shareholders, which stated

that “Google is not a conventional
company” and that the company’s
ultimate goal “is to develop services
that significantly improve the lives of as
many people as possible.” The found-
ers stressed that running a successful
business is not enough; they also want
Google to make the world a better
place. In light of that objective, what
responsibility did Google have in help-
ing voters distinguish real news from
fake news? Just 1 month before the
election, Google introduced a new
“fact-check tag,” to help readers
assess the validity of news stories they
were reading online. In subsequent
months, Google introduced the fact-
check tag to markets in other countries
where elections were taking place, and
it began new initiatives such as “Cross-
Check,” an effort to combine the work
of human fact checkers with computer

algorithms to identify fake news stories
in France during its election cycle.

Google's famous corporate
motto, “Don’t Be Evil,” is intended
to convey a willingness to do the
right thing even at the cost of sacri-
fice in the short run. Google's
approach does not appear to be
limiting its ability to maximize value,
as the company’s share price
increased almost 1200% from 2004
to 2017!

» Is the goal of maximizing share-
holder wealth necessarily ethical or
unethical?

» What responsibility, if any, does
Google have in helping users
assess the veracity of content they
read online?

Sources: “Labeling fact-check articles in Google News,” by Richard Gingras, October 13, 2016, https://blog.google/topics/journalism-news/labeling-
fact-check-articles-google-news/; “Google and Facebook combat fake news in France,” BI Intelligence, February 7, 2017, businessinsider.com.

- REVIEW QUESTIONS MylLab Finance Solutions
1-1 What is the goal of the firm and, therefore, of managers and employ-

ees? Discuss how one measures achievement of this goal.

1-2 For what three main reasons is profit maximization potentially incon-
sistent with wealth maximization?

1-3 What is risk? Why must financial managers consider risk as well as
return when they evaluate a decision alternative or action?

1-4 Is maximizing shareholder wealth inconsistent with having concern for
the welfare of a firm’s other stakeholders?

1.2 Managing the Firm

This book is about how managers running a firm can create value for the firm’s
investors through sound financial decision making. Responsibility for creating
value does not rest solely or even primarily on the finance function. Marketers
create value by identifying the unmet needs of customers, by making customers
aware that their firm can meet those needs, and by establishing a solid brand.
Employees working in the operations and supply chain functions contribute to a
firm’s value by streamlining manufacturing processes and securing reliable raw


https://blog.google/topics/journalism-news/labeling-fact-check-articles-google-news/
https://blog.google/topics/journalism-news/labeling-fact-check-articles-google-news/
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materials sources at reasonable cost. Human resources professionals help acquire
and retain the talent firms need to achieve success. Accountants track the perfor-
mance of the firm, help create financial plans and budgets, and ensure compli-
ance with a host of regulatory requirements. And of course, financial managers
advise all their peers in other functions on the financial consequences of their
decisions.

The point is that nearly every employee, regardless of how his or her work
helps enhance the firm’s value, will interact with financial managers and will
benefit from a basic working knowledge of financial principles. Every firm has
limited resources, and employees in each part of a firm need some of those
resources to function. Inside a firm, resource allocation is partly a matter of
negotiation. Those who can make a better case that their work adds value will be
more successful in acquiring the needed resources. Often the key to negotiating
successfully in that environment is understanding the language of finance. To be
a successful marketer or supply chain analyst or human resources professional,
you must be able to explain how your work adds value in financial terms. This
book will help you do just that.

Naturally our primary focus here is on what financial managers do. There-
fore, we now turn to an overview of the managerial finance function.

THE MANAGERIAL FINANCE FUNCTION

Financial managers touch every part of a firm because everything that a firm
does has some kind of financial impact. Employees in a firm’s finance depart-
ment help control costs on the factory floor. They analyze the market potential
of new products and services. They quantify the costs and benefits of hiring addi-
tional workers. They assist in mitigating risks associated with unexpected move-
ments in interest rates, commodity prices, and exchange rates. How do they
accomplish all these things? The answer is that they rely on an essential set of
principles and tools that are transferable to many different business applications.
The managerial finance function is therefore not just about what financial man-
agers do but also (and more importantly) about the methods they rely on daily.

Financial Managers’' Key Decisions

Broadly speaking, most decisions that financial managers make, or help their col-
leagues in other functions make, fall into three broad categories: investment deci-
sions, financing decisions, and working capital decisions. Some specialized areas
of managerial finance do not fit neatly into any of these three categories, but the
vast majority of decisions by financial managers relate to these broad areas.
Investment decisions focus on how a company will spend its financial
resources on long-term projects that ultimately determine whether the firm suc-
cessfully creates value for its owners. For a semiconductor company like Intel,
investment decisions revolve around how much money the firm should spend on
new factories (each of which cost $35 billion to build), how much it should devote
to research and development (Intel spends more than $12 billion annually), and
how much the company should invest in its traditional microprocessors versus
chips for newer wearable devices and products related to the Internet of Things.
These are the most important decisions made by firms because they largely dic-
tate whether a company succeeds or fails in the long run. Financial managers
contribute to these decisions by performing a type of financial analysis known as
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capital budgeting, which we will discuss at length in subsequent chapters. Briefly,
capital budgeting is a technique that helps managers decide which projects create
the most value for shareholders. Essentially, capital budgeting identifies invest-
ment opportunities for which benefits exceed costs. Because value maximization
requires managers to take actions only when benefits exceed costs, capital bud-
geting gives managers a tool for guiding investment decisions in a way that is
directly linked to the goal of the firm.

Once firms know how they want to invest resources, the next critical deci-
sion is where to obtain funding for those investments. Financing decisions deter-
mine how companies raise the money needed for investment opportunities. When
firms are just getting started and as they continue to grow, they require capital
from investors. Capital is the money raised by firms to finance their activities.
For this reason, the financing decision may also be called the capital structure
decision. Firms may raise capital by borrowing money from banks or other inves-
tors, or they may receive money from investors who want an ownership stake.
Firms that are profitable can reinvest their earnings and thereby gain access to
another form of capital. Although a firm’s financing (or capital structure) deci-
sions are almost certainly less important than its investment decisions, the mix of
funding sources that a company uses has a number of important implications.
For example, if a company chooses to borrow money, it is obligated to repay
that money even if business conditions deteriorate. That’s what happened to
General Motors (GM) when it did not have enough cash to pay its debt and went
bankrupt in June 2009. GM ultimately survived with the help of $51 billion in
government assistance (of which about $39 billion was eventually repaid), but
not every company that borrows money and later goes bankrupt is so fortunate.
In contrast, borrowing money can benefit shareholders, in part because in the
United States and many other countries, the tax code provides an incentive to
borrow. Specifically, the U.S. corporate tax code allows firms to treat interest
payments to lenders as a deductible business expense (which lowers the after-tax
cost of borrowing for the firm), whereas tax laws do not give firms a deduction
for cash dividend payments made to shareholders.

To visualize the difference between a firm’s investment and financing deci-
sions, refer to the balance sheet shown in Figure 1.1. Investment decisions gener-
ally refer to the items that appear on the left-hand side of the balance sheet, and
financing decisions relate to the items on the right-hand side. Keep in mind,
though, that financial managers make these decisions based on how they affect the
firm’s value, not on the accounting principles used to construct a balance sheet.

FIGURE 1.1

Financial Activities
Primary activities of the
financial manager

Current Current
Making Assets Liabilities Making
Investment Financing
Decisions Fixed Long-Term Decisions
Assets Funds
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Whereas the investment and financing decisions of firms often involve major
strategic initiatives, on a day-to-day basis, financial managers spend more time
making various types of short-term financial decisions. Working capital deci-
sions refer to the management of a firm’s short-term resources. These decisions
involve tracking and forecasting the firm’s cash position, making sure that the
firm pays its bills on time and receives timely payments from customers, and cal-
culating the optimal amount of inventory the firm should keep on hand. Collec-
tively, the resources that a firm invests in items such as cash, inventory, accounts
receivable, and accounts payable are known as the firm’s working capital. For
many firms, the funds invested in working capital are considerable. For example,
in July 2017, Apple reported that it held roughly $77 billion in cash in various
short-term investments.

Principles That Guide Managers' Decisions

A financial manager performs many different roles in a large company, but no mat-
ter the job title, a common set of financial principles guide that manager’s decisions
and the advice he or she gives to colleagues working in different functions. Specifi-
cally, we highlight five key principles of great importance in managerial finance.

The Time Value of Money As we discussed earlier, timing matters in
finance. Having money today is better than having it later because firms and
individuals can invest the money on hand and earn a return on that money. Stat-
ing this idea another way, a dollar today is worth more than a dollar in the
future. Investing a dollar today means that the dollar will grow to more than a
dollar over time. The implication of this principle for managers is that, all else
being equal, investments that provide faster payoffs are preferred over invest-
ments with distant payoffs. This does not suggest that firms must necessarily
have an excessive focus on short-term results. Rather, the time value of money
simply means that when an investment’s payoffs come in the distant future, those
payoffs must be larger to justify waiting for them.

The Tradeoff between Return and Risk “Nothing ventured, nothing
gained” is a famous quote attributed to Benjamin Franklin. The equivalent finan-
cial principle is that a tradeoff exists between return and risk. Investors who
want to earn higher returns must be willing to accept greater risk. Or, from the
perspective of a business, a firm that puts investors’ funds in riskier projects must
offer those investors higher returns. For financial managers tasked with advising
firms on investment decisions, this tradeoff means that any analysis of alternative
investment projects quantify both the returns that investments may provide and
the risks that they entail.

Cash Is King In discussing the differences between maximizing shareholder
value and profits, we noted that cash flow and profit are not identical concepts.
In finance, cash flow matters more than profit because firms can pay investors
only with cash, not with profits. Ultimately, the cash flows that investors receive
or expect to receive over time determine the value of the firm. If a firm is not
generating positive cash flow, it cannot pay investors, even if its financial state-
ments show that it is earning a profit. The same is true regarding a firm’s deal-
ings with its suppliers, employees, and anyone else to whom the firm owes
money—those bills must be paid with cash.
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Competitive Financial Markets When we think of the term competition in
a business context, what usually comes to mind is the competition that occurs
between firms in the markets for goods and services—Coke versus Pepsi, Sam-
sung versus Apple, and so on. But firms also compete in another sense. They
compete in the financial markets for access to capital controlled by investors.
From time to time, most companies must raise money to fund new investments,
and to succeed in raising money, firms have to convince participants in the finan-
cial markets that their ideas are as good or better than those of other firms seek-
ing funding. Investors diligently search for the opportunities that provide the
highest returns for a given risk level, so companies that cannot convince investors
that their investment ideas will generate competitive rates of return may have dif-
ficulty raising capital.

Furthermore, at least for companies that have stock actively traded on stock
exchanges, the financial markets constantly send signals to managers about how
they are performing. Investors trade rapidly as they learn new information
about companies, so stock prices also respond rapidly to news as it emerges.
When investors hear positive news about a company (e.g., when a company
announces better-than-expected financial results), the company’s stock price
moves up. On February 28, 2017, the stock price of the biotechnology firm Kite
Pharma shot up almost 25% when the company released favorable results from
clinical trials of one of the company’s cancer-fighting drugs. On the other hand,
stock prices fall when unfavorable news becomes known. In January 2017,
shares of the toy manufacturer Mattel dropped 14% in a single day after the
company announced disappointing financial results from the previous holiday
shopping season.

How should managers respond to signals sent by the stock market? Although
the opinions of investors as revealed by movements in a company’s stock price
are not always correct, managers should pay close attention to what the market
is telling them. Investors have very strong incentives to evaluate the information
they receive about companies in an unbiased way. If a company announces plans
for a major new investment (e.g., the acquisition of another company) and its
stock price falls, managers should recognize that the market is skeptical about
the new investment, and they should carefully reconsider their plan to invest.

Incentives Are Important We have made a case for managers to operate
firms with the aim of benefiting shareholders, but do managers behave this way?
In many instances and for a variety of reasons, the answer is no. In part, this
results from managers’ incentives not being properly aligned with the interests of
shareholders. For example, suppose one company makes an offer to purchase
another company. The buyer’s offer is quite attractive in the sense that the price
offered is well above the current market price of the target company’s stock.
Accepting the offer seems like the best option for shareholders. However, the
CEO of the target may decline the offer, knowing that if the acquisition takes
place, he is likely to lose his job and the large salary that goes with it. Similarly,
senior managers of the buyer in this example may not have their shareholders’
best interests in mind. CEOs and other senior executives tend to earn higher pay
when they run larger organizations, so perhaps the motivation to buy another
company is about increasing management’s compensation. In fact, CEO bonuses
sometimes depend more on completing an acquisition deal than on whether that
deal creates value for shareholders.
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The example above illustrates a classic problem in finance known as the
principal-agent problem. The principal-agent problem arises when the owners of a
firm and its managers are not the same people. In this instance, what is best for
shareholders and what managers believe to be in their own best interests may not
be aligned. The principal-agent problem is particularly important in large corpora-
tions, in which a great degree of separation exists between the owners of a firm and
its managers. We will explore the principal-agent problem, with potential solu-
tions, as we study alternative ways of organizing businesses later in this chapter.

Organization of the Finance Function

The scope of the managerial finance function depends on the size of the firm. In
very small firms, this function focuses largely on accounting and control issues.
As a firm grows, the finance function typically separates from the accounting
department and becomes a unique organization linked directly to the company
president or CEO through the chief financial officer (CFO). The lower portion of
the organizational chart in Figure 1.2 shows the structure of the finance function
in a typical medium to large firm.

Reporting to the CFO are the treasurer, the controller, the director of
investor relations, and the director of internal audit. The treasurer manages the
firm’s cash, investing surplus funds when available and securing outside financ-
ing when needed. The treasurer also oversees a firm’s pension plans and,
together with the director of risk management, manages critical risks related
to movements in foreign currency values, interest rates, and commodity prices.
The controller has a role more centered on accounting, budgeting, and tracking
the performance of a business unit. The director of investor relations is the
conduit of information between the firm and the investment community. The
director of internal audit leads a team that is charged with making sure that all
units within the firm are following internal policies and complying with govern-
ment regulations. Some of these jobs have a very external focus, such as the
treasurer, who must keep a close eye on a wide range of financial markets, and
the director of investor relations, who communicates regularly with the outside
investment community. Other jobs have a more internal focus, such as the con-
troller position.

If international sales or purchases are important to a firm, it may well employ
one or more finance professionals whose job is to monitor and manage the firm’s
exposure to loss from currency fluctuations. A trained financial manager can
“hedge,” or protect against such a loss, at a reasonable cost by using a variety of
financial instruments. These foreign exchange managers typically report to the
firm’s treasurer.

Relationship to Economics

The field of finance is closely related to economics. Financial managers must
understand the economic environment their firms operate in and must be alert to
the consequences of varying levels of economic activity and changes in economic
policy. They must also be able to use economic theories as guidelines for efficient
business operation. Examples include supply-and-demand analysis, profit-
maximizing strategies, and price theory. The primary economic principle used in
managerial finance is marginal cost-benefit analysis, the tenet that managers
should base financial decisions on the marginal benefits and costs associated with
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FIGURE 1.2

Corporate Organization
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some action. That is, managers should take actions that generate higher marginal
benefits than marginal costs. Nearly all financial decisions ultimately come down
to an assessment of their marginal benefits and marginal costs.
EXAMPLE 1.2 Jamie Teng is a financial manager for Nord Department Stores, a large chain of

upscale stores operating primarily in the western United States. She is currently
trying to decide whether to replace one of the firm’s computer servers with a new,
more sophisticated one that would both speed processing and handle a larger
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volume of transactions. The new computer server would require a cash outlay of
$8,000, and the old one could be sold to net $2,000. The future benefits from
faster processing would be $10,000 in today’s dollars. The benefits over a similar
period from the old computer (measured in today’s dollars) would be $3,000.
Applying marginal cost-benefit analysis, Jamie organizes the data as follows:

Benefits with new computer $10,000
Less: Benefits with old computer 3,000
(1) Marginal benefits $ 7,000
Cost of new computer $ 8,000
Less: Proceeds from sale of old computer 2,000
(2) Marginal costs $ 6,000
Net benefit [(1) = (2)] $ 1,000

Because the marginal benefits of $7,000 exceed the marginal costs of $6,000,
Jamie recommends purchasing the new computer to replace the old one. The
firm will experience a net benefit of $1,000 as a result of this action.

Relationship to Accounting

The firm’s finance and accounting activities are closely related and generally
overlap. In small firms, accountants often carry out the finance function; in large
firms, financial analysts often help compile accounting information. We can,
however, note two differences between finance and accounting; one is related to
the emphasis on cash flows, and the other to decision making.

Emphasis on Cash Flows The accountant’s primary function is to develop
and report data for measuring the performance of the firm, assess its financial
position, comply with and file reports required by securities regulators, and file
and pay taxes. Using generally accepted accounting principles, the accountant
prepares financial statements that recognize revenue at the time of sale (whether
payment has been received or not) and recognize expenses when incurred. This
approach is referred to as the accrual basis.

The financial manager, in contrast, places primary emphasis on cash flows,
the intake and outgo of cash. He or she maintains solvency of the firm by plan-
ning the cash flows necessary to satisfy its obligations and to acquire assets
needed to achieve its goals. The financial manager uses this cash basis to recog-
nize the revenues and expenses only with respect to actual inflows and outflows
of cash. Whether a firm earns a profit or experiences a loss, it must have a suffi-
cient flow of cash to meet its obligations as they come due.

Nassau Corporation, a small yacht dealer, sold one yacht for $1,000,000 in the
calendar year just ended. Nassau originally purchased the yacht for $800,000.
Although the firm paid in full for the yacht during the year, at year’s end it has
yet to collect the $1,000,000 from the customer. The accounting view and the
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financial view of the firm’s performance during the year are given by the follow-
ing income and cash flow statements, respectively.

Accounting view
(accrual basis)

Nassau Corporation
income statement
for the year ended 12/31

Sales revenue $1,000,000
Less: Costs 800,000
Net profit $ 200,000

Financial view
(cash basis)

Nassau Corporation
cash flow statement
for the year ended 12/31

Cash inflow $ 0
Less: Cash outflow 800,000
Net cash flow —$800,000

In an accounting sense, Nassau Corporation is profitable, but in terms of actual
cash flow, it has a problem. Its lack of cash flow resulted from the uncollected
accounts receivable of $1,000,000. Without adequate cash inflows to meet its
obligations, the firm will not survive, regardless of its level of profits.

As the example shows, accrual accounting data do not fully represent the
circumstances of a firm. Thus, the financial manager must look beyond financial
statements to gain insight into existing or developing problems. Of course,
accountants are well aware of the importance of cash flows, and financial man-
agers use and understand accrual-based financial statements. Nevertheless, the
financial manager, by concentrating on cash flows, should be able to avoid insol-
vency and achieve the firm’s financial goals.

Individuals rarely use accrual concepts. Rather, they rely
mainly on cash flows to measure their financial outcomes.
Generally, individuals plan, monitor, and assess their financial activities using
cash flows over a given period, typically a month or a year. Ann Bach projects her
cash flows during October 2018 as follows:

PERSONAL FINANCE EXAMPLE 1.4

Amount

Item Inflow  Outflow
Net pay received $4,400
Rent —$1,200
Car payment —450
Utilities =300
Groceries —800
Clothes =750
Dining out —650
Gasoline —260
Interest income 220
Misc. expense —425

Totals $4,620 —$4,835
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Ann subtracts her total outflows of $4,835 from her total inflows of $4,620 and
finds that her net cash flow for October will be =$215. To cover the $215 short-
fall, Ann will have to either borrow $215 (putting it on a credit card is a form of
borrowing) or withdraw $215 from her savings. Alternatively, she may decide to
reduce her outflows in areas of discretionary spending such as clothing purchases,
dining out, or those items that make up the $425 of miscellaneous expense.

Decision Making The second major difference between finance and ac-
counting involves decision making. Accountants devote most of their attention to
the collection and presentation of financial data. Financial managers evaluate the
accounting statements, develop additional data, and make decisions based on
their assessment of the associated returns and risks. Of course, this does not mean
that accountants never make decisions or that financial managers never gather
data but rather that the primary emphases of accounting and finance are different.

- REVIEW QUESTIONS MyLab Finance Solutions

1-5 What are the main types of decisions that financial managers make?

1-6 Why is it important that managers recognize that a tradeoff exists
between risk and return? Why does that tradeoff exist?

1-7 What is the primary economic principle used in managerial finance?

1-8 What are the major differences between accounting and finance with
respect to emphasis on cash flows and decision making?

1-9 If managers do not act in the best interests of shareholders, what role
might incentives play in explaining that behavior?

Organizational Forms, Taxation, and the

Principal-Agent Relationship

From a legal perspective, businesses can organize themselves in a variety of ways.
Different organizational forms involve various tradeoffs related to ownership,
control, taxation, liability, and other factors. In this section, we examine the pros
and cons of alternative legal forms for businesses.

LEGAL FORMS OF BUSINESS ORGANIZATION

One of the most important decisions all businesses confront is how to choose a
legal form of organization. This decision has very important financial implications.
How a business is legally organized influences the risks borne by the firm’s owners,
how the firm can raise money, and how the firm’s profits will be taxed. The three
most common legal forms of business organization are the sole proprietorship, the
partnership, and the corporation. Most businesses are organized as sole propri-
etorships, but the largest businesses are almost always organized as corporations.
Even so, each type of organization has its advantages and disadvantages.

Sole Proprietorships

A sole proprietorship is a for-profit business owned by one person. More than
70% of all U.S. businesses are sole proprietorships. The typical sole proprietor-
ship is small, and the majority of sole proprietorships operate in the wholesale,
retail, service, and construction industries.
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Typically, the owner (proprietor) and a few employees operate the propri-
etorship. The proprietor raises capital from personal resources or by borrowing.
The owner is responsible for all business decisions, so this form of organization
appeals to entrepreneurs who enjoy working independently. Sole proprietor-
ships do not pay taxes on their income as separate entities. Rather, income from
sole proprietorships “passes through” to the owner and is taxed at the personal
level.

A major drawback to the sole proprietorship is unlimited liability, which
means that liabilities of the business are the entrepreneur’s responsibility and
that creditors can make claims against the entrepreneur’s personal assets if the
business fails to pay its debts.

Partnerships

A partnership consists of two or more owners doing business together for profit.
Partnerships account for about 10% of all businesses, and they are typically
larger than sole proprietorships. Partnerships are common in the accounting,
law, finance, insurance, and real estate industries.

Most partnerships are established by a written contract known as articles
of partnership. In a general (or regular) partnership, all partners have unlim-
ited liability, and each partner is legally liable for all debts of the partnership.
Like a sole proprietorship, a partnership is a pass-through business, meaning
that partnerships do not pay income tax directly. Instead, income from the
partnership flows through to the partners and is taxed at the individual level.
Table 1.1 summarizes the strengths and weaknesses of proprietorships and
partnerships.

== Strengths and Weaknesses of the Common Legal Forms of Business Organization

Sole proprietorship

Partnership Corporation

Strengths o

Weaknesses — ®

Owner receives all profits (and o

sustains all losses)
Low organizational costs

Income included and taxed on
proprietor’s personal tax return

Independence
Secrecy

Ease of dissolution

Owner has unlimited liability in
that total wealth can be taken
to satisfy debts

Limited fund-raising power
tends to inhibit growth
Proprietor must be
jack-of-all-trades

Difficult to give employees
long-run career opportunities
Lacks continuity when
proprietor dies

sole proprietorships

® Borrowing power
enhanced by more owners

® More available brain
power and managerial skill

e Income included and taxed
on partner’s personal tax
return

e Owners have unlimited
liability and may have to
cover debts of other
partners

o Partnership is dissolved
when a partner dies

¢ Difficult to liquidate or
transfer partnership

Can raise more funds than o

Owners have limited liability, which
guarantees that they cannot lose more
than they invested

Can achieve large size via sale of
ownership (stock)

Ownership (stock) is readily
transferable

Long life of firm

Can hire professional managers

Has better access to financing

Taxes are generally higher because
corporate income is taxed, and
dividends paid to owners are also taxed
at a maximum 15% rate

More expensive to organize than other
business forms

Subject to greater government
regulation

Lacks secrecy because regulations
require firms to disclose financial results
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A legal business entity with
rights and duties similar to those
of individuals but with a legal
identity distinct from its owners.
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The owners of a corporation,
whose ownership, or equity, takes
the form of common stock or, less
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limited liability
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general policy, guiding corpo-
rate affairs, and approving
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MATTER OF FACT

Number of Businesses and Income Earned by Type of U.S. Firm

Although sole proprietorships greatly outnumber partnerships and corporations
combined, they generate the lowest level of income. In total, sole proprietorships
accounted for almost three-quarters of the number of business establishments in
operation, but they earned just 10% of all business income. Corporations, on the
other hand, accounted for just 17% of the number of businesses, but they earned
almost two-thirds of all business income.

Partnerships

Sole proprietorships Corporations

Number of firms (millions) 25.3 3.4 5.8
Percentage of all firms 73% 10% 17%
Percentage of all business

income 10% 26% 64%

Source: Overview of Approaches to Corporate Integration, Joint Committee on Taxation, United States
Congress, May 17, 2016.

Corporations

A corporation is a business entity owned by individuals, but the corporation
itself is a legal entity distinct from its owners. A corporation has the legal
powers of an individual. It can sue and be sued, make and be party to con-
tracts, and acquire property in its own name. Although fewer than 20% of
all U.S. businesses are incorporated, the largest businesses nearly always are;
corporations account for roughly two-thirds of total business income.

One advantage of the corporate form is that corporations can raise
money to expand by selling new stock to investors. Another advantage is
that the owners of a corporation, its stockholders (whose ownership, or
equity, takes the form of common or preferred stock), enjoy limited liability,
meaning they are not personally liable for the firm’s debts as are sole propri-
etors and partners. Their losses are limited to the amount they invested in
the firm when they purchased shares of stock. In Chapter 7 you will learn
more about stock, but for now we will simply say that stock is a security
that represents an ownership interest in a corporation. Stockholders expect
to earn a return by receiving dividends—periodic distributions of cash—or
by realizing gains through increases in share price. Because the money to pay
dividends generally comes from the profits that a firm earns, we refer to
stockholders as residual claimants. They are paid last, after the corporation
pays employees, suppliers, tax authorities, and lenders and anyone else to
whom it owes money. Over time, if the firm does not generate enough cash
to pay everyone else, there is no residual cash flow and nothing is available
for stockholders. Table 1.1 lists the key strengths and weaknesses of
corporations.

As noted in the upper portion of Figure 1.2, control of the corporation
functions a little like a democracy. The stockholders vote periodically to elect
members of the board of directors, which is typically responsible for approving
strategic goals and plans, setting general policy, guiding corporate affairs, and
approving major expenditures. Most importantly, the board decides when to
hire or fire top managers and establishes compensation packages for the most
senior executives. The board consists of “inside” directors, such as key
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VRSP AS 2018 Tax Rate Schedule for Single Taxpayer

president or chief executive
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Corporate official responsible
for managing the firm's day-to-
day operations and carrying out
the policies established by the
board of directors.
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Tax calculation

Marginal rate X amount over bracket
Base tax +

(
Taxable income brackets lower limit)

$ 0 to $ 9,525 § 0 + (10% X amount over $ 0)
9,525  to 38,700 $ 953 + (12% X amount over $  9,525)

38,700  to 82,500 $ 4454 + (22% X amount over $ 38,700)
82,500 to 157,500 $ 14,090 + (24% X amount over $ 82,500)
157,500 to 200,000 $ 32,090 + (32% X amount over $157,500)
200,000  to 500,000 $ 45,690 + (35% X amount over $200,000)
Over 500,000 $150,690 + (37% X amount over $500,000)

corporate executives, and “outside” or “independent” directors, such as execu-
tives from other companies, major shareholders, and national or community
leaders. Outside directors for major corporations receive compensation in the
form of cash, stock, and stock options. This compensation often totals
$250,000 per year or more.

The president or chief executive officer (CEO) is responsible for managing
day-to-day operations and carrying out the policies established by the board of
directors. The CEO reports periodically to the firm’s directors.

It is important to note the division between owners and managers in a large
corporation, as shown by the dashed horizontal line in Figure 1.2. This separation
is the source of the principal-agent problem mentioned earlier.

Business Organizational Forms and Taxation

Owners of pass-through businesses such as proprietorships and partnerships pay
tax at the individual level, not at the business level. For individuals, income tax
rates are progressive, meaning that the tax rate rises with income. Taxes also
depend on the individual’s filing status (e.g., whether they are single or married).
Table 1.2 shows the tax rates applicable in 2018 for a single taxpayer.

Dan Webster is the sole proprietor of Webster Manufacturing. This year Webster
earned $80,000 before taxes from his business. Assuming that Dan has no other
income, the taxes he will owe on his business income are as follows:

(0.10 X $9,525) +[0.12 X ($38,700 — $9,525)]
+10.22 X ($80,000 — $38,700)]

= $953 + $3,501 + $9,086

= $13,540
Notice that Webster’s tax liability has two components. The first $4,454 in tax,
denoted in Table 1.2 as the base tax, is calculated by multiplying 10% times

Webster’s first $9,525 in income and then multiplying 12% times Webster’s next
$29,175 in income. The sum of those two calculations is the $4,454 base tax

Total taxes due =



marginal tax rate
The tax rate that applies to the
next dollar of income earned.

average tax rate

Calculated by dividing taxes
paid by taxable income.

CHAPTER 1 The Role of Managerial Finance 65

from line 3 in Table 1.2. On top of that, Webster must pay an additional 22% in
taxes on income above $38,700.

In a progressive tax rate structure like that shown in Table 1.2, there is a dif-
ference between the marginal tax rate and the average tax rate. The marginal tax
rate represents the rate at which the next dollar of income is taxed. In Table 1.2,
the marginal tax rate is 10% if the taxpayer earns less than $9,525. If income is
more than $9,525 but less than $38,700, the marginal tax rate is 12%. As income
rises, the marginal tax rate rises. In the example above, if Webster Manufactur-
ing’s earnings increase to $82,501, the last $1 in income would be taxed at the
marginal rate of 24%.

The average tax rate equals taxes paid divided by taxable income. For many
taxpayers, the average tax rate does not equal the marginal tax rate because tax
rates change with income levels. In the example above, Webster Manufacturing’s
marginal tax rate is 22 %, but its average tax rate is 16.9% ($13,540 <+ $80,000).
In most business decisions that managers make, it’s the marginal tax rate that
really matters. Remember that managers create value for shareholders by taking
actions for which the marginal benefits exceed the marginal costs. Thus, manag-
ers should focus on the marginal tax rate because that determines the marginal
taxes they will pay or avoid as a consequence of taking some action.

Figure 1.3 shows how marginal and average tax rates vary as an individual’s
taxable income rises. The blue line shows how the marginal tax rate increases in
“steps” as income moves into each higher tax bracket (note: the graph omits the
final 37% bracket for incomes above $500,000). The red line shows that the
average tax increases with income too, but the average rate is generally less than
the marginal rate. For example, a business owner with income of $300,000 faces
a 35% marginal tax rate but pays an average tax rate of roughly 27% as illus-
trated in the following example.

FIGURE 1.3
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EXAMPLE 1.6

double taxation

A situation facing corporations
in which income from the busi-
ness is taxed twice—once at the
business level and once at the
individual level when cash is
distributed to shareholders.

EXAMPLE 1.7

Peter Strong is a partner in Argaiv Software, and from that business he earned
taxable income of $300,000. Assuming that this is Peter’s only source of income,
from Table 1.2 we can see that based on Peter’s tax bracket, he faces a marginal
tax rate of 35%. How much in tax does Peter owe, and what is his average tax
rate? Table 1.2 shows a base tax of $45,690 for individuals with income above
$200,000 but below $500,000. Here’s where that base tax comes from:

Base tax = (0.10 X $9,525) + (0.12 X $29,175) + (0.22 X $43,800)
+ (0.24 X $75,000) + (0.32 X $42,500)

= $953 + $3,501 + $9,636 + $18,000 + $13,600
= $45,690

In other words, based on his first $200,000 in partnership earnings, Peter
owes $45,690 in taxes. In addition to that base tax, Peter must pay 35% tax on
the last $100,000 that he earns, so his total tax bill is

Total taxes due = $45,690 + (0.35 X $100,000) = $80,690

Given Peter’s total tax bill, we can calculate the average tax rate by dividing
taxes due by taxable income, as follows:

Average tax rate = $80,690 =+ $300,000 = 0.269 = 26.9%

Again we stress that in many cases the marginal tax rate and the average tax
rate are not equal, and in such cases, managers should focus on the marginal tax
rate when they make decisions about how to invest the firm’s money.

Taxation of corporations is quite different. A major disadvantage of the corpo-
rate form of organization is that a corporation itself pays taxes, and then when
income from the corporation is distributed to shareholders, they pay tax again on
their individual tax returns. Thus, corporations suffer from the problem of double
taxation—corporate income is taxed twice, first at the company level and then at the
shareholder level. In tax years before 2017, corporations faced a progressive struc-
ture similar to the one that determined individuals’ taxes, and the top marginal rate
in that structure was 35%. That marginal rate applied to any business with taxable
income over $18.3 million, so large corporations generally fell under the 35% mar-
ginal tax rate. The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 replaced the old, progressive cor-
porate tax with a flat tax of 21%. By replacing the top marginal rate of 35% with a
flat 21% tax rate, Congress reduced, but did not eliminate the double-taxation bur-
den associated with the corporate organization form and created an incentive for
corporations to invest (we’ll say more about that in subsequent chapters).

Suppose that Argaiv Software (from Example 1.6) is organized as a corporation
rather than as a partnership, and suppose also that Argaiv paid $300,000 in divi-
dends to shareholders. For individuals, the tax code applies a different marginal
rate to dividends than to ordinary income, with the top marginal tax rate on divi-
dends equal to 23.8%. On the $300,000 in corporate taxable income, Argaiv
will pay taxes of $63,000 (0.21 X $300,000), and its shareholders could pay as
much as $71,400 (0.238 X $300,000) in taxes on the dividends that they receive.
Therefore, the total tax burden faced by Argaiv and its shareholders is as high as
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$134,400, compared to the total tax bill of $80,690 that would be owed if
Argaiv were organized as a partnership as in the previous example. The taxes
paid on Argaiv dividends by its shareholders could be less than shown here if
shareholders are not in the highest individual tax bracket.

Regardless of their legal form, all businesses can earn ordinary income and
capital gains. A corporation earns ordinary income through the sale of goods or
services. A capital gain occurs if a firm sells an asset for more than its cost. Cur-
rent law treats these two types of income differently in the taxation of individu-
als, but not for corporations. The law requires corporations to simply add
capital gains to ordinary income when calculating taxes.

The law treats interest received by corporations as ordinary income (just like
capital gains), but dividends received get a special tax break that moderates the
effect of double taxation. Dividends the firm receives on common and preferred
stock held in other corporations are usually subject to a 50% exclusion for tax pur-
poses. The dividend exclusion in effect eliminates half of the potential tax liability
from dividends received by the second and any subsequent corporations.

In calculating their taxes, corporations can deduct operating expenses, as
well as interest expenses they pay to lenders. The tax deductibility of these
expenses reduces their after-tax cost. The following example illustrates the
benefit of tax deductibility.

Two corporations, Debt Co. and No-Debt Co., earned $200,000 before interest
and taxes this year. During the year, Debt Co. paid $30,000 in interest. No-Debt
Co. had no debt and no interest expense. How do the after-tax earnings of these
firms compare?

Debt Co. No-Debt Co.
Earnings before interest and taxes $200,000 $200,000

Less: Interest expense 30,000 0
Earnings before taxes $170,000 $200,000

Less: Taxes (21%) 35,700 42,000
Earnings after taxes $134,300 $158,000

Difference in earnings after taxes $23,700

Both firms face a 21% flat tax rate. Debt Co. had $30,000 more interest expense
than No-Debt Co., but Debt Co.’s earnings after taxes are only $23,700 less
than those of No-Debt Co. This difference is attributable to Debt Co.’s $30,000
interest expense deduction, which provides a tax savings of $6,300 (the tax bill
is $35,700 for Debt Co. versus $42,000 for No-Debt Co.). The tax savings can
be calculated directly by multiplying the 21% tax rate by the interest expense
(0.21 X $30,000 = $6,300). Similarly, the $23,700 after-tax interest expense
can be calculated directly by multiplying 1 minus the tax rate by the interest
expense [(1 — 0.21) X $30,000 = $23,700].
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agency costs

The costs that shareholders
bear due to managers’ pursuit
of their own interests.

corporate governance

The rules, processes, and laws
by which companies are oper-
ated, controlled, and regulated.

The tax deductibility of expenses reduces their actual (after-tax) cost to the firm
as long as the firm is profitable. If a firm experiences a net loss in a given year, its tax
liability is already zero. Even in this case, firms can deduct losses in one year from
income earned in subsequent years (prior losses cannot offset more than 80% of tax-
able income in any subsequent year). Note that for both accounting and tax purposes
interest is a tax-deductible expense, whereas dividends are not. Because dividends are
not tax deductible, their after-tax cost is equal to the amount of the dividend.

Other Limited Liability Organizations

A number of other organizational forms provide owners with limited liability. The
most popular are limited partnership (LP), S corporation (S corp), limited liability
company (LLC), and limited liability partnership (LLP). Each represents a special-
ized form or blending of the characteristics of the organizational forms described
previously. What they have in common is that their owners enjoy limited liability,
and they typically have fewer than 100 owners.

AGENCY PROBLEMS AND AGENCY COSTS

Large corporations have tens of thousands of different shareholders, and the vast
majority of them have no direct managerial responsibility. The professional managers
who run corporations are the agents of the shareholders, and they are entrusted to
take actions or make decisions that are in the shareholders’ best interests. As we have
already noted, in many situations, managers may act in accordance with their own
interests rather than on behalf of the shareholders. In most cases, if managers fail to
do what shareholders want them to do, they will also fail to achieve the goal of maxi-
mizing shareholder wealth. The unavoidable conflict between a firm’s principals
(shareholders) and their agents (managers) gives rise to a variety of costs that owners
must shoulder. Agency costs represent those costs that shareholders bear (or, equiva-
lently, the loss in value that they endure) because managers pursue their own interests.
Agency costs may include such things as an expensive private jet used by the CEO or
the cost of hiring outside auditors to verify the accuracy of the financial reports pro-
duced by managers. Another type of agency cost arises when managers make subopti-
mal investment decisions, that is, making investments that decrease shareholder value
or failing to make investments that would increase the firm’s stock price. Of course,
shareholders are generally sophisticated people, and they are aware of the conse-
quences of delegating managerial responsibility to agents. So, to help ensure that man-
agers act in ways consistent with the interests of shareholders, and therefore to
mitigate agency costs, shareholders aim to establish a range of corporate governance
practices. Society at large also influences corporate governance through the laws and
regulations that governments establish and with which firms must comply.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Corporate governance refers to the rules, processes, and laws by which compa-
nies are operated, controlled, and regulated. It defines the rights and responsibili-
ties of the corporate participants, such as the shareholders, board of directors,
officers and managers, and other stakeholders, as well as the rules and proce-
dures for making corporate decisions. A well-defined corporate governance
structure is intended to benefit all corporate stakeholders by ensuring that the



stock options

Securities that allow managers
to buy shares of stock at a fixed
price.

restricted stock

Shares of stock paid out as part
of a compensation package that
do not fully transfer from the
company to the employee until
certain conditions are met.

CHAPTER 1 The Role of Managerial Finance 69

firm is run in a lawful and ethical fashion, in full compliance with all corporate
regulations.

Both internal and external forces influence firms’ corporate governance prac-
tices. In terms of internal influences, clearly shareholders, through the board of
directors, exert influence on how a firm is governed. But when internal corporate
governance mechanisms fail, external forces may step in. Many of the most
important laws and regulations affecting U.S. corporations were passed in the
wake of some kind of scandal, brought about in part because of corporate gover-
nance failures on a wide scale.

Internal Corporate Governance Mechanisms

Primary responsibility for establishing a firm’s corporate governance policies
rests with the board of directors. The board is responsible for hiring and firing
the firm’s CEO and for setting the terms of compensation for senior managers.
One of the primary ways in which boards try to align the interests of managers
and shareholders is through the structure of management compensation.
Specifically, at most large companies, the pay of senior employees consists of a
fixed base salary combined with a variable component that is tied to the firm’s
performance in some manner. For example, senior managers might receive
an extra cash bonus if the firm meets particular revenue or earnings targets.
A more direct way to create incentives for managers to act in shareholders’
interests is through awards of stock options, restricted stock, and other forms
of equity compensation. Stock options allow managers to buy shares of the
company’s stock at a fixed price. For example, suppose that a company’s stock
is worth $45 per share at the beginning of the year. The board might include
100,000 stock options in the CEO’s compensation package. Suppose that each
of those options allows the CEO to buy one share of stock for $45 at any time
over the next few years. That gives the CEO a tremendous incentive to take
actions that increase the stock price. If the stock price rises to $55, then the
CEO can buy 100,000 shares for $45 each and then immediately resell them at
the $55 market price, pocketing a profit of $1 million. The higher the stock
price goes, the more the CEO benefits (and the more shareholders benefit, too).
However, if the CEO takes actions that reduce the stock price below $45, then
those stock options have little value.

Companies may link the pay of senior managers to the performance of the
company’s stock price in other ways. Firms often reward senior managers by giv-
ing them restricted stock, which are shares of stock that do not fully transfer
from the company to the employee until certain conditions are met. These condi-
tions might relate to the length of an employee’s service or to meeting perfor-
mance targets. When restricted stock is fully vested, ownership of the shares
formally transfers to the employee. Obviously, the value of restricted shares is
directly tied to the company’s stock price. Often employees must wait several
years (known as the vesting period) before their restricted stock is fully vested,
and even then, companies may impose minimum holding requirements, meaning
that an employee cannot immediately sell all their restricted shares, even if they
are fully vested, as long as the employee remains at the firm. Vesting require-
ments and minimum holding requirements ensure that the compensation of a
firm’s senior manager is always at least partially tied to the performance of the
company’s stock.
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MATTER OF FACT

CEO Pay Around the World

Both the amount that CEOs receive in compensation and the form their compensation
takes vary greatly around the world. A 2016 report noted that median pay for CEOs in
the United States was $14.9 million, nearly 3 times more than the median pay for CEOs
from non-U.S. companies. British CEOs earned the second highest median pay at $10.5
million. On the European continent, German and French CEOs earned roughly half of
what their British counterparts make, at $5.4 million and $4.0 million, respectively. Japa-
nese CEOs received even less, with median pay at $1.5 million.

Given these large differences in total compensation, the base salaries of CEOs were
surprisingly similar. For instance, the median base salary for a U.S. CEO was $5.1 million,
compared with $4.1 million for a German CEO. What, then, caused the variations in total
CEQ pay? These were driven mostly by differences in the use of equity-based compen-
sation. As an example, the portion of CEO pay coming in the form of stock or stock
options was 60% for U.S. and U.K. firms, but in Germany and France, the fraction paid in
equity totaled less than 24%. Japan was an even more dramatic outlier, with equity-
based compensation accounting for just 10% of total CEO pay. Recall that the U.S. and
U.K. legal systems emphasize the duty of managers to shareholders, whereas legal sys-
tems elsewhere place more emphasis on stakeholders. Those differences are reflected in
equity-based CEO compensation around the world.

Source: “How CEOQ pay differs around the globe,” Equilar.com press release, August 17, 2016.

Corporate compensation plans have been closely scrutinized by stockholders,
the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), and other government entities.
The total compensation in 2016 for the chief executive officers of the 500 largest
U.S. companies is considerable. For example, in 2016 Expedia’s CEO, Dara Khos-
rowshahi, earned $94.6 million.

External Corporate Governance Mechanisms

If the board of directors does not effectively monitor senior management and
establish sound governance practices, several external influences may emerge to
fill the void. First, the firms’ own investors may exert an effect on senior manag-
ers. Second, if investors cannot bring about change in an underperforming firm,
an outside company may offer to take over the firm, in which case the senior
management team would most likely be removed. Third, government regulations
impose at least some minimal level of corporate governance standards with
which firms must comply even if other internal and external governance mecha-
nisms prove ineffective.

Individual versus Institutional Investors To better understand the role of
shareholders in shaping a firm’s corporate governance, it is helpful to differenti-
ate between the two broad classes of owners: individuals and institutions.
Generally, individual investors own relatively few shares and as a result do not
typically have sufficient means to influence a firm’s corporate governance. To
pressure a firm, individual investors would have to vote collectively on matters
such as electing directors. Coordinating the votes of thousands of individuals is
difficult, so individual investors rarely exert much influence on corporations.
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Institutional investors have advantages over individual investors when it comes
to influencing the corporate governance of a firm. Institutional investors are invest-
ment professionals paid to manage and hold large quantities of securities on behalf
of individuals, businesses, and governments. Such investors include banks, insur-
ance companies, mutual funds, and pension funds. Unlike individual investors,
institutional investors often monitor and directly influence a firm’s corporate gov-
ernance by exerting pressure on management to perform, communicating their con-
cerns to the firm’s board, or even pressing for the election of their own slate of
directors to the board. These large investors can also threaten to exercise their vot-
ing rights or liquidate their holdings if the board does not respond positively to
their concerns. Because individual and institutional investors share the same goal,
individual investors benefit from the monitoring activities of institutional investors.

Activist investors, who may be wealthy individuals or institutional investors
controlling a large pool of capital, specialize in influencing management. Activist
shareholders may quickly assemble a significant ownership position in a firm to
persuade senior managers to take specific actions, such as replacing existing
board members with new ones favored by the activist. Activist investors typically
emerge when a company has been underperforming, and their objective is to
force managers to make changes to improve the firm’s performance. To illus-
trate, in January 2017, the activist investing firm, Jana Partners, revealed that it
had acquired a stake in the pharmaceutical giant Bristol-Myers Squibb. At the
time, Bristol-Myers stock was trading for 20% less than it had just 1 year earlier,
due in part to disappointing results from a clinical trial of a key drug. Just
1 month later, Bristol-Myers agreed to add three new directors to its board and
to distribute $2 billion in cash to shareholders. No sooner had the company
announced these changes than another activist, Carl Icahn, announced that he,
too, had acquired a large block of Bristol-Myers stock. This fueled speculation
that the company could become a takeover target because Icahn had previously
pushed for the acquisition of underperforming companies by larger companies.

The Threat of Takeover When a firm’s internal corporate governance struc-
ture is unable to keep agency problems in check, it is likely that rival managers will
try to gain control of the firm. Because agency problems represent a misuse of the
firm’s resources and impose agency costs on the firm’s shareholders, the firm’s
stock is generally depressed, making the firm an attractive takeover target. The
threat of takeover by another firm that believes it can enhance the troubled firm’s
value by restructuring its management, operations, and financing can provide a
strong source of external corporate governance. The constant threat of a takeover
tends to motivate management to act in the best interests of the firm’s owners.

Government Regulation

Government regulation shapes the corporate governance of all firms. During the
past decade, corporate governance has received increased attention because of
several high-profile corporate scandals involving abuse of corporate power and,
in some cases, alleged criminal activity by corporate officers. The misdeeds
derived from two main types of issues: (1) false disclosures in financial reporting
and other material information releases and (2) undisclosed conflicts of interest
between corporations and their analysts, auditors, and attorneys and between
corporate directors, officers, and shareholders.
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Asserting that an integral part of an effective corporate governance system is
the provision for civil or criminal prosecution of individuals who conduct un-
ethical or illegal acts in the name of the firm, in July 2002 the U.S. Congress passed
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (commonly called SOX). Sarbanes-Oxley was
intended to eliminate many of the disclosure and conflict of interest problems that
can arise when corporate managers are not held personally accountable for their
firm’s financial decisions and disclosures. SOX accomplished the following: estab-
lished an oversight board to monitor the accounting industry, tightened audit regu-
lations and controls, toughened penalties against executives who commit corporate
fraud, strengthened accounting disclosure requirements and ethical guidelines for
corporate officers, established corporate board structure and membership guide-
lines, established guidelines with regard to analyst conflicts of interest, mandated
instant disclosure of stock sales by corporate executives, and increased securities
regulation authority and budgets for auditors and investigators.

> REVIEW QUESTIONS MyLab Finance Solutions

1-10 Which legal form of business organization is most common? Which
form do the largest businesses typically take and why?

Describe the roles of, and the relationships among, the major parties in
a corporation: stockholders, board of directors, and managers. How
are corporate owners rewarded for the risks they take?

Explain why corporations face a double taxation problem? For corpo-
rations, how are the marginal and average tax rates related?

Define agency problems, and describe how they give rise to agency
costs. Explain how a firm’s corporate governance structure can help
avoid agency problems.

How can the firm structure management compensation to minimize
agency problems?

How do market forces—both shareholder activism and the threat of
takeover—prevent or minimize the agency problem? What role do insti-
tutional investors play in shareholder activism?

1.4 Developing Skills for Your Career

We began this chapter by arguing that regardless of your major, an understand-
ing of finance would greatly enhance your career prospects. All business disci-
plines have a responsibility to contribute to the firm’s goal of creating value, so
understanding how to determine which actions create value and having the abil-
ity to explain the wisdom behind a particular course of action can help you suc-
ceed no matter what career path you’ve chosen. Below we highlight skills you
can develop while working through this book.

CRITICAL THINKING

For many people working in a business, it is not obvious how the business cre-
ates value for its owners. In this text, we emphasize that value creation balances
risk and return, so a critical evaluation of any proposed course of action requires
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an analysis of the risks of that action as well as its potential rewards. Virtually
every chapter in this text provides guidance about how to make critical judg-
ments regarding either the risks or the rewards (or both) tied to corporate deci-
sions. By mastering those chapters will you learn how to apply criteria that lead
to value-creating business decisions. You will learn the assumptions behind and
the key relationships driving financial models, so even if your job does not
involve building those models, you can help shape them by providing the data
and analysis that the financial analysts at your firm use to provide financial justi-
fications for key decisions. Your understanding of financial principles will also
help you to identify weaknesses in financial analysis which, left uncorrected,
might lead to suboptimal decisions.

COMMUNICATION AND COLLABORATION

In most large businesses today, employees work in cross-functional teams. If
your aim is to work in marketing or supply chain or even general management,
rest assured that working with a colleague from the finance department will be
part of your regular routine. Thus, you need to understand how financial people
think and the vocabulary they use to communicate with them effectively and per-
suasively. Developing a basic financial proficiency will help you gather and orga-
nize the information that the financial analyst on your team needs to demonstrate
the value of your team’s work to the larger organization.

FINANCIAL COMPUTING SKILLS

Though an in-depth discussion of using Excel or other computer programs to
build complex financial models is beyond the scope of this text, we do provide an
introduction to some of the Excel tools that see widespread practice in financial
modeling. Even if your job does not involve building models in Excel, financial
analysts in your firm will routinely present their analysis in that form, and your
ability to respond and contribute to that analysis hinges upon your understand-
ing of at least the basics of those models. Remember that finance is often the
gatekeeper of corporate funds, so gaining support from the finance department
may be an important step in marshaling the resources you need to do your job
effectively. It’s easier to gain that support if you are conversant in the basics of
financial modeling in Excel.

FOCUS ON VALUE

This chapter established the primary goal of the firm: to maximize the wealth
of the owners for whom the firm is being operated. For public companies, this
objective means that managers should act only on those opportunities that
they expect will create value for owners by increasing the stock price. Doing
so requires management to consider the returns and the risks of each proposed
action and their combined effect on the value of the firm’s stock.
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REVIEW OF LEARNING GOALS

Define finance and the managerial finance function. Finance is the sci-
ence and art of how individuals and firms raise, allocate, and invest money. It
affects virtually all aspects of business. Managerial finance is concerned with
the duties of the financial manager working in a business. Financial managers
administer the financial affairs of all types of businesses: private and public,
large and small, profit seeking and not for profit. They perform such varied
tasks as developing a financial plan or budget, extending credit to customers,
evaluating proposed large expenditures, and raising money to fund the firm’s
operations.

Describe the goal of the firm, and explain why maximizing the value of
the firm is an appropriate goal for a business. The goal of the firm is to maxi-
mize its value and therefore the wealth of its shareholders. Maximizing the
value of the firm means running the business in the interest of those who own
it, the shareholders. Because shareholders are paid after other stakeholders, it
is also generally necessary to satisfy the interests of other stakeholders to
enrich shareholders.

Identify the primary activities of the financial manager. Financial manag-
ers are primarily involved in three types of decisions. Investment decisions relate
to how a company invests its capital to generate wealth for shareholders.
Financing decisions relate to how a company raises the capital it needs to invest.
Working capital decisions refer to the day-to-day management of a firm’s short-
term resources such as cash, receivables, inventory, and payables.

Explain the key principles that financial managers use when making
business decisions. The time value of money means that money is more valuable
today than in the future because of the opportunity to earn a return on money
that is on hand now. Because a tradeoff exists between risk and return, manag-
ers have to consider both factors for any investment they make. Managers
should also focus more on cash flow than on accounting profit. Furthermore,
managers need to recognize that market prices reflect information gathered by
many different investors, so the price of a company’s stock is an important sig-
nal of how the company is doing. Finally, although managers should act in
shareholders’ interest, they do not always do so, which requires various kinds
of incentives to be in place so that the interests of managers and shareholders
align to the greatest extent possible.

Describe the legal forms of business organization. These are the sole pro-
prietorship, the partnership, and the corporation. The corporation is dominant
in the sense that most large companies are corporations, and a corporation’s
owners are its stockholders. Stockholders expect to earn a return by receiving
dividends or by realizing gains through increases in share price.

LG . .. . .

Describe the nature of the principal-agent relationship between the owners
and managers of a corporation, and explain how various corporate governance
mechanisms attempt to manage agency problems. The separation of owners and
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managers in a corporation gives rise to the classic principal-agent relationship,
in which shareholders are the principals and managers are the agents. This
arrangement works well when the agent makes decisions in the principal’s best
interest, but it can lead to agency problems when the interests of the principal
and agent differ. A firm’s corporate governance structure is intended to help
ensure that managers act in the best interests of the firm’s shareholders and
other stakeholders, and it is usually influenced by both internal and external
factors.

SELF-TEST PROBLEM (Solution in Appendix)

LGQ

ST1-1

Emphasis on Cash Flows Worldwide Rugs is a rug importer located in the
United States that resells its import products to local retailers. Last year, World-
wide Rugs imported $2.5 million worth of rugs from around the world, all of
which were paid for prior to shipping. On receipt of the rugs, the importer
immediately resold them to local retailers for $3 million. To allow its retail cli-
ents time to resell the rugs, Worldwide Rugs sells to retailers on credit. Prior to
the end of its business year, Worldwide Rugs collected 85% of its outstanding
accounts receivable.

What is the accounting profit that Worldwide Rugs generated for the year?

Did Worldwide Rugs have a successful year from an accounting perspective?
What is the financial cash flow that Worldwide Rugs generated for the year?
Did Worldwide Rugs have a successful year from a financial perspective?

If the current pattern persists, what is your expectation for the future success of
Worldwide Rugs?

o0 TP

WARM-UP EXERCISES Select problems are available in MyLab Finance

LGe

LGe

E1-1

E1-2

You are the chief financial officer (CFO) of Morb lights, a manufacturer of lighting
components for cars. The board of directors have decided that there is a need to
divert investments toward LED-based lighting solutions instead of traditional light
bulbs. You are currently evaluating two alternative projects. The first is to integrate
new technology in the existing factory, where the cash flows for the first 4 years will
be below average as the production will be affected due to refitting of facilities.
However, from year 5 it will increase to above-average levels once full capacity is
achieved. The second project is to take over an existing small business with the
required production facility. This is expected to increase cash flows to above-average
levels immediately for the next 4 years, but decrease to lower-average cash flows
from year 5, when the factory’s technology becomes outdated.

How do you choose from the two available options? Given the strategy of the
firm, what other factors need to be taken into consideration for this decision?

As chief financial officer, you are responsible for weighing the financial pros and
cons of the many investment opportunities developed by your company’s research
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E1-3

E1-4

E1-5

and development division. You are currently evaluating two competing 15-year
projects that differ in several ways. Relative to your firm’s current EPS, the first
project is expected to generate above-average EPS during the first 5 years, average
EPS during the second 5 years, and then below-average EPS during the last 5 years.
The second project is expected to generate below-average EPS during the first
5 years, average EPS during the second 35 years, and then well-above-average EPS
during the last 5 years.

Is the choice obvious if you expect the second investment to result in a larger
overall earnings increase? Given the goal of the firm, what issues will you consider
before making a final decision?

The Quickclick Media Ltd. announced that the profit for the previous year is twice
the amount earned in the previous year, an improvement from the projected num-
bers. The chief human resources officer (CHRO) suggested that the employees need
to be rewarded for their efforts. To keep them motivated, she insisted on giving
them a significant cash bonus in the following month. The chief financial officer
(CFO), however, contended that there was insufficient cash and that they should
wait till the next quarter before paying each employee a cash bonus.

How can the company, which is a profitable one, have insufficient cash flows?
Explain your answer.

The chief financial officer (CFO) of New Age Fashion Ltd. has just received a
request from a project manager to authorize an expenditure in the amount of
£45,000. The manager states that this expenditure is necessary for the last stage
development of a space navigation system, which is based on a programming lan-
guage called Xtor. As a space engineer and financial manager, you know that
Xtor is almost obsolete and is being replaced by alternatives that provide better
cross-platform compatibility. However, the project manager insists that they
should continue with the last tranche of payment because over £1.5 million has
already been spent on developing this navigation system. It would be a shame to
waste all the time and resources that have been invested.

Advise the CFO regarding whether she should authorize the £45,000 proposed
expenditure. Use marginal cost—benefit analysis to explain your reasoning.

Premier Baking Ltd. has recently appointed a new CEQO to run its bakery busi-
ness, which supplies to supermarkets and restaurants. The new CEO has insti-
tuted a new compensation policy and dropped the earlier incentive scheme,
which was based on overall production achieved within the targeted time limits
and quality standards. The quality control manager has now reported that there
is a significant increase in production delays and delivery mix-up leading to an
increasing number of customer complaints.

Explain how the delays and delivery errors could represent a case of agency
costs. How could Premier Bakery counter these agency costs?

Eastern Trading Company has a pretax trading profit of €250,000. Britain has a flat
corporation tax rate of 19% on trading profits while Ireland has a flat rate of
12.5% on trading profits. As Britain is still in Eurozone, the company can register its
business in either country and follow their respective tax laws. What will be the tax
liability for Eastern Trading if they are registered in Britain and what will it be if
they are registered in Ireland?
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XH
Select problems are available in MyLab Finance. The wmyLab icon
indicates problems in Excel format available in MyLab Finance.

Liability comparisons John Bailey invested $50,000 in The Entertainment Company

seven years ago. He is concerned about the future of the firm, as the profits have

plummeted over the last four years. The firm has $120,000 in outstanding debt and

is considering declaring bankruptcy.

a. If John is the sole proprietor, describe the financial implication of the firm going
bankrupt.

b. If John and his brother, Peter, are partners with an equal partnership distribu-
tion, describe the financial implication of the firm going bankrupt.

c. If the firm is a corporation, describe the financial implication of the firm going
bankrupt.

Accrual income versus cash flow for a period The Motor Corporation sold vehicles

for $500,000 to one specific dealer during the year. At the end of the financial year,

the dealer still owed The Motor Corporation $350,000. The cost of the vehicles sold

was $400,000, and this cost was incurred and paid by The Motor Corporation.

a. Determine the firm’s net profit for the past year using the accrual basis of
accounting.

b. Determine the firm’s net cash flow for the past year using the cash basis of
accounting.

c. The accountant and financial manager need to present the results to the CEO of
The Motor Corporation. What will be their message regarding the performance
of the corporation?

Personal Finance Problem

Cash flows Sheldon Smith spends many hours monitoring his personal cash flows
every month. Sheldon earns 5% on his short-term investments while paying prime
plus 2% (prime is 9%) on the mortgage. The cash inflows and outflows for the
month of March are as follows:

Item Cash inflow Cash outflow
Interest received $ 500

Mortgage $1,550
Salary 5,500

Groceries bill 850
Gas bill 200
Utility bills 310

a. Determine Sheldon’s total cash inflows and cash outflows for the month of
March.

b. What is Sheldon’s net cash flow for the month of March? Explain the meaning of
the term “net cash flow.”

c. What advice would you give Sheldon if there is a surplus of funds?

d. What advice would you give Sheldon if there is a shortage of funds?
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P1-4 Marginal cost-benefit analysis and the goal of the firm Wendy Winter needs to

P1-7

determine whether the current warehouse system should be upgraded to a new sys-

tem. The new system would require an initial cash outlay of $250,000. The current

system could be sold for $55,000. The monetary benefit of the new system over the

next five years is $325,000, while the monetary benefit of the current system over

the same period is $125,000. Furthermore, it is expected that the firm’s stock price

will increase if the new system is implemented because it will make the firm more

cost efficient and cost effective in the long run.

a. Identify and describe the analysis Wendy should use to make the decision.

b. Calculate the marginal benefit of the proposed new warehouse system.

c. Calculate the marginal cost of the proposed new warehouse system.

d. What should Wendy’s recommendation be to the firm regarding the new
warehouse system? Explain your answer.

e. If the new system is implemented, will the firm achieve the primary financial goal
of managers?

Identifying agency problems, costs, and resolutions You are the CEO of Nelson
Corporation, and the current stock price is $27.80. Pollack Enterprises announced
today that it intends to buy Nelson Corporation. To obtain all the stock of Nelson
Corporation, Pollack Enterprises is willing to pay $38.60 per share. At a meeting
with your management, you realize that the management is not happy with the
offer, and is against the takeover. Therefore, with the full support of your manage-
ment team, you are fighting to prevent the takeover from Pollack Enterprises.

Is the management of Nelson Corporation acting in the best interest of the
Nelson Corporation stockholders? Explain your reasoning.

Corporate taxes Southern Textile Ltd. is a manufacturer of sportswear that
supplies to a number of European retail stores. Its registered office is in Singapore.
During 2017, the firm earned SGD 112,000 before taxes. Singapore’s corporate tax
rate is 20%. Firms are eligible for a tax rebate of 50% of the tax amount, capped to
a maximum amount of SGD 10,000 every year on their tax liability.

a. Calculate the firm’s tax liability using Singapore’s corporate tax rates.

b. How much are Southern Textile’s 2017 after-tax earnings?

c. Calculate the firm’s average tax rate.

Average corporate tax rates Ordinary income in 2017 was taxed subject to the rates

shown in the accompanying table. Using the data in the table, perform the following:

a. Calculate a firm’s tax liability, after-tax earnings, and average tax rate for the
following levels of corporate earnings before taxes: $20,000; $70,000; $300,000;
$700,000; $1.2 million; $16 million; and $22 million.

b. Plot the average tax rate (measured on the y-axis) and the pretax income levels
(measured on the x-axis). Explain the relationship between average tax rate and
pretax income level.
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Tax calculation

Taxable income brackets

Base tax

+

(Marginal rate X amount over bracket lower limit)

$

LGe

LG@

LG@

LG@

0

50,000

75,000

100,000
335,000
10,000,000
15,000,000
Over 18,333,333

to
to
to
to
to
to
to

P1-8

P1-9

P1-10

P1-11

$ 50,000 $ 0

amount over  $ 0
75,000 7,500
100,000 13,750
335,000 22,250
10,000,000 113,900
15,000,000 3,400,000
18,333,333 5,150,000
6,416,667

amount over 50,000
amount over 75,000
amount over 100,000
amount over 335,000
amount over 10,000,000
amount over 15,000,000
amount over 18,333,333

+ + + + + + + o+
X X X X X X X X

Marginal corporate tax rates Using the corporate tax rate schedule given in the

previous problem, perform the following:

a. Find the marginal tax rate for the following levels of corporate earnings before
taxes: $12,000; $40,000; $70,000; $90,000; $300,000; $550,000; $1.3 million;
and $22 million.

b. Plot the marginal tax rate (measured on the y-axis) against the pretax income
levels (measured on the x-axis). Explain the relationship between the marginal
tax rate and pretax income levels.

Interest versus dividend income Depot Logistics Inc. has declared pretax income from

its operations for the year of $560,000. In addition, it also received interest payment of

$40,000 on bond stock held in Warehouse PLC. During the year, they also received

$40,000 in income from dividends on its 20% common stock holding in Zephir PLC.

Depot Logistics is in the 30% tax bracket and is eligible for a 70% dividend exclusion

on its Zephir PLC stock.

a. Calculate the tax liability for Depot Logistics on its operating income.

b. Calculate the tax and after-tax income attributable to the interest income
received on account of bond stock, from Warehouse PLC.

c. Find the tax and after-tax income owing to the dividend income received on
account of common stock, from Zephir PLC.

d. Compare and comment on the after-tax amounts resulting from the interest
income and dividend income calculated in parts b and c.

e. What is the firm’s total tax liability for the year?

Interest versus dividend expense Derwent Ltd. has announced that the earnings
before income and taxes is going to be £300,000 for the current year. Assuming cor-
porate tax rate for Derwent Ltd. is a flat 30%, compute the firm’s profit after taxes
and earnings available for common stockholders (earnings after taxes and preferred
stock dividends, if any) under following conditions:

a. The firm pays £70,000 in interest.

b. The firm pays £70,000 in preferred stock dividends.

Hemingway Corporation is considering expanding its operations to boost its
income, but before making a final decision, it has asked you to calculate the corpo-
rate tax consequences of such a decision. Currently, Hemingway generates
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before-tax yearly income of $200,000 and has no debt outstanding. Expanding
operations would allow Hemingway to increase before-tax yearly income to
$350,000. Hemingway can use either cash reserves or debt to finance its expansion.
If Hemingway uses debt, it will have a yearly interest expense of $70,000.

Create a spreadsheet to conduct a tax analysis (assume a 21% flat tax rate) for
Hemingway Corporation and determine the following:

a. What is Hemingway’s current annual corporate tax liability?

b. What is Hemingway’s current average tax rate?

c. If Hemingway finances its expansion using cash reserves, what will be its new
corporate tax liability and average tax rate?

d. If Hemingway finances its expansion using debt, what will be its new corporate
tax liability and average tax rate?

e. What would you recommend the firm do? Why?

ETHICS PROBLEM One of the key risk areas that corporates need to manage is
“ethical risks.” Do you think that management of ethical risks is as important for
businesses as management of financial risks? Explain how ethical problems may
affect a firm’s profits and stock price.

SPREADSHEET EXERCISE

'

Assume that Monsanto Corporation is considering the replacement of some of
its older and outdated carpet-manufacturing equipment. Its objective is to
improve the efficiency of operations in terms of both speed and reduction in the
number of defects. The company’s finance department has compiled pertinent
data to conduct a marginal cost-benefit analysis for the proposed equipment
replacement.

The cash outlay for new equipment would be approximately $600,000. The
net book value of the old equipment and its potential net selling price add up to
$250,000. The total benefits over the life of the new equipment (measured in
today’s dollars) would be $900,000. The sum of benefits from the remaining life
of the old equipment (measured in today’s dollars) would be $300,000.

TO DO

Create a spreadsheet to conduct a marginal cost-benefit analysis for Monsanto Cor-
poration, and determine the following:

The marginal benefits of the proposed new equipment.
The marginal costs of the proposed new equipment.
The net benefit of the proposed new equipment.

What would you recommend the firm do? Why?

o T

MyLab Finance Visit www.pearson.com/mylab/finance for Chapter Case:
Assessing the Goal of Sports Products, Inc., Group Exercises, and numerous online resources.
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The Financial Market Environment

LEARNING GOALS

LGo

Understand the role that
financial institutions play in
managerial finance.

Understand the role that
financial markets play in
managerial finance.

Describe the differences
between the money market
and the capital market.

Understand the major
regulations and regulatory
bodies that affect financial
institutions and markets.

Describe the process of
issuing common stock,
including venture capital,
going public, and the role
of the investment bank.

Understand what is meant
by financial markets in
crisis, and describe some of
the root causes of the
Great Recession.

[ MyLab Finance Chapter Introduction Video]

WHY THIS CHAPTER MATTERS TO YOU

In your professional life

ACCOUNTING You need to understand how the firm raises external financing with
the assistance of financial institutions in the financial markets.

INFORMATION SYSTEMS You need to understand how information flows
between the firm and financial markets.

MANAGEMENT You need to understand why healthy financial institutions and
markets are an integral part of a healthy economy and how a crisis in the financial
sector can spread and affect almost any type of business.

MARKETING You need to understand why it is important for firms to communicate
results to investors and how these communications lead to more favorable external
financing terms for the firm in the financial markets.

OPERATIONS You need to understand why external financing is, for most firms, an
essential aspect of ongoing operations.

In your personal life

Making financial transactions will be a regular occurrence throughout your life.
These transactions may be as simple as depositing your paycheck in a bank or as
complex as deciding how to allocate the money you save for retirement among
different investment options. The content in this chapter will help you make better
decisions when you conduct business in the financial markets.

81
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LC@ 2.1 Financial Institutions

financial institution

An intermediary that channels
the savings of individuals, busi-
nesses, and governments into
loans or investments.

commercial banks
Institutions that provide savers
with a secure place to invest
their funds and that offer loans
to individual and business
borrowers.

Most successful firms have ongoing needs for funds. Financial institutions serve
as intermediaries by channeling the savings of individuals, businesses, and gov-
ernments into loans or investments. Many financial institutions directly or indi-
rectly pay savers interest on deposited funds; others provide services for a fee
(e.g., checking accounts for which customers pay service charges). Some financial
institutions accept customers’ savings deposits and lend this money to other cus-
tomers such as firms, others invest customers’ savings in earning assets such as
real estate or stocks and bonds, and still others do both. The government requires
financial institutions to operate within established regulatory guidelines.

For financial institutions, the key suppliers of funds and the key demanders
of funds are individuals, businesses, and governments. The savings that individ-
ual consumers place in financial institutions provide these institutions with a
large portion of their funds. Individuals not only supply funds to financial insti-
tutions but also demand funds from them in the form of loans. However, indi-
viduals as a group are net suppliers for financial institutions: They save more
money than they borrow.

Business firms also deposit some of their funds in financial institutions, pri-
marily in checking accounts with various commercial banks. Like individuals,
firms borrow funds from these institutions, but, unlike individuals, firms are net
demanders of funds: They borrow more money than they save.

Governments maintain deposits of temporarily idle funds, certain tax pay-
ments, and Social Security payments in commercial banks. They do not bor-
row funds directly from financial institutions, although by selling their debt
securities to various institutions, governments indirectly borrow from them.
The government, like business firms, is typically a net demander of funds: It
typically borrows more than it saves. We’ve all heard about the U.S. federal
budget deficit.

Major types of financial institutions include commercial banks, investment
banks, investment funds, insurance companies, and pension funds. Financial
institutions offer a wide range of products and services for individual, business,
and government clients.

COMMERCIAL BANKS, INVESTMENT BANKS,
AND THE SHADOW BANKING SYSTEM

Commercial Banks

Commercial banks are financial institutions that provide savers with a secure
place to deposit or save funds for future use. Deposited funds generally earn a
small rate of return, are available on demand, and are insured against loss. The
largest commercial banks in the United States include JPMorgan Chase, Wells
Fargo, Bank of America, Citibank, U.S. Bancorp, and PNC Bank. Commercial
banks are among the most important financial institutions because they provide
loans to both individuals and businesses to finance investments, such as the pur-
chase of a new home or the expansion of a business.

The traditional business model of a commercial bank—taking in and paying
interest on savings deposits and investing or lending those funds back out at
higher interest rates—works to the extent that depositors trust their savings are



Glass-Steagall Act

An act of Congress in 1933 that
created the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation (FDIC)
and separated the activities of
commercial and investment
banks.

investment banks

Institutions that assist compa-
nies in raising capital, advise
firms on major transactions such
as mergers or financial restruc-
turings, and engage in trading
and market-making activities.

shadow banking system

A group of institutions that
engage in lending activities,
much like traditional banks, but
that do not accept deposits and
therefore are not subject to the

same regulations as traditional
banks.
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safe. In the United States, most savings accounts at commercial banks are insured
by the U.S. Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC). The first $250,000 of
deposits in an account at an FDIC-insured depository institution is covered dol-
lar-for-dollar, principal plus any interest accrued or due the depositor. In the
1930s, FDIC insurance was put in place in response to the banking runs that
occurred during the Great Depression. The same 1933 act of Congress that intro-
duced deposit insurance, the Glass-Steagall Act, also created a separation
between commercial banks and investment banks, meaning that an institution
engaged in taking in deposits could not also engage in the somewhat riskier
activities of securities underwriting and trading.

Investment Banks

Investment banks are financial institutions that (1) assist companies in raising
capital, (2) advise firms on major transactions such as mergers or financial
restructurings, and (3) engage in trading and market-making activities. Some typ-
ical clients of investment banks include individuals with very high net worth,
businesses, governments, pension funds, and other financial institutions. Size and
reputation matter for investment banks. Large banks like Goldman Sachs,
Morgan Stanley, Barclays, Credit Suisse, and Deutsche Bank have better connec-
tions, provide more services, and have greater capability of facilitating the unique
transactions of their clients.

Commercial and investment banks remained essentially separate for more
than 50 years, but Congress, with the approval of President Clinton, repealed
Glass-Steagall in 1999. Companies that had formerly engaged only in the tradi-
tional activities of a commercial bank began competing with investment banks
for underwriting and other services. Some of the largest commingled banks are
JPMorgan Chase, Bank of America Merrill Lynch, and Citigroup.

Shadow Banking System

The past 25 years have witnessed tremendous growth in what has come to be
known as the shadow banking system. The shadow banking system describes a
group of financial institutions that engage in lending activities, much like tradi-
tional banks, but that do not accept deposits and are therefore not subject to the
same regulations with which traditional depository institutions must comply. For
example, financial institutions such as mutual funds, insurance companies, or
pension funds might have excess cash to invest, and a large corporation might
need short-term financing to cover seasonal cash flow needs. Investment banks
can act as an intermediary between these two parties and help facilitate a loan
and thereby become part of the shadow banking system. The Financial Stability

MATTER OF FACT

Consolidation in the U.S. Banking Industry

The U.S. banking industry has been going through a long period of consolidation.
According to the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), the number of commer-
cial banks in the United States declined from 14,400 in early 1984 to 4,964 by October
2017, a decline of more than 65%. The decline is concentrated among small community
banks, which larger institutions have been acquiring at a rapid pace.
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Board’s Global Shadow Banking Monitoring Report 2016 indicates that the
shadow banking system financed $34 trillion in assets in 27 countries, and in the
United States alone it financed $13.8 trillion in assets.

> REVIEW QUESTIONS MyLab Finance Solutions

2-1 What are financial institutions? Describe the role they play within the
financial market environment.

2-2 Who are the key customers of financial institutions? Who are net sup-
pliers, and who are net demanders of funds?

2-3 Describe the role of commercial banks, investment banks, and the
shadow banking system within the financial market environment.

2.2 Financial Markets

financial markets

Forums in which suppliers of
funds and demanders of funds
can transact business directly.

private placement

The sale of a new security
directly to an investor or group
of investors.

public offering
The sale of either bonds or
stocks to the general public.

primary market

Financial market in which securi-
ties are initially issued; the only
market in which the issuer

is directly involved in the
transaction.

secondary market

Financial market in which pre-
owned securities (those that are
not new issues) are traded.

Whereas savers who deposit funds into financial institutions have no direct
knowledge of how those funds are lent, suppliers of funds in the financial mar-
kets know where their money goes. Financial markets are forums in which sup-
pliers and demanders of funds can transact business directly. The two key
financial markets are the money market and the capital market. Short-term debt
instruments, or marketable securities, trade in the money market. Long-term
securities—bonds and stocks—trade in the capital market.

To raise money, firms can use either private placements or public offerings.
A private placement involves the sale of a new security directly to an investor or
group of investors, such as an insurance company or a pension fund. When firms
need to raise large sums of money by selling securities, they usually do so through
a public offering, which is the sale of either bonds or stocks to the general
public.

When a company or government entity sells stocks or bonds to investors and
receives cash in return, it issues securities in the primary market. After the pri-
mary market transaction occurs, any further trading in the security does not
involve the issuer directly, and the issuer receives no additional money from sub-
sequent transactions. Once the securities begin to trade between investors, they
become part of the secondary market. On large stock exchanges, billions of
shares may trade between buyers and sellers on a single day, and these trades are
all secondary market transactions. Money flows from the investors buying stocks
to the investors selling them, and the company whose stock investors are trading
remains largely unaffected by the transactions. Thus, we can say that the second-
ary market is where investors trade securities that were originally issued in the
primary market.

THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN INSTITUTIONS AND MARKETS

Financial institutions actively participate in the financial markets as both suppli-
ers and demanders of funds. Figure 2.1 depicts the general flow of funds through
and between financial institutions and financial markets as well as the mechanics
of private placement transactions. Domestic or foreign individuals, businesses,
and governments may supply and demand funds. We next briefly discuss the
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FIGURE 2.1
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money market

A market where investors trade
highly liquid securities with
maturities of 1 year or less.

marketable securities
Short-term debt instruments,
such as U.S. Treasury bills, com-
mercial paper, and negotiable
certificates of deposit issued by
government, business, and
financial institutions, respec-
tively.

Eurocurrency market
International equivalent of the
domestic money market.

money market, including its international equivalent, the Eurocurrency market.
We then end this section with a look at the capital market, which is the market
where firms issue long-term securities such as stocks and bonds.

THE MONEY MARKET

The money market is a market where investors trade highly liquid securities with
maturities of 1 year or less. The money market exists because some individuals,
businesses, governments, and financial institutions have temporarily idle funds
they wish to invest in a relatively safe, interest-bearing asset. At the same time,
other individuals, businesses, governments, and financial institutions find them-
selves in need of seasonal or temporary financing. The money market brings
together these suppliers and demanders of short-term funds.

In the money market, buyers and sellers trade marketable securities, which
are short-term debt instruments such as U.S. Treasury bills, commercial paper,
and negotiable certificates of deposit issued by government, business, and finan-
cial institutions, respectively. Investors generally consider marketable securities
to be among the least risky investments available.

The international equivalent of the domestic money market is the Eurocur-
rency market. This market for short-term bank deposits is denominated in U.S.
dollars or other major currencies. Eurocurrency deposits arise when a corpora-
tion or individual makes a bank deposit in a currency other than the local cur-
rency of the country where the bank is located. For example, if a multinational
corporation were to deposit U.S. dollars in a London bank, this action would
create a Eurodollar deposit (a dollar deposit at a bank in Europe). Nearly all
Eurodollar deposits are time deposits, which means the bank would promise to
repay the deposit, with interest, at a fixed date in the future—in 6 months, for
example. During the interim, the bank is free to lend this dollar deposit to credit-
worthy corporate or government borrowers. If the bank cannot find a borrower
on its own, it may lend the deposit to another international bank.
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capital market

A market that enables suppliers
and demanders of long-term
funds to make transactions.

bond

Long-term debt instrument
used by business and govern-
ment to raise large sums of
money, generally from a diverse
group of lenders.

common stock

A unit of ownership, or equity,
in a corporation.

preferred stock

A special form of ownership
having a fixed periodic dividend
that must be paid prior to pay-
ment of any dividends to com-
mon stockholders.

liquidity

The ability to quickly buy or sell
a security without having an
impact on the security’s price.

PART ONE Introduction to Managerial Finance

THE CAPITAL MARKET

The capital market enables suppliers and demanders of long-term funds to make
transactions. Businesses and governmental entities are the major issuers of securi-
ties in the capital market. The broker and dealer markets that provide a forum
for bond and stock transactions form the backbone of the capital market.
Although the United States has the world’s largest and most active capital mar-
kets, in recent decades capital markets have experienced tremendous growth in
countries all over the world.

Key Securities Traded: Bonds and Stocks

Securities traded in the capital market fall into two broad categories: debt and
equity. The term debt refers to a loan that a borrower must repay. Equity, in
contrast, refers to a security issued by a business that provides the security holder
with an ownership stake in the firm. The main type of debt security is a bond,
whereas the main equity security is common stock. Preferred stock has features
of both debt and equity, and for that reason we refer to preferred stock as a
hybrid security.

Bonds are long-term debt instruments used by business and government to
raise large sums of money, generally from a diverse group of lenders. Bonds typi-
cally pay periodic interest at a stated interest rate. The borrower pays interest on
the bond’s principal until the bond’s maturity date, at which point the borrower
repays the principal to the bondholders. Bond issuers have a legal commitment to
make interest and principal payments to investors, and failure to do so may result
in the borrower going bankrupt.

Shares of common stock are units of ownership, or equity, in a corporation.
Common stockholders earn a return by receiving dividends—periodic distribu-
tions of cash—or by realizing increases in share price. Firms have no obligation
to pay dividends on common stock, and in fact most young firms tend to reinvest
their earnings rather than pay them out as dividends. Eventually, as they grow
and mature, most firms do pay dividends and raise them over time.

Preferred stock is a hybrid form of ownership that has features of both a
bond and a common stock. Firms promise to pay preferred stockholders a fixed
periodic dividend, much like the fixed interest payments that bonds offer. Firms
must also pay dividends to preferred stockholders before they pay dividends to
common stockholders. In other words, like bonds, preferred stock has “prefer-
ence” over common stock. However, if a firm cannot pay dividends, preferred
stockholders cannot force it into bankruptcy as bondholders can when a firm
does not make interest and principal payments.

The market prices of both common and preferred stocks can fluctuate, but
because preferred dividends are fixed, whereas firms may increase or decrease
dividends on common shares without limit, common stock prices tend to fluctu-
ate more.

Broker Markets and Dealer Markets

The vast majority of trades made by investors take place in the secondary mar-
ket. Print media sources like the Wall Street Journal and online resources like
Yahoo! Finance (finance.yahoo.com) report information on secondary market
transactions. A desirable feature of secondary markets for traders is liquidity,
which refers to the ability to quickly buy or sell a security without having an


www.finance.yahoo.com

market order

An order to either buy or sell a
security at the prevailing market
prices.

bid price

The highest price a buyer in the
market is willing to pay for a
security.

ask price

The lowest price a seller in the
market is willing to accept for a
security.

EXAMPLE 2.1

MyLab Finance Solution
Video

bid/ask spread
The difference between the bid
and ask prices.

market makers

Securities dealers who “make
markets” by offering to buy or
sell certain securities at stated
prices.

broker market

The securities exchanges on
which the two sides of a trans-
action, the buyer and seller, are
brought together to trade
securities.

dealer market

The market in which the buyer
and seller are not brought
together directly but instead
have their orders executed by
securities dealers who “make
markets” in the given security.
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impact on the security’s price. If a security trades in an illiquid market, selling or
buying that security quickly may prove difficult and may require a price conces-
sion by the investor to facilitate the trade.

The typical secondary market trade requires an investor to submit an order to
a brokerage service, for which the brokerage charges the investor a fee called a
commission. The simplest type of trade involves a market order, which is an order
to either sell or buy a security at the prevailing bid or ask price, respectively. The
bid price is the highest price a buyer in the market is willing to pay for a security,
and the ask price is the lowest price a seller in the market is willing to accept for a
security. In effect, an investor pays the ask price when buying securities and receives
the bid price when selling them. An example will help illustrate this concept.

Mark instructs his broker to submit a market order to buy 100 shares of Face-
book common stock. At the time, the ask price for Facebook is $138.79, and the
bid price is $138.71. Remember, the ask price is the lowest price offered in the
market to sell Facebook to a potential buyer. Since Mark is trying to buy Face-
book stock, and he wants to buy at the lowest possible price, he will pay $138.79,
plus whatever commissions his broker charges. If, however, Mark already owned
Facebook stock and wanted to sell it, he would be looking for the market’s best
offer to buy, the bid price. In that case, Mark would sell his shares for $138.71,
less commissions charged by the broker.

The difference between the bid and ask prices is the bid/ask spread.

Bid/Ask Spread = Ask Price — Bid Price 2.1)

The bid/ask spread is a kind of trading cost that investors may pay when
they trade through a market maker. A market maker is a securities dealer who
makes a market in one or more securities by offering to buy or sell them at stated
bid/ask prices. The bid/ask spread represents income to the market maker in
much the same way that commission is income for the broker who submits the
order. When an investor submits an order through a broker, the brokerage ser-
vice sends the order, usually electronically, to a market maker to execute the
trade. How the market maker executes the order depends on whether the second-
ary market where the trade takes place is a broker market or a dealer market.

The essential difference between broker and dealer markets is a technical
point that deals with the way trades are executed. When a trade occurs in a
broker market, the market maker brings the buyer’s order and the seller’s order
together to execute the trade at the midpoint of the bid/ask spread. In other
words, Party A sells his or her securities directly to the buyer, Party B. Note that
this kind of market will have a high degree of liquidity if many investors want to
buy and many want to sell. In this case the market maker acts as a broker and by
doing so forgoes collecting the bid/ask spread. This means that the only transac-
tion cost for each trader is their brokerage commission.

In contrast, when trades occur in a dealer market the buyer’s and the seller’s
orders are not brought directly together. Instead, market makers execute the buy/
sell market orders they receive using their own inventory of securities. Essen-
tially, two separate trades take place: Party A sells her securities (say, IBM stock)
to a dealer at the bid price, and Party B buys his securities (IBM stock) from



88 PART ONE Introduction to Managerial Finance

another, or possibly even the same, dealer at the ask price. This type of market
will have good liquidity if dealers are willing to buy and sell quickly in response
to the orders they receive. In this case, the market maker acts as a dealer and by
doing so collects one-half of the bid/ask spread for each side of the trade. If the
same dealer executes both sides of the trade, she collects the full bid/ask spread.
In a dealer market, the total transaction cost for each of the traders is one-half
the bid/ask spread plus the brokerage commission. You can see that the key dif-
ference between broker and dealer markets is whether other traders provide
liquidity or whether dealers perform that function. In broker markets the orders
from investors provide liquidity, and in dealer markets the dealers provide
liquidity.

PERSONAL FINANCE EXAMPLE 2.2 = Assume that the current bid price for Merck & Co. stock is

MyLab Finance Solution
Video

$63.25 and the ask price is $63.45. Suppose you have an
E*TRADE brokerage account that charges a $6.95 commission for online equity
trades. What is the current bid/ask spread for Merck?

Bid/Ask Spread = $63.45 — $63.25 = $0.20

Inserting the current bid and ask prices into Equation 2.1, you find that the
bid/ask spread for Merck is $0.20. What would your total transaction costs be if
you purchased 100 shares of Merck by submitting a market order via your
E*TRADE account? Assume the trade is sent to a broker market for execution,
and the market maker matches your order with a 100-share sell order for Merck
from another investor. In this case your order will be executed at the midpoint of
the bid/ask spread ($63.35), so you will pay only the brokerage commission.

Total Transaction Costs = Brokerage Commission = $6.95

Now what would your total transaction costs be if you purchased 100 shares of
Merck by submitting a market order via your E*TRADE account, and it is
routed to a dealer market for execution?

Total Transaction Costs = (Number of Shares X 1/2 the Bid/Ask Spread)
+ Brokerage Commission

= (100 X 1/2 X $0.20) + $6.95
=$10+$6.95 = $16.95

Depending on where your brokerage routes your order, you find that your total
transaction costs are either $6.95 in a broker market or $16.95 in a dealer
market.

Because any stock that trades in the secondary market has a bid price and
an ask price, it may seem difficult to answer the question, what is the market
value of the stock? In the previous example, is the market value of Merck
$63.45 or $63.25? A fairly common convention is to refer to the midpoint of
the bid/ask spread as the stock’s market value. In this case, we could say that
Merck’s market value is $63.35, which is halfway between the bid and ask
prices.

Midpoint of the Bid/Ask Spread = ($63.45 + $63.25) +~2 = $63.35



securities exchanges
Organizations that provide the
marketplace in which firms can
raise funds through the sale of
new securities and purchasers
can resell securities.

Nasdaq market

An all-electronic trading plat-
form used to execute securities
trades.

over-the-counter (OTC)
market

Market where smaller, unlisted
securities are traded.
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Broker Markets Most broker markets consist of national or regional securities
exchanges, which are organizations that provide a physical marketplace where trad-
ers can buy and sell securities. Note that most broker markets are actually broker/
dealer markets in the sense that when executing trades the market maker must act as
a broker first, when public orders are available to provide the necessary liquidity,
and as a dealer second, when there are no public orders to provide the requisite
liquidity.

If you are like most people, the first name that comes to mind in association
with the “stock market” is the New York Stock Exchange, known as the NYSE.
In fact, the NYSE is the dominant broker market, accounting for a little more
than 25% of the total dollar volume of all trades in the U.S. stock market in
2016. Internet-based brokerage systems enable investors to place their buy and
sell orders electronically, and those orders execute on the NYSE in seconds,
thanks to sophisticated telecommunication devices.

For a firm to list its securities for trading on a stock exchange, it must file
an application for listing and meet a number of requirements. For example, to
be eligible for listing on the NYSE, a firm must have aggregate pretax earnings
of at least $10 million over the previous 3 years, with at least $2 million in
each of the previous 2 years, and greater than zero in each of the previous
3 years; at least 400 stockholders owning 100 or more shares; at least 1.1 million
shares of publicly held stock outstanding; a market value of publicly held
shares of at least $40 million; and a public share price of at least $4. Firms that
earn listing status on the NYSE are among the largest public companies, and
their shares often trade in multiple venues in addition to the NYSE. Accord-
ingly, trading in N'YSE-listed stocks accounted for more than 47% of all U.S.
stock trades in 2016.

Dealer Markets A key feature of the dealer market is that it has no central-
ized trading floors. Instead, it is composed of a large number of market makers
linked together via a mass-telecommunications network.

Of note, most dealer markets are technically dealer/broker markets in the
sense that when executing trades the market maker can act as dealer first, when-
ever it suits her to provide liquidity, and as broker second, whenever it doesn’t
suit her to provide liquidity. If a market maker in a dealer market receives an
order she does not want to execute, she can simply route the order along to
another market maker for execution. For example, she might route the order to a
broker market. The two most recognizable dealer markets are the Nasdaq
market, an all-electronic trading platform used to execute securities trades, and
the over-the-counter (OTC) market, where investors trade smaller, unlisted secu-
rities. Together these two dealer markets account for about 25% of all shares
traded in the United States, with the Nasdaq accounting for the overwhelming
majority of those trades. (As an aside, the primary market is also a dealer market
because all new issues are sold to the investing public by securities dealers, acting
on behalf of the investment bank.)

Founded in 1971, the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated
Quotation System, or simply Nasdag, had its origins in the OTC market but
today is a totally separate entity that’s no longer part of the OTC market. In fact,
in 2006 the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) formally recognized the
Nasdaq as a “listed exchange,” essentially giving it the same stature and prestige
as the NYSE.
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Eurobond market

The market in which corpora-
tions and governments typically
issue bonds denominated in
dollars and sell them to inves-
tors located outside the United
States.

foreign bond

A bond that is issued by a for-
eign corporation or government
and is denominated in the inves-
tor's home currency and sold in
the investor's home market.

international equity market
A market that allows corpora-
tions to sell blocks of shares to
investors in a number of differ-
ent countries simultaneously.

efficient market

A market that establishes cor-
rect prices for the securities that
firms sell and allocates funds to
their most productive uses.
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MATTER OF FACT

NYSE Is the World's Largest Stock Exchange

According to The Money Project, in 2016 the world boasted 60 major stock exchanges
with a combined total market value of $69 trillion. The largest stock market in the world,
as measured by the total market value of securities listed on that market, is the NYSE,
with listed securities worth more than $18.5 trillion, or about 27% of the total market
value for all major exchanges globally. The NYSE's total market capitalization is larger
than the total market capitalizations of the world’s 50 smallest major exchanges com-
bined. The next largest is the Nasdaq at $7.5 trillion, with exchanges in Tokyo and
Shanghai not far behind at $4.9 trillion and $4.5 trillion, respectively.

In recent years, the distinctions between broker and dealer markets have blurred.
Electronic trading platforms, using sophisticated algorithms, place buy and sell orders
very rapidly (so-called high-frequency trading), often without any human interven-
tion. These algorithms may allow trading firms to speculate on a stock’s price move-
ments, or they may be used to take a single, large buy or sell order and break it into
many smaller orders in an effort to minimize the price impact of buying or selling a
large quantity of shares. An increasing amount of trading takes place today “off
exchange,” often in private trading venues known as “dark pools.” Roughly one-
third of secondary market trading occurs in these off-exchange environments.

International Capital Markets

Although U.S. capital markets are by far the world’s largest, important debt
and equity markets exist outside the United States. In the Eurobond market,
corporations and governments typically issue bonds denominated in dollars
and sell them to investors located outside the United States. A U.S. corporation
might, for example, issue dollar-denominated bonds that investors in Belgium,
Germany, or Switzerland would purchase. Through the Eurobond market,
issuing firms and governments can tap a much larger pool of investors than
would be generally available in the local market.

The foreign bond market is an international market for long-term debt secu-
rities. A foreign bond is a bond issued by a foreign corporation or government
that is denominated in the investor’s home currency and sold in the investor’s
home market. A bond issued by a U.S. company that is denominated in Swiss
francs and sold in Switzerland is a foreign bond. Although the foreign bond mar-
ket is smaller than the Eurobond market, many issuers have found it useful in
tapping debt markets around the world.

Finally, the international equity market allows corporations to sell blocks of
shares to investors in a number of different countries simultaneously. This mar-
ket enables corporations to raise far larger amounts of capital than they could in
any single market. International equity sales have been indispensable to govern-
ments that have sold state-owned companies to private investors.

THE ROLE OF CAPITAL MARKETS

From a firm’s perspective, a capital market should be a liquid market where
firms can interact with investors to obtain valuable external financing resources.
From investors® perspectives, a capital market should be an efficient market that
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(EMH)

Theory describing the behavior
of a market in which (1) securi-
ties are in equilibrium, (2) secu-
rity prices fully reflect all
available information and react
swiftly to new information, and
(3) because stocks are fully and
fairly priced, investors need not
waste time looking for mis-
priced securities.
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establishes correct prices for the securities that firms sell and allocates funds to
their most productive uses. This role is especially true for securities actively
traded in broker or dealer markets, where intense competition among investors
determines the prices of securities.

The Efficient-Market Hypothesis

Active stock markets, such as the NYSE and the Nasdaq market, may be efficient
if they are made up of many rational competitive investors who react quickly and
objectively to new information. The efficient market hypothesis (EMH), which is
the basic theory describing the behavior of such a market, specifically states the
following:

1. Securities are typically in equilibrium, which means they are fairly priced and
their expected returns equal their required returns.

2. At any point in time, security prices fully reflect all information available about
the firm and its securities, and these prices react swiftly to new information.

3. Because stocks are fully and fairly priced, investors need not waste their time
trying to find mispriced (undervalued or overvalued) securities.

The price of an individual security is determined by the interaction between
buyers and sellers in the market. If the market is efficient, the price of a stock is
an unbiased estimate of its true value. In this context, the term unbiased means
that stock prices are neither systematically overpriced nor underpriced. Investors
compete with one another for information about a stock’s true value, so at any
given time, a stock’s price reflects all the information known about the stock.
Changes in the price reflect new information that investors learn about and act
on. For example, suppose that a certain company’s stock currently trades at
$40 per share. If this company announces that sales of a new product have been
higher than expected, and if investors have not already anticipated that announce-
ment, investors will raise their estimate of what the stock is truly worth. At $40,
the stock is a relative bargain, so temporarily more buyers than sellers will want
to trade the stock, and its price will have to rise to restore equilibrium in the mar-
ket. The more efficient the market is, the more rapidly this whole process works.
In theory, even information known only to insiders may become incorporated in
stock prices, as the Focus on Ethics box on page 92 explains.

New information is, almost by definition, unpredictable. For example, it is
well known that retail companies in the United States have a spike in sales near
the end of the calendar year as the holiday season approaches. When a firm
reports higher sales near the end of the year, it is not new information because
investors in the market are aware of the seasonal pattern and anticipate that sales
will be higher in the fourth quarter than at any other time of year. To the market,
new information would be a report from a retailer that its sales were higher (or
lower) in the fourth quarter than investors had already expected. Because it is
unanticipated, new information has a random quality (i.e., sometimes firms
announce better-than-expected results, and sometimes they announce worse-
than-expected results). As new information arrives, stock prices quickly respond,
and those price movements will appear to occur at random. Therefore, one sign
of stock market efficiency is that changes in stock prices are nearly impossible to
predict, even by professional investors.

Not everyone agrees that prices in financial markets are as efficient as
described in the preceding paragraph. Advocates of behavioral finance, an emerging
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in practice

Should Insider Trading Be Legal?

In May 2017, a federal jury convicted
Doug DeCinces of insider trading for
scoring nearly $1.3 million from a
stock tip about a pending corporate
acquisition. The tip came from a close
friend who happened to be CEO of
the target firm. DeCinces has already
agreed to pay $2.5 million to settle
the civil complaint with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC) and
now faces up to 280 years in prison.
This story is common; between 2002
and 2016, the SEC pursued 740
insider-trading cases against 1,572
defendants/respondents. What is
unusual is this defendant’s prior
career—DeCinces spent 15 years
playing third base for the Baltimore
Orioles and California Angels.
Congress created the modern
legal framework for regulating securi-
ties markets in 1933 and 1934. The
SEC defines insider trading as trading
a security, in breach of a fiduciary
duty or other relationship of trust and
confidence, while in possession of
material, nonpublic information about
the security. The integrity of securities
markets is important to the overall
economy because growth in income
and jobs depends on scarce investor
funds flowing to those firms with the

best prospects. When securities mar-
kets are efficient, prices send clear
signals about the best place to invest.
The SEC prosecutes insider trading to
ensure a fair, level playing field for all
investors. Were the public to see
securities markets as profitable only to
insiders, they might shy away. And
without large numbers of active buy-
ers and sellers, markets would send
distorted price signals, and economic
growth would suffer.

Interestingly, many finance and
law professors believe insider trading
should be legal. Perhaps the most
famous proponent is Henry Manne,
who has argued that SEC efforts to
stop insider trading have proved as
ineffective as Prohibition in deterring
bootlegging. Manne and others have
also emphasized efficient allocation
of investor funds depends on securi-
ties prices reflecting all relevant
information, not just what happens
to be public. Finally, they express
skepticism at the idea that insider
trading will drive the public away
from securities—noting many mar-
kets (such as the ones for profes-
sional athletes, real estate, and used
cars) function well despite unequal
distributions of information. However,

the scholar most closely associated
with the idea of efficient markets,
Nobel Prize winner Eugene Fama,
does not believe that insider trading
should be allowed, based on con-
cerns that doing so would create an
incentive for managers to hold back
information about the firms they
manage for reasons of personal gain.

In the end, the question of
whether to decriminalize insider trad-
ing comes down to a tradeoff—the
social cost of security price signals
potentially distorted by fewer buyers/
sellers against the social benefit of
signals reflecting all relevant informa-
tion. SEC enforcement policies may
unintentionally acknowledge this
tradeoff—prosecutions are compara-
tively rare, but convictions lead to
severe punishment. The 740
insider-trading cases since 2002
translate into an average of just 49 per
year, compared with billions of U.S.
securities transactions. But, as Doug
DeCinces found out, when caught, the
SEC can be a stern umpire.

» Suppose insider trading were
legal. Would it still present an ethi-
cal issue for insiders wishing to
trade on non-public information?

Sources: “Former Angels star Doug DeCinces found guilty in insider trading deal that netted him $1 million-plus,” The Orange County Register, May 12,
2017 (accessed online: http://www.ocregister.com/2017/05/12/forrmer-angels-star-doug-decinces-found-guilty-in-insider-trading-deal-that-netted-him-
1-million-plus/). “Busting Insider Trading: As Pointless as Prohibition.” Wall Street Journal, April 28, 2014 (accessed online: https://www.wsj.com/articles/
henry-g-mannebusting-insider-trading-as-pointless-as-prohibition-1398720501).

field that blends ideas from finance and psychology, argue that stock prices and
prices of other securities can deviate from their true values for extended periods
and that these deviations may lead to predictable patterns in stock prices. One of
the most widely recognized proponents of behavioral finance, Richard Thaler,
won the 2017 Nobel Prize in Economics for his work challenging the efficient
markets hypothesis. Thaler’s early research provided evidence that stocks that
had performed poorly in the past displayed a predictable tendency to rebound,
giving investors aware of that pattern a profit opportunity.


http://www.ocregister.com/2017/05/12/forrmer-angels-star-doug-decinces-found-guilty-in-insider-trading-deal-that-netted-him-1-million-plus/
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Just how efficient are prices in financial markets? One sign that markets are
quite efficient is that very few professional investors, such as mutual fund and
pension fund managers, earn returns that beat the average return in the market.
In 2016, fewer than 40% of mutual funds earned a return that beat the return on
the S&P500 stock index. Fewer than 18% beat the S&PS500 over the 15-year
period from 2002 to 2016. Moreover, the funds that do beat the S&P500 return
change over time, meaning that funds that perform well in the past are not par-
ticularly likely to repeat that performance. A 2017 study identified mutual funds
that had outperformed the S&P500 for a 3-year period and then studied the per-
formance of those funds over the subsequent 3 years. Only 5% of fund managers
who beat the S&P500 for 3 years managed to repeat that feat.! That relatively
few professional managers outperform the overall market consistently is exactly
what the efficient markets hypothesis predicts.

The extent to which stock markets are efficient will be debated for a long
time. Clearly, prices do move in response to new information, and for most
investors and corporate managers, the best advice is probably to use caution
when betting against the market. Identifying securities over- or undervalued by
the market is extremely difficult, and very few people have demonstrated an abil-
ity to bet against the market correctly for an extended period.

> REVIEW QUESTIONS MpylLab Finance Solutions

2-4 What role do financial markets play in our economy? What are pri-
mary and secondary markets? What relationship exists between finan-
cial institutions and financial markets?

2-5 What is a private placement versus a public offering?

2-6 What is the money market? What is the Eurocurrency market?

2-7 What is the capital market? What are broker markets? What are dealer
markets? How do they differ?

2-8 Describe the role of capital markets from the firm’s and investors’ per-
spectives. What is the efficient market hypothesis?

Regulation of Financial Markets and Institutions

With the hope of fostering fair, efficient, and stable financial markets, govern-
ments regulate financial institutions and markets, usually as much or more than
almost any other sector in the economy. This section provides an overview of the
financial regulatory landscape in the United States.

REGULATIONS GOVERNING FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

As mentioned in Section 2.1, Congress passed the Glass-Steagall Act in 1933
during the depths of the Great Depression. The early 1930s witnessed a series of
banking panics that caused almost one-third of the nation’s banks to fail. Trou-
bles within the banking sector and other factors contributed to the worst

1. “Fleeting Alpha: Evidence From the SPIVA Persistence Scorecards,” by Ryan Poirier and Aye M. Soe, S&P Dow
Jones Indices, February 2017.
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Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (FDIC)

An agency created by the
Glass-Steagall Act that provides
insurance for deposits at banks
and monitors banks to ensure
their safety and soundness.

Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act
An act that allows business
combinations (i.e., mergers)
between commercial banks,
investment banks, and insur-
ance companies and thus per-
mits these institutions to
compete in markets that prior
regulations prohibited them
from entering.

Securities Act of 1933

An act that regulates the sale of
securities to the public via the
primary market.

Securities Exchange Act of
1934

An act that regulates the trad-
ing of securities such as stocks
and bonds in the secondary
market.

Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC)

The primary government
agency responsible for enforc-
ing federal securities laws.
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economic contraction in U.S. history, in which industrial production fell by
more than 50%, the unemployment rate peaked at almost 25%, and stock
prices dropped roughly 86%. The Glass-Steagall Act attempted to calm the pub-
lic’s fears about the banking industry by establishing the Federal Deposit Insur-
ance Corporation (FDIC), which provided deposit insurance, effectively
guaranteeing that individuals would not lose their money if they held it in a
bank that failed. The FDIC was also charged with examining banks on a regular
basis to ensure they were “safe and sound.” The Glass-Steagall Act also prohib-
ited institutions that took deposits from engaging in activities such as securities
underwriting and trading, thereby effectively separating commercial banks from
investment banks.

Over time, U.S. financial institutions faced competitive pressures from both
domestic and foreign businesses that engaged in facilitating loans or making
loans directly. Because these competitors either did not accept deposits or were
located outside the United States, they were not subject to the same regulations
as domestic banks. As a result, domestic banks began to lose market share in
their core businesses. Pressure mounted to repeal the Glass-Steagall Act so that
U.S. banks could compete more effectively, and in 1999 Congress enacted and
President Clinton signed the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, which allows commercial
banks, investment banks, and insurance companies to consolidate and compete
for business in a wider range of activities.

In the aftermath of the recent financial crisis and recession, Congress passed
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act in July 2010.
In print, the new law runs for hundreds of pages and calls for the creation of sev-
eral new agencies, including the Financial Stability Oversight Council, the Office
of Financial Research, and the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection. The act
also realigns the duties of several existing agencies and requires existing and new
agencies to report to Congress regularly. Nearly a decade after Dodd-Frank
became law, the various agencies affected or created by the new law were still
writing rules specifying how the new law’s provisions would be implemented.
Exactly how the new legislation will affect financial institutions and markets, or
whether it will even survive with the new administration of President Trump in
the White House, remains unclear.

REGULATIONS GOVERNING FINANCIAL MARKETS

During the Great Depression, Congress passed two other pieces of legislation that
had an enormous effect on the regulation of financial markets. The Securities Act
of 1933 imposed new regulations governing the sale of new securities. The 1933
act was intended to regulate activity in the primary market in which securities are
initially issued to the public. The act was designed to ensure that the sellers of
new securities provided extensive disclosures to the potential buyers of those
securities.

The Securities Exchange Act of 1934 regulates the secondary trading of secu-
rities such as stocks and bonds. The Securities Exchange Act of 1934 also created
the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), which is the primary agency
responsible for enforcing federal securities laws. In addition to the one-time dis-
closures required of security issuers by the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 requires ongoing disclosure by companies whose securities
trade in secondary markets. Companies must make a 10-Q filing every quarter
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and a 10-K filing annually. The 10-Q and 10-K forms contain detailed informa-
tion about the financial performance of the firm during the relevant period. Today,
these forms are available online through EDGAR (Electronic Data Gathering,
Analysis, and Retrieval) on the SEC’s website. The 1934 act also imposes limits
on the extent to which corporate “insiders,” such as senior managers, can trade
in their firm’s securities.

How much regulation of financial institutions and markets is appropriate?
The debate surrounding that question may never end, but most countries do
regulate the financial sectors of their economies to some degree. Trust is essen-
tial to the development of financial markets—without it, savers would be
reluctant to supply funds to firms that need money to finance investment. To
the extent that regulations enhance trust, they may encourage broader partici-
pation in financial markets, which in turn contributes to a growing economy.

- REVIEW QUESTIONS MyLab Finance Solutions

2-9 Why do you think that so many pieces of important legislation related
to financial markets and institutions were passed during the Great
Depression?

2-10 What different aspects of financial markets do the Securities Act of
1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 regulate?

2.4 The Securities Issuing Process

As net demanders of funds, businesses sometimes find it necessary to access the
capital market to raise external financing by selling new securities to investors.
Companies use the new financing to fund operations or strategic investments
that maximize the value of the firm. Most businesses will issue a mix of debt and
equity securities over time, and they can issue both security types through a pri-
vate placement or a public offering. The process for issuing debt and that for
issuing equity are more similar than not, so for brevity the remainder of this sec-
tion discusses the procedure for issuing common stock.

Because of the high risk associated with a business startup, a firm’s initial
financing typically comes from its founders in the form of a common stock
investment. Until the founders have made an equity investment, it is highly
unlikely that others will contribute either equity or debt capital. Early-stage out-
side investors in the firm’s equity, as well as lenders who provide debt capital,
want assurance they are taking no more risk than the founders. In addition, they
want confirmation that the founders are confident enough in their vision for the
firm that they are willing to risk their own money.

ISSUING COMMON STOCK

Typically, the initial rounds of external financing for business startups with
attractive growth prospects come from private investors via a private equity place-
ment. Then, as the firm establishes the market potential of its product or service
and begins to generate revenues, cash flow, and profits, it will often “go public”
by issuing shares of common stock to a much broader group of investors.
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private equity

External equity financing that is
raised via a private placement,
typically by private early-stage
firms with attractive growth
prospects.

angel financing

Private equity financing pro-
vided to a young firm by a
wealthy individual investing his
or her own money.

venture capital

Equity financing provided by a
firm that specializes in financing
young, rapidly growing firms.
Venture capital firms raise pools
of money from outside investors
which they then use to purchase
equity stakes in small private
companies.

angel investors (angels)
Wealthy individual investors
who make their own investment
decisions and are willing to
invest in promising startups in
exchange for a portion of the
firm’s equity.

venture capitalists (VCs)
Formal business entities that
take in private equity capital
from many individual investors,
often institutional investors such
as endowments and pension
funds or individuals of high net
worth, and make private equity
investment decisions on their
behalf.
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Before we consider the initial public sale of equity, let’s discuss some key
aspects of early-stage equity financing.

Private Equity

Private equity is equity financing that is raised via a private placement, typically
by early-stage firms with attractive growth prospects. Rapidly growing firms will
usually require multiple rounds of private equity financing as they make early
investments and develop operational capabilities. When the private equity financ-
ing comes from angel investors or venture capitalists, we refer to it as angel
financing or venture capital, respectively. Angel investors (or angels) tend to be
wealthy individual investors who make their own investment decisions and are
willing to invest in promising startups in exchange for a portion of the firm’s
equity. In contrast, venture capitalist (VC) firms are businesses that take in
money from many individual investors, often institutional investors such as
endowments and pension funds or individuals of high net worth, and make
investment decisions on their behalf. VCs typically maintain strong oversight in
the firms they finance. They ordinarily take a seat on the firm’s board of direc-
tors and have clearly defined exit strategies, often divesting their investment in
the firm when it goes public or shortly thereafter. In 2016, VCs provided almost
$50 billion in financing to U.S. businesses.

Organization and Investment Stages Venture capital investors tend to be
organized in one of four basic ways, as described in Table 2.1. The VC limited
partnership is the most common structure. The primary objective of these funds
is to earn high returns.

VCs can invest in early-stage companies, later-stage companies, or buyouts
and acquisitions. Generally, VCs invest about 40% to 50% of their resources in
early-stage companies (for startup funding and expansion), and they invest a simi-
lar percentage in later-stage companies (for marketing, production expansion, and
preparation for public offering). VCs invest just 5% to 10% of their funds in trans-
actions involving the buyout or acquisition of other companies. Generally, VCs

TABLE 2.1 Organization of Venture Capital Investors

Organization Description

Corporations chartered by the federal government that can
borrow at attractive rates from the U.S. Treasury and use the
funds to make venture capital investments in private companies.

Small business investment
companies (SBICs)

Financial VC funds Subsidiaries of financial institutions, particularly banks, set up
to help young firms grow and, it is hoped, become major

customers of the institution.

Corporate VC funds Firms, sometimes subsidiaries, established by nonfinancial
firms, typically to gain access to new technologies that the

corporation can access to further its own growth.

Limited partnerships organized by professional VC firms, which
serve as the general partner and organize, invest, and manage the
partnership using the limited partners’ funds; the professional
VCs ultimately liquidate the partnership and distribute the
proceeds to all partners.

VC limited partnerships



initial public offering (IPO)
The first public sale of a firm’s
stock.

prospectus

A portion of a security registra-
tion statement that describes
the key aspects of the issue, the
issuer, and its management and
financial position.

red herring

A preliminary prospectus made
available to prospective inves-
tors during the waiting period
between the registration state-
ment’s filing with the SEC and
its approval.
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look for annual rates of return ranging from 20% to 50% or more, depending on
both the development stage and the attributes of each company. VCs require higher
returns on their riskier, early-stage investments than on later-stage investments.

Deal Structure and Pricing Regardless of the development stage, when VCs
invest they do so under a legal agreement that clearly defines the deal structure and
pricing. The deal structure allocates responsibilities and ownership interests
between the existing owners (typically the founders) and the venture capitalist,
and its terms depend on numerous factors related to the founders; the business
structure, stage of development, and outlook; and other market and timing issues.
The deal pricing is a function of the value of the business, the amount of funding
provided, and the perceived risk of business operations. To control the VC’s risk
exposure and to help ensure the firm’s success, the agreement will typically contain
covenants or provisions that subject the firm to constraints or stipulations, such as
tying the actual funding amount to the achievement of measurable milestones. The
agreement will also have an explicit exit strategy for the VC that defines when and
how the venture capital must be repaid. For example, VCs often tie their exit strat-
egy to the firm’s initial public offering of equity.

Venture capitalists will require more equity ownership and pay less for it the
riskier and less developed the business. For this reason, financial managers strive
to maximize the firm’s earnings and minimize the risk of the firm’s cash flows.
Doing so will maximize the firm’s value and minimize the cost of venture capital
financing.

Going Public

When a firm wishes to sell its stock in the primary market, it has three alterna-
tives. It can make (1) a private placement, in which the firm sells new securities
directly to an investor or group of investors; (2) a rights offering, in which the
firm sells new shares to existing stockholders; or (3) a public offering, in which it
offers its shares for sale to the general public. Here we focus on public offerings,
particularly the initial public offering (IPO), which is the first public sale of a
firm’s stock. IPOs are typically made by small, rapidly growing companies that
either require additional capital to continue growing or have met a milestone for
going public that was established in an earlier agreement to obtain VC funding.

To go public, the firm must first obtain approval from its current sharehold-
ers, the investors who own its privately issued stock. Next, the company’s audi-
tors and lawyers must certify that all the company’s financial documents are as
accurate as possible. The company then hires an investment bank willing to facil-
itate the offering. This investment bank provides the issuer with advice about
important aspects of the issuing process. We’ll discuss the role of the investment
bank in more detail in the next section.

Next, with the help of the investment bank, the company files a registration
statement with the SEC. One portion of this statement is called the prospectus. It
describes the crucial aspects of the company issuing stock and the terms of the
stock offering. During the waiting period between the statement’s filing and its
approval, prospective investors can receive a preliminary prospectus. This pre-
liminary version is called a red herring because a notice printed in red on the
front cover indicates the tentative nature of the document. The cover page of the
preliminary prospectus describing the 2017 stock issue of Snap Inc., the parent
company of Snapchat, appears in Figure 2.2. Although the preliminary



FIGURE 2.2

Cover of a Preliminary Prospectus for a Stock Issue

Some of the key factors related to the 2017 Class A common stock issue by Snap Inc. are summarized

on the cover of the preliminary prospectus. The disclaimer printed in red across the top of the page is what
gives the preliminary prospectus its “red herring” name.

Source: From SEC filing Form S-1/A, Copyright © U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

The infermation in this preliminary prospectus is not complete and may be changed. These securities may not be sold until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commissien is effective. This preliminary prospectus is net an offer to sell nor does it seek an offer to buy these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted.

PROSPECTUS (Subject to Completion)
Dated February 24, 2017

200,000,000 Shares
Snap Inc.

Class 4 Common Stock

This is an initial public offering of shares of non-voting Class A common stock of Snap Inc.

Snap Inc. is offering to sell 145,000,000 shares of Class A common stock in this offering. The selling stockholders identified in this prospectus are
offfering an additional 55,000,000 shares of Class A common stock. We will not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of the shares being sold by the
selling stockholders.

We have three classes of common stock: Class A common stock, Class B common stock, and Class C common stock. The rights of the holders of
Class A common stock, Class B common stock, and Class C common stock are identical, except with respect fo voling, conversion, and fransfer righis.
Class A common stock is non-voting. Anyone purchasing Class A common stock in this offering will therefore not be entitled to any votes. Each share
of Class B common stock is entitled to one vote and is convertible into one share of Class A common stock. Each share of Class C common stock is
entitled to ten votes and is convertible into one share of Class B common stock. The Class C common stock, which is held by our founders, each of
whom is an executive officer and a director of the company, will represent approximately 88.5% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock
JSollowing this offering.

Before this offering, there has been no public market for our Class A common stock. It is currently estimated that the initial public offering price will be
between $14.00 and $16.00 per share. Qur Class A common stock has been approved for listing on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol
“SNAF.”

We are an “emerging growth company” under the Jumpstart Qur Business Startups Act of 2012, have elected to comply with reduced public company
reporting regquirements, and may elect to ply with reduced public ipany reporting requirements in future filings.

See “Risk Factors” beginning on page 15 to read about factors you should consider before buying our Class A common stock.

Underwriting Proceeds o
Discounts and Proceeds to Selling
Price to Public Commissions (1} Snap Inc. Stockholders
Per share 5 ¥ 13 ¥
Total 5 ) 3 )

(1) See “Underwriting” for a description of the compensation payable to the underwriters.

At our request, the underwriters have reserved up to 7.0% of the shares of Class 4 common stock offered by this prospectus for sale, at the initial public
offering price, to certain institutions as well as individuals associated with us. See “'Underwriting—Directed Share Program.”

To the extent that the underwriters sell more than 200,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, the underwriters have the option to purchase up to an
additional 30,000,000 shares of Class A common stock from us and certain of the selling stockholders at the initial public offering price less the
underwriting discount.

The Securities and Exchange Commission and state securities regulators have not approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this
prospectus is truthfid or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The underwriters expect to deliver the shares against payment in New York, New York on , 2017
Morgan Stanley Goldman, Sachs & Co. J. P. Morgan Deutsche Bank Securities
Barclays Credit Suisse Allen & Company LLC

Prospectus dated L2007




investment bank

Financial intermediary that spe-
cializes in selling new security
issues and advising firms with
regard to major financial trans-
actions.

underwriting

The role of the investment bank
in bearing the risk of reselling,
at a profit, the securities pur-
chased from an issuing corpora-
tion at an agreed-on price.

IPO offer price
The price at which the issuing
firm sells its securities.

originating investment bank
The investment bank initially
hired by the issuing firm, it
brings other investment banks
in as partners to form an under-
writing syndicate.

underwriting syndicate

A group of other banks formed
by the originating investment
bank to share the financial risk
associated with underwriting
new securities.

tombstone

The list of underwriting syndi-
cate banks, presented in such a
way to indicate a syndicate
member’s level of involvement,
located at the bottom of the
IPO prospectus cover page.
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document is incomplete, it still conveys considerable information to prospective
investors. For example, Snap’s IPO is selling 200,000,000 shares of non-voting
Class A Common Stock in its IPO. Notice that Snap has three classes of common
stock. The Class B shares have one vote per share and are convertible into one
share of Class A. The Class C shares have 10 votes per share and are convertible
into one share of Class B, and the founders are the exclusive owners of the super-
voting Class C common stock. Thus, they have total voting control even after
going public.

After the SEC approves the registration statement, the investment commu-
nity can begin analyzing the company’s prospects. However, from the time it files
until at least 1 month after the IPO is complete, the company must observe a
quiet period during which the law places restrictions on what company officials
may say about the company. The purpose of the quiet period is to make sure that
all potential investors have access to the same information about the company—
the information presented in the preliminary prospectus—and that no one is
privy to any unpublished data that might confer an unfair advantage.

The investment banks and company executives promote the company’s
stock offering through a roadshow, a series of presentations to potential inves-
tors around the country and sometimes overseas. In addition to providing inves-
tors with information about the new issue, roadshow sessions help investment
banks gauge demand for the offering and set a preliminary offer price range.
Figure 2.2 shows that the preliminary offer price range for Snap is between $14
and $16. After the investment bank sets terms and prices the issue, the SEC
must approve the offering.

The Investment Bank’s Role

An investment bank (such as Morgan Stanley or Goldman Sachs) is a financial
intermediary that specializes in selling new security issues and advising firms
with regard to major financial transactions. The investment bank is responsible
for promoting the stock and facilitating the sale of the company’s IPO shares.
The main activity of the investment bank is underwriting, and this is why invest-
ment banks that assist with a security offering are called underwriters. The
underwriting process requires the investment bank to guarantee the issuer a price
for its securities, called the IPO offer price. In so doing, the bank effectively pur-
chases the securities from the issuing firm and bears the risk of reselling them to
the public. The IPO offer price is the price at which the issuing firm sells the secu-
rities to the primary market investors, and it represents the actual proceeds
received by the company for each security that it issues, before subtracting fees
charged by the investment banker.

In most security offerings, the investment bank hired by the issuing firm,
often called the originating investment bank, brings in other investment banks as
partners to form an underwriting syndicate. The syndicate banks share the finan-
cial risk associated with buying the entire issue from the issuer and reselling the
new securities to the public. The cover page of the IPO prospectus, known as the
tombstone, lists the syndicate banks; the names of the originating bank and other
banks responsible for selling a large percentage of the offering appear in a larger
font than the names of other banks in the syndicate. The preliminary prospectus
for Snap’s IPO in Figure 2.2 shows that the underwriting syndicate comprised
seven investment banks (Morgan Stanley, Goldman Sachs, JPMorgan, Deutsche
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selling group

A large number of brokerage
firms that join the originating
investment bank(s); each
accepts responsibility for selling
a certain portion of a new secu-
rity issue on a commission
basis.
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Bank, Barclays, Credit Suisse, and Allen & Company). Of these seven banks,
Morgan Stanley was the originating bank and had the largest involvement in the
offer, with responsibility for selling 30% of the shares. In many cases, the under-
writing syndicate may form a selling group, which is composed of other financial
institutions that help sell IPO shares but have no underwriting responsibility and
therefore bear no risk if they are unable to sell the shares they are allocated.
Members of the selling group earn a fee known as the selling concession.

To facilitate selling the shares, the underwriting syndicate and members of
the selling group solicit buying interest from potential primary market investors.
The primary market investors are the initial purchasers of the securities and gen-
erally consist of various institutional investors such as pension funds, mutual
funds, and hedge funds. Once a sufficient number of primary market investors are
identified, the originating investment bank and the issuing firm agree on a final
IPO offer price and the shares are sold to primary market investors. Figure 2.3
depicts the selling process for a security issue.

Compensation for underwriting and selling services comes via underwriting
fees that the investment banks collect in the form of a discounted price when
they purchase the shares from the issuing firm. For example, the final prospectus
for Snap’s IPO, shown in Figure 2.4, provides all final information pertaining to
the offering. You can see that the final IPO offer price, indicated as Price to Pub-
lic, is $17 and the Proceeds to Snap Inc. and Proceeds to Selling Stockholders is
only $16.575; therefore, the underwriting discount or commission is $0.425 per
share. This underwriting discount or commission represents a 2.5% underwrit-
ing fee paid to the underwriters by the issuing firm. The $0.425 per share fee
may not seem very large, but when you consider that the underwriting syndicate
underwrote 200 million shares for Snap, it translates to a total underwriting fee

FIGURE 2.3

The Selling Process for a
Large Security Issue

The investment banker
hired by the issuing corpo-
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underwriting syndicate
buys the entire security
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FIGURE 2.4

Cover of a Final Prospectus for a Stock Issue
The final key factors related to the 2017 Class A common stock issue by Snap Inc. are summarized
on the cover of the final prospectus.

Source: From SEC filing Form 424B4. Copyright © U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

Filed Pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4)
Registration No. 333-215866

PROSPECTUS
200,000,000 Shares
Snap Inc.

Class A Common Stock

This is an initial public offering of shares of non-voting Class A common stock of Snap Inc.

Snap Inc. is offering to sell 145000000 shares of Class A common stock in this offering. The selling stockholders identified in this prospectus are offering an
additional 55,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, We will not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of the shares being sold by the selling stockholders.

We have three classes of cormmon stock: Class A common stock, Class B common stock, and Class C common stock. The rights of the holders of Class A common
stock, Class B common stock, and Class C common stock are identical, except with respect to voting, conversion, and transfer rights. Class A common stock is
non-voting. Anyone purchasing Class A common stock in this offering will therefore not be entitled to any votes. Each share of Class B common stock is entitled
to one vore and is convertible into one share of Class A common stock. Each share of Class C common stock is entitled to ten votes and is convertible into one
share of Class B common stock. The Class C common stock, which is held by our founders, each of whom is an executive officer and a director of the company,
will represent approximately 88.5% of the voting power of our ouistanding capital stock following this offering.

Before this offering, there has been no public market for our Class A common stock. The initial public offering price is $17.00 per share. Qur Class A common
stock has been approved for listing on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “SNAF"

We are an “emerging growth company” under the fumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, have elected to comply with reduced public company reporting
requirements, and may elect to comply with reduced public company reporting requirements in future filings.

See “Risk Factors” beginning on page 15 to read about factors you should consider before buying our Class A common stock.

Underwriting
Discounis and Proceeds to Proceeds o Selling
Price to Public Commidssions (1) Snap Ine. Stockholders
Per share Ei7.00 S0.425 516,575 516,575
Toral E3,400, 000, 000, (il 83,000, 00000 E2.403,375,000.00 5911623 000.00

(1} See "Underwriting” for a description of the compensaiion payable to the underwriters.

At o request, the underwriters have reserved up fo 7.0% of the shares of Class A common stock offered by this prospectus for sale, at the initial public offering
price, o cerfain instifutions as well as individuals associated with us. See " Underwriting—Divected Share Program. ™

To the extent that the underwriters sell more than 200,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, the underwriters have the option 1o purchase up 1o an eddiional
30,000,000 shares of Class A common stock from s and certain of the selling stockholders at the initial public offering price less the underwriting discount.

The Securities and Exchange Commission and siate securities regudators have not approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is
truthfial or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The underwriters expect to deliver the shares against payment in New York, New York on March 7, 2007,

Morgan Stanley Goldman, Sachs & Co. J. P. Morgan Deutsche Bank Securities
Barclays Credit Suisse Allen & Company LLC
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total proceeds

The total amount of proceeds
for all shares sold in the IPO.
Calculated as the IPO offer
price times the number of IPO
shares issued.

market price

The price of the firm’s shares as
determined by the interaction
of buyers and sellers in the sec-
ondary market.

market capitalization

The total market value of a pub-
licly traded firm's outstanding
stock. Calculated as the market
price times the number of
shares of stock outstanding.

IPO market price

The final trading price on the first
day in the secondary market.

IPO underpricing

The percentage change from
the final IPO offer price to the
IPO market price, which is the
final trading price on the first
day in the secondary market;
this is also called the IPO initial
return.
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of $85,000,000 on total proceeds of $17 X 200,000,000 = $3.4 billion, where
total proceeds equal the offer price times the number of shares sold in the IPO.

Total Proceeds = (IPO Offer Price X # of IPO Shares Issued) 2.2)

Recall that Morgan Stanley, the originating bank, was responsible for 30%
of the shares offered, so that means Morgan Stanley alone collected $25,500,000.
The 2.5% underwriting fee that Snap negotiated was actually low by industry
standards, because most firms going public pay a 7% fee. After subtracting the
underwriting fee, Snap and its selling shareholders realized net proceeds of
$2,403,375,000 and $911,625,000, respectively.

Though the investment banker together with the company going public set the
IPO offer price, once trading begins in the secondary market, the interaction of buy-
ers and sellers determines the market price of the firm’s shares. The market price
fluctuates as the balance of buyers and sellers shifts. Trading in the secondary mar-
ket also establishes the newly public firm’s market capitalization, which is the total
market value of the firm’s outstanding stock. A firm’s market capitalization equals
the market price of the firm’s shares times the number of shares outstanding.

Market Capitalization = (Market Price of Stock
X # of Shares of Stock Outstanding)  (2.3)

The market price of Snap’s stock was $24.48 per share after its first day of
secondary market trading, and Snap had 661,834,416 shares of stock outstand-
ing following its IPO. Inserting these values into equation 2.3, we find that Snap’s
market capitalization is about $16 billion.

The primary market investors who purchase shares in an IPO often earn a sub-
stantial profit once the shares start trading in the secondary market. For most IPOs,
the offer price at which primary market investors purchase shares is well below
what investors in the secondary market are willing to pay for the shares. For Snap’s
IPO the offer price was $17 per share, as shown in Figure 2.4, and its stock finished
trading on its first day in the secondary market at $24.48 a share. For investors
who purchased Snap shares from the underwriting syndicate (or the selling group),
that’s a one-day gain of $7.48 ($24.48 — $17). To put that number in focus, inves-
tors who purchased Snap stock at the $17 offer price earned a return on their
investment of 44% in just one day. This represents a profit of almost $1.5 billion
for those investors who had the opportunity to buy Snap shares at the offer price.
However, it represents a substantial cost to Snap. To put this differently, had Snap
and its selling stockholders sold their stock for what the market was willing to pay,
they could have generated an additional $1.5 billion in total proceeds, but instead
they “left the money on the table” for investors.

The percentage change from the final IPO offer price to the IPO market
price, which is the final trading price on the first day in the secondary market, is
called the TPO underpricing.

IPO Underpricing = (Market Price — Offer Price) ~ Offer Price (2.4

The term underpricing applies because the offer price is usually set below what
secondary market investors are willing to pay. Selling shares at what appears to be
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a below-market price might seem unusual, but surprisingly IPOs are underpriced
more often than not in virtually every country around the world. In the United
States the average IPO that took place between 1980 and 2016 was underpriced by
17.9%. You might wonder, and you would not be alone, why issuers don’t insist
that investment banks sell their shares at the price the secondary market is willing
to pay to generate the maximum IPO proceeds. Many theories and empirical stud-
ies aim to answer this question, and the best answers recognize that the IPO pro-
cess is full of uncertainty for all parties involved. Neither the firm issuing shares in
the deal, nor its investment bankers, nor even the primary market investors who
bid for shares during the IPO roadshow know what the eventual market price of
the stock will be. By underpricing their shares and leaving some money on the
table for the primary market investors, IPO firms create incentives for all necessary
parties to participate in the IPO process.

EXAMPLE 2.3 With baby boomers retiring and hitting the open roads of America in droves, the
largest U.S. recreational vehicle dealer, Camping World, decided it was time to go

MyLab Finance Solution public. Its IPO took place on October 7, 2016, at which time the company sold
Video 11.4 million shares at an IPO offer price of $22 per share. Checking prices for

Camping World on Yahoo! Finance, you can find that the IPO market price at
the close of secondary market trading on October 7 was $22.50. With this infor-
mation you can calculate the IPO underpricing using Equation 2.4.

IPO Underpricing = (Market Price — Offer Price) + Offer Price
= ($22.50 — $22) + $22 = 0.0227 or 2.27%

Camping World’s TPO underpricing of 2.27% is considerably less than the 44%
underpricing for Snap Inc. This demonstrates another interesting fact about
IPOs, specifically, that the degree to which IPOs are underpriced varies tremen-
dously from one deal to another and one time to another. Usually, smaller IPOs
are underpriced more than larger ones, but that was not the case here. Camping

World raised $250.8 million in its offering, which is a small fraction of the
$3.4 billion raised in Snap’s IPO.

- REVIEW QUESTIONS MyLab Finance Solutions

2-11 What is the difference between an angel investor (angel) and a venture
capitalist (VC)?

2-12 What four ways do VCs use to organize their businesses? How do they
structure and price their deals?

2-13 What general procedures must a private firm follow to go public via an
initial public offering (IPO)?

2-14 What role does an investment bank play in a public offering? Describe
an underwriting syndicate.

2.5 Financial Markets in Crisis

Modern economies are vulnerable when financial markets are in a state of crisis.
For example, in 2008, the U.S. financial system, as well as financial systems
around the world, appeared to be on the verge of collapse. Troubles in the
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securitization

The process of pooling mort-
gages or other types of loans
and then selling claims or secu-
rities against that pool in the
secondary market.

mortgage-backed securities
Securities that represent claims
on the cash flows generated by
a pool of mortgages.

financial sector spread to other industries, and a severe global recession ensued.
In this section, we outline some of the main causes and consequences of the
financial market crises that led to the Great Recession.

FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND REAL ESTATE FINANCE

In the classic film, I#’s a Wonderful Life, the central character is George Bailey,
who runs a financial institution called the Bailey Building and Loan Association.
In a key scene in that movie, a bank run is about to occur, and depositors demand
that George return the money they had invested in the Building and Loan. George
pleads with one man to keep his funds at the bank, saying:

You’re thinking of this place all wrong, as if I have the money back in a safe. The
money’s not here. Your money is in Joe’s house. That’s right next to yours—and

then the Kennedy house, and Mrs. Maklin’s house, and a hundred others. You’re
lending them the money to build, and then they’re going to pay it back to you as

best they can. What are you going to do, foreclose on them?”

This scene offers a realistic portrayal of the role that financial institutions
played in allocating credit for investments in residential real estate for many years.
Local banks took deposits and made loans to local borrowers. However, since the
1970s, neighbors no longer hold each others’ mortgages—securitization has
changed the way that mortgage finance works. Securitization refers to the process
of pooling mortgages or other types of loans and then selling claims or securities
against that pool in a secondary market. These securities, called mortgage-backed
securities, can be purchased by individual investors, mutual funds, or virtually any
other investor. As homeowners repay their loans, those payments eventually make
their way into the hands of investors who hold the mortgage-backed securities.
Therefore, a primary risk associated with mortgage-backed securities is that home-
owners may not be able to, or may choose not to, repay their loans. Banks today
still lend money to individuals who want to build or purchase new homes, but they
typically bundle those loans together and sell them to organizations that securitize
them and pass them on to investors all over the world.

Falling Home Prices and Delinquent Mortgages

Prior to the 2008 financial crisis, most investors viewed mortgage-backed securities
as relatively safe investments. Figure 2.5 illustrates one of the main reasons for this
view. The figure shows the behavior of the Standard & Poor’s Case-Shiller Index, a
barometer of home prices in 10 major U.S. cities, in each month from January
1987 to January 2017. Historically, declines in the index were relatively infre-
quent, and between July 1995 and April 2006 the index rose continuously without
posting even a single monthly decline. When house prices are rising, the gap
between what homes are worth and what borrowers owe on their mortgages wid-
ens. Lenders will allow borrowers who have difficulty making payments on their
mortgages to tap this built-up home equity to refinance their loans and lower their
payments. Therefore, rising home prices helped keep mortgage default rates low
from the mid-1990s through early 2006. Investing in real estate and mortgage-
backed securities seemed to involve very little risk during this period.

*“It’s a Wonderful Life.” Dir. Frank Capra. Perf. James Stewart, Donna Reed, Lionel Barrymore, and Thomas
Mitchell. RKO Radio Pictures, 1946.
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FIGURE 2.5

House Prices Soar and
Then Crash

The figure shows the
Standard & Poor’s Case-
Shiller Home Price Index
from January 1987
through January 2017
and illustrates that home
prices rose almost with-
out interruption for nearly
a decade before experi-
encing a sharp collapse
starting in May 2006.
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subprime mortgages
Mortgage loans made to bor-
rowers with lower incomes and
poorer credit histories as com-
pared to “prime” borrowers.

In part because real estate investments seemed relatively safe, lenders began
relaxing their standards for borrowers. This change led to tremendous growth in
a category of loans called subprime mortgages. Subprime mortgages are mort-
gage loans made to borrowers with lower incomes and poorer credit histories as
compared to “prime” borrowers. Loans granted to subprime borrowers often
have adjustable, rather than fixed, interest rates, which makes subprime borrow-
ers particularly vulnerable if interest rates rise. Many of these borrowers (and
lenders) assumed that rising home prices would allow refinancing of their loans if
they had difficulties making payments. Partly through the growth of subprime
mortgages, banks and other financial institutions gradually increased their invest-
ments in real estate loans. In 2000, real estate loans accounted for less than 40%
of the total loan portfolios of large banks. By 2007, real estate loans grew to
more than half of all loans made by large banks, and the fraction of these loans
in the subprime category increased as well.

Unfortunately, as Figure 2.5 shows, home prices fell almost without interrup-
tion from May 2006 through May 2009. Over that 3-year period, home prices fell
on average by more than 30%. Not surprisingly, when homeowners struggled to
make mortgage payments, refinancing was no longer an option, and delinquency
rates and foreclosures began to climb. By 2009, nearly 25% of subprime borrow-
ers were behind schedule on their mortgage payments. Some borrowers, recogniz-
ing that the value of their homes was far less than the amount they owed on their
mortgages, simply walked away and let lenders repossess their homes.

Crisis of Confidence in Banks

With delinquency rates rising, the value of mortgage-backed securities began to
fall and so did the fortunes of financial institutions that had invested heavily in
real estate assets. In March 2008, the Federal Reserve provided financing for the
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FIGURE 2.6

Bank Stocks Plummet
During Financial Crisis
The graph shows the Stan-
dard and Poor’s Banks
Select Industry Index from
March 2007 to March
2017. Concerns about the
health of U.S. financial
institutions drove bank
stocks down by 77%
between May 2007 and
March 2009.
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acquisition (i.e., the rescue) of Bear Stearns by JPMorgan Chase. Later that year,
Lehman Brothers filed for bankruptcy. Throughout 2008 and 2009, the Federal
Reserve, President Bush, and finally President Obama took unprecedented steps
to try to shore up the banking sector and stimulate the economy, but these mea-
sures could not completely avert the crisis.

Figure 2.6 shows the behavior of the Standard & Poor’s Banks Select Indus-
try Index, which tracks bank stocks. According to the index, bank stocks fell
77% between May 2007 and March 2009, and the number of bank failures sky-
rocketed. According to the FDIC, only three banks failed in 2007. In 2008, that
number rose by a factor of 8 to 25 failed banks, and the number increased nearly
6 times to 140 failures in 2009. Although the economy began to recover in 2010,
bank failures continued at a rapid pace, with 157 institutions failing that year,
followed by 92 more failures in 2011. It was not until 2015 that bank failures
fell back into the single digits.

SPILLOVER EFFECTS AND RECOVERY FROM THE GREAT
RECESSION

As banks came under intense financial pressure in 2008, they began to tighten
their lending standards and dramatically reduce the quantity of loans they made.
In the aftermath of the Lehman Brothers bankruptcy, lending in the money mar-
ket contracted very sharply. Corporations that had relied on the money market
as a source of short-term funding found they could no longer raise money in this
market or could do so only at extraordinarily high rates.

As a consequence, businesses began to hoard cash and cut back on expendi-
tures, and economic activity contracted. Gross domestic product (GDP) declined in
five out of six quarters starting in the first quarter of 2008, and the economy shed
more than 8 million jobs in 2008-2009 as the unemployment rate reached 10%.
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In response to the Great Recession, Congress passed an $862 billion stimulus
package in an attempt to revive the economy, and the Federal Reserve pushed
short-term interest rates close to 0%. Although the economy began to recover in
2009, the recovery was very slow. Not until May 2014 did total employment
equal what it had been prior to the start of the recession, and not until September
2015 did the unemployment rate once again achieve pre-recession levels of 5%
or less.

As the recession subsided and financial institutions eased credit constraints,
positive economic indicators started to emerge. Figure 2.5 shows that housing
prices began to recover in earnest, and mortgage default rates subsided to pre-
crisis levels in March 2012. The average home price increased 42% from
March 2012 to May 2017, and as of May 2017 the Case-Shiller Home Price
Index was within 7% of its all-time high in April 2006. Figure 2.6 shows that
the Standard & Poor’s Banks Select Industry Index rose 136 % from the end of
December 2011 to February 2017, and according to the FDIC, bank failures
steadily decreased from 51 in 2012 to only 5 in 2016.

The experience of the financial crisis and the recession that followed illus-
trates the importance of financial markets to the functioning of a market econ-
omy. By some measures, the 2008—-2009 recession was the worst experienced in
the United States since the Great Depression. Indeed, many parallels exist
between those two economic contractions. Both were preceded by a period of
rapid economic growth, rising stock prices, and movements by banks into new
lines of business, and both involved a major crisis in the financial sector. Finan-
cial markets help transfer funds from savers to borrowers, and the smooth flow
of credit is vital to the health of the economy. When that flow is interrupted and
firms are denied access to credit, they invest less and hire fewer people.

- REVIEW QUESTIONS MyLab Finance Solutions

2-15 What is securitization, and how does it facilitate investment in real
estate assets?

2-16 What is a mortgage-backed security? What basic risk is associated with
mortgage-backed securities?

2-17 How do rising home prices contribute to low mortgage delinquencies?

2-18 Why do falling home prices create an incentive for homeowners to
default on their mortgages even if they can afford to make the monthly
payments?

2-19 Why does a crisis in the financial sector spill over into other industries?

THE ROLE OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND MARKETS

This chapter described why financial institutions and markets are an integral
part of managerial finance. Companies cannot get started or survive without
raising capital, and financial institutions and markets give firms access to the
financing necessary for growth. As we have seen in recent years, however,
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financial markets can be quite turbulent, and when large financial institutions
get into trouble, access to capital is reduced and firms throughout the economy
suffer as a result.

REVIEW OF LEARNING GOALS

Understand the role that financial institutions play in managerial finance.
Financial institutions bring net suppliers of funds and net demanders together to
help translate the savings of individuals, businesses, and governments into loans
and other types of investments. The net suppliers of funds are generally individ-
uals or households who save more money than they borrow. Businesses and
governments are generally net demanders of funds, meaning they borrow more
money than they save.

Understand the role that financial markets play in managerial finance.
Like financial institutions, financial markets help businesses raise the external
financing they need to fund new investments for growth. Financial markets pro-
vide a forum in which savers and borrowers can transact business directly. Busi-
nesses and governments issue debt and equity securities directly to the public in
the primary market. Subsequent trading of these securities between investors
occurs in the secondary market.

Describe the differences between the money market and the capital mar-
ket. In the money market, savers who want a temporary place to deposit funds
where they can earn interest interact with borrowers who have a short-term
need for funds. Marketable securities, including Treasury bills, commercial
paper, and other instruments, are the main securities traded in the money mar-
ket. The Eurocurrency market is the international equivalent of the domestic
money market.

In contrast, the capital market is the forum in which savers and borrowers
interact on a long-term basis. Firms issue either debt (bonds) or equity (stock)
securities in the capital market. Once issued, these securities trade on secondary
markets that are either broker markets or dealer markets. An important func-
tion of the capital market is to determine the underlying value of the securities
issued by businesses. In an efficient market, the price of a security is an unbiased
estimate of its true value.

Understand the major regulations and regulatory bodies that affect finan-
cial institutions and markets. The Glass-Steagall Act created the FDIC and
imposed a separation between commercial and investment banks. The act was
designed to limit the risks that banks could take and to protect depositors. More
recently, the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act essentially repealed the elements of Glass-
Steagall pertaining to the separation of commercial and investment banks. After
the recent financial crisis, much debate has occurred regarding the proper regu-
lation of large financial institutions. The Dodd-Frank Act was passed in 2010
and contained a host of new regulatory requirements, the effects of which are
yet to be determined.

The Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are the
major pieces of legislation shaping the regulation of financial markets. The 1933
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act focuses on regulating the sale of securities in the primary market, whereas
the 1934 act deals with regulations governing transactions in the secondary
market. The 1934 act also created the Securities and Exchange Commission, the
primary body responsible for enforcing federal securities laws.

Describe the process of issuing common stock, including venture capital,
going public, and the investment bank. The initial external financing for busi-
ness startups with attractive growth prospects typically comes in the form of pri-
vate equity raised via a private equity placement. These investors can be either
angel investors or venture capitalists (VCs). VCs usually invest in both early-
stage and later-stage companies that they hope to take public to cash out their
investments.

The first public issue of a firm’s stock is called an initial public offering
(IPO). The company selects an investment bank to advise it and to sell the secu-
rities. The lead investment bank may form a selling syndicate with other invest-
ment banks. The IPO process includes getting SEC approval, promoting the
offering to investors, and pricing the issue.

Understand what is meant by financial markets in crisis, and describe
some of the root causes of the Great Recession. The financial crisis was caused
by several factors related to investments in real estate. Financial institutions low-
ered their standards for lending to prospective homeowners, and institutions
also invested heavily in mortgage-backed securities. When home prices fell and
mortgage delinquencies rose, the value of the mortgage-backed securities held by
banks plummeted, causing some banks to fail and many others to restrict the
flow of credit to business. That, in turn, contributed to a severe recession in the
United States that became known as the Great Recession.

SELF-TEST PROBLEM (Solution in Appendix)

LGe

ST2-1

Transaction costs Assume that you use a TD Ameritrade brokerage account and
place your stock trades through the Interactive Voice Response (IVR) Phone System,
which charges a $34.99 commission per stock trade. You would like to sell 1,500
shares of Microsoft Corporation, which is listed on the Nasdaq stock exchange, so
you check the real-time quotes through TD Ameritrade and see a bid price of $57.31
and an ask price of $57.33.

a. What is the current bid/ask spread for Microsoft?

b. If you place the sell order and TD Ameritrade routes the order to Microsoft’s list-
ing exchange, what are your likely total transaction costs? (Hint: Nasdaq is a
dealer market.)

c. What are your total transaction costs if the Nasdaq dealer who receives your
order decides to act as broker and allows a public order to buy 1,500 shares of
Microsoft to satisfy your order?

d. Regardless of how your trade is executed, based on the bid/ask spread what is
the market value of your trade?



110 PART ONE Introduction to Managerial Finance

WARM-UP EXERCISES Select problems are available in MyLab Finance

LGQ E2-1 What does it mean when we say that individuals as a group are net suppliers of
funds for financial institutions? What do you think the consequences might be for
financial markets if individuals consumed more of their incomes and thereby
reduced the supply of funds available to financial institutions?

E2-2 FastFood Ltd. manufactures vending machines for schools. To meet the increasing
demand, FastFood decides to build a new factory. The company requires £5 million
to expand production. How do you think the process of raising this money will
differ if FastFood borrows it from financial institutions versus raising it directly?

these sources from those needed to raise funds for a long-term capital investment.

E2-4 There is a renewed interest in the extent to which government regulations can be
incorporated in corporate governance and financial markets and institutions. There
are various arguments both in favor of and against increasing the level of govern-
ment regulation. What do you think is the most important argument in support of
increased government regulation?

E2-3 What are the sources of short-term funding available to large corporations? Differentiate

LG@® E2-5 Dean Drones Ltd., based in Hong Kong, has 1 million shares outstanding. The firm
is planning on issuing an additional 100,000 shares at an offer price of $5 by way of
crowdfunding. They have engaged a crowdfunding company which has agreed to a
commission of 4% of the amount raised. Dean Drones has also planned to sell
another 25,000 shares to a venture capitalist, who will only invest if the crowdfund-
ing is successful. However, he will pay 75% of the offer price. How much cash will
Dean Drones raise from these share sales?

LCO E2-6 'Three of your former classmates from the University of London have started a busi-
ness—supplying custom-made construction materials (like pre-fabricated bathroom
units) to construction companies and student housing properties. They have offered
you a chance to invest in their company as a shareholder. What type of questions
would you need to ask them to help assess the risk of this investment opportunity?

XK
PROBLEMS Select problems are available in MyLab Finance. The l\!Lab icon

indicates problems in Excel format available in MyLab Finance.

LG® P2-1 Transaction costs You would like to purchase one Class A share of Berkshire Hath-
away through your Scottrade brokerage account. Scottrade charges a $7 commission
for online trades. You log into your account, check the real-time quotes for Berk-
shire Hathaway (you see a bid price of $262,850 and an ask price of $263,770) and
submit your order.

a. What is the current bid/ask spread for Berkshire Hathaway Class A shares?
b. If Scottrade routes your buy order to the NYSE, where Berkshire Hathaway is
listed, what’s the potential minimum your total transaction costs will be?
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c. If, instead, Scottrade routes your buy order to the Nasdaq, where Berkshire Hatha-
way is not listed, what’s the potential maximum your total transaction costs will be?

d. Regardless of how your trade is executed, based on the bid/ask spread what is
the market value of your trade?

Transaction costs In late December you decide, for tax purposes, to sell a losing posi-
tion that you hold in Twitter, which is listed on the N'YSE, so that you can capture the
loss and use it to offset some capital gains, thus reducing your taxes for the current year.
However, since you still believe that Twitter is a good long-term investment, you wish
to buy back your position in February the following year. To get this done you call your
Charles Schwab brokerage account manager and request that he immediately sell your
1,200 shares of Twitter and then in early February buy them back. Charles Schwab
charges a commission of $4.95 for online stock trades and for broker-assisted trades
there is an additional $25.00 service charge, so the total commission is $29.95.

a. Suppose that your total transaction costs for selling the 1,200 shares of Twitter
in December were $59.95. What was the bid/ask spread for Twitter at the time
your trade was executed?

b. Given that Twitter is listed on the NYSE, do your total transaction costs for
December seem reasonable? Explain why or why not.

c. When your February statement arrives in the mail, you see that your total trans-
action costs for buying the 1,200 shares of Twitter were $47.95. What was the
bid/ask spread for Twitter at the time your trade was executed?

d. What are your total round-trip transaction costs for both selling and buying the
shares, and what could you have done differently to reduce the total costs?

Initial public offering On April 13, 2017, Yext Inc. completed its IPO on the NYSE.
Yext sold 10,500,000 shares of stock at an offer price of $11 with an underwriting
discount of $0.77 per share. Yext’s closing stock price on the first day of trading on
the secondary market was $13.41, and 85,489,470 shares were outstanding.
Calculate the total proceeds for Yext’s [PO.

Calculate the percentage underwriter discount.

Calculate the dollar amount of the underwriting fee for Yext’s IPO.

Calculate the net proceeds for Yext’s IPO.

Calculate Yext’s IPO underpricing.

Calculate Yext’s market capitalization.

—e 0 T

Initial public offering A Brazilian company called Netshoes completed its IPO on
April 12,2017, and listed on the NYSE. Netshoes sold 8,250,000 shares of stock to
primary market investors at an IPO offer price of $18, with an underwriting dis-
count of 6.5%. Secondary market investors, however, were paying only $16.10 per
share for Netshoes’ 31,025,936 shares of stock outstanding.

Calculate the total proceeds for Netshoes’ IPO.

Calculate the dollar amount of the underwriting fee for Netshoes’ IPO.
Calculate the net proceeds for Netshoes’ IPO.

Calculate market capitalization for Netshoes’ outstanding stock.

Calculate IPO underpricing for Netshoes’ IPO.

Explain the IPO underpricing for Netshoes.

me o T

ETHICS PROBLEM The Securities Exchange Act of 1934 limits, but does not prohibit,
corporate insiders from trading in their own firm’s shares. What ethical issues might arise
when a corporate insider wants to buy or sell shares in the firm where he or she works?
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SPREADSHEET EXERCISE

MuleSoft, Inc. conducted its IPO on March 17, 2017 for the principal purposes of
increasing its capitalization and financial flexibility, creating a public market for its
Class A common stock, and enabling access to the public equity markets for it and its
stockholders. MuleSoft sold 13 million shares for an IPO offer price of $17 per share.
The underwriting discount was $1.19 per share. MuleSoft intends to use the net pro-
ceeds from the offering to the firm for general corporate purposes, such as working
capital, operating expenses, and capital expenditures, and to possibly acquire comple-
mentary businesses, products, services or technologies. MuleSoft’s closing stock price
was $24.75 after the first day of trading on the NYSE and there were 125,991,577
shares of stock outstanding.

TO DO

Create a spreadsheet to conduct an analysis of MuleSoft’s IPO, and determine the
following:

Calculate the total proceeds for MuleSoft’s IPO.

Calculate the percentage underwriter discount for MuleSoft’s IPO.
Calculate the dollar amount of the underwriting fee for MuleSoft’s IPO.
Calculate the net proceeds for MuleSoft’s IPO.

Calculate the percentage IPO underpricing for MuleSoft’s IPO.

Calculate the market capitalization for MuleSoft’s IPO after the first day of
trading in the secondary market.

me 0 T

MyLab Finance Visit www.pearson.com/mylab/finance for Chapter Case:
The Pros and Cons of Being Publicly Listed, Group Exercises, and numerous online resources.
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PART TWO

CHAPTERS IN THIS PART

3 Financial Statements and Ratio Analysis
4 Long- and Short-Term Financial Planning
5 Time Value of Money

In Part Two, you will learn about some of the basic analytical tools that financial
managers use almost every day. Chapter 3 reviews the main financial statements
used as a firm’s primary means of communication with investors, analysts, and the
rest of the business community. The chapter also demonstrates some simple tools
for analyzing the information contained in financial statements; these tools will help
managers to identify and diagnose financial problems.

Firms create financial statements using the accrual principles of accounting; in
finance, though, cash flow is what really matters. Chapter 4 shows how to use
financial statements in determining the amount of cash flow a firm is generating and
the ways in which it is spending that cash flow. It also explains how firms develop
short-term and long-term financial plans.

Managers must decide whether the cash flows that investments produce over
time justify their up-front costs. Chapter 5 illustrates techniques for making these
sorts of judgments.
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Financial Statements
and Ratio Analysis

LEARNING GOALS

LGQ Review the contents of the
stockholders’ report and
the procedures for
consolidating international
financial statements.

Wey>) Understand who uses
financial ratios and how.

Use ratios to analyze a

firm’s liquidity and activity.

Discuss the relationship

between debt and financial
leverage, as well as the
ratios used to analyze a
firm’s debt.

LG Use ratios to analyze a
firm’s profitability and its
market value.

Use a summary of financial

ratios and the DuPont
system of analysis to
perform a complete ratio
analysis.
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[ MyLab Finance Chapter Introduction Video ]

WHY THIS CHAPTER MATTERS TO YOU

In your professional life

ACCOUNTING You need to understand how your colleagues in the finance field
function as well as how outside investors analyze the four essential financial
statements that the accounting department compiles. You especially need to
understand how analysts use key financial ratios to assess a firm’s health.

INFORMATION SYSTEMS You need to understand what data are included in the
firm’s financial statements so you can design systems that will supply such data to
those who prepare the statements and to those who use the data for ratio
calculations.

MANAGEMENT You need to understand why different firm stakeholders will have
an interest in the firm's financial statements and how those stakeholders will
analyze the statements to assess the firm's performance—and yours.

MARKETING You need to understand the effects your decisions will have on the
financial statements, particularly the income statement and the statement of cash
flows, and how analysis of ratios, especially those involving sales figures, will affect
the firm's decisions about inventory, credit policies, and pricing decisions.

OPERATIONS You need to understand how the costs of operations are reflected
in the firm’s financial statements and how analysis of ratios—particularly those
involving assets, cost of goods sold, or inventory—may affect requests for new
equipment or facilities.

In your personal life

A routine step in personal financial planning is to prepare and analyze personal
financial statements so that you can monitor progress toward your financial goals.
Also, to build and monitor your investment portfolio, you need to understand and
analyze corporate financial statements.
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LGQ 3.1 The Stockholders’ Report

generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP)
The practice and procedure
guidelines used to prepare and
maintain financial records and
reports; authorized by the
Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB).

Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB)
The accounting profession’s
rule-setting body, which autho-
rizes generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP).

Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (PCAOB)
A not-for-profit corporation
established by the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 to protect
the interests of investors and
further the public interest in the
preparation of informative, fair,
and independent audit reports.

stockholders’ report

Annual report that publicly
owned corporations must provide
to stockholders; it summarizes
and documents the firm’s finan-
cial activities during the past year.

letter to stockholders
Typically, the first element of
the annual stockholders’ report
and the primary communication
from management.

income statement
Provides a financial summary
of the firm’s operating results
during a specified period.

Every corporation has many uses for the standardized reports of its financial
activities. Periodically, companies prepare reports for regulators, creditors (lend-
ers), owners, and management. The guidelines they use to prepare and maintain
financial records are known as generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).
The accounting profession’s rule-setting body, the Financial Accounting Stan-
dards Board (FASB), authorizes these accounting principles.

In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, enacted in an effort to
eliminate many disclosure and conflict of interest problems of corporations,
established the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB), a
not-for-profit corporation that oversees auditors of public corporations.
Congress charged the PCAOB with protecting the interests of investors and
furthering the public interest in the preparation of informative, fair, and
independent audit reports. Legislators hoped that the PCAOB would instill
confidence in investors with regard to the accuracy of public corporations’
audited financial statements.

The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)—the federal regulatory
body that governs the sale and listing of securities—requires publicly owned cor-
porations with more than $5 million in assets and 500 or more stockholders to
provide their stockholders with an annual stockholders’ report. The stockhold-
ers’ report summarizes and documents the firm’s financial activities during the
past year. It begins with a letter to the stockholders from the firm’s chief execu-
tive officer or chairman of the board.

THE LETTER TO STOCKHOLDERS

The letter to stockholders is the primary communication from management
in the annual report. It describes the events that managers believe had the
greatest effect on the firm during the year. It also typically discusses manage-
ment philosophy, corporate governance issues, strategies, and plans for the
coming year.

THE FOUR KEY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The four key financial statements required by the SEC for reporting to share-
holders are (1) the income statement, (2) the balance sheet, (3) the statement of
stockholders’ equity, and (4) the statement of cash flows. The financial state-
ments from the 2019 stockholders’ report of Bartlett Company, a manufacturer
of metal fasteners, are presented and briefly discussed in this section. Most likely,
you have studied these four financial statements in an accounting course, so the
purpose here is to refresh your memory of the basics rather than provide an
exhaustive review.

Income Statement

The income statement provides a financial summary of the firm’s operating
results during a specified period, usually one quarter or one year. Companies
produce and release to the public quarterly and annual income statements based
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in practice

Earnings Shenanigans

Near the end of each quarter, many
publicly traded companies unveil per-
formance numbers in a Wall Street
ritual known as “earnings season.”
Interest is high as media outlets race
to report the announcements, analysts
pore over the figures, and investors
trade on the implications. The most
anticipated metric is normally earn-
ings per share (EPS), which for each
firm is compared to the consensus
forecast of market analysts. Firms
beating the forecast tend to enjoy
jumps in share prices while those fall-
ing short, by even a small amount,
tend to suffer price declines.

Pressure to meet or beat market
expectations can push executives to
unethical, and sometimes illegal, acts of
financial misrepresentation. In April
2016, Logitech International S.A., a
leading producer of peripherals for
computers (like its famous mouse) and
other electronics, agreed to a $7.5 mil-
lion penalty to settle with the U.S. Secu-
rities and Exchange Commission (SEC)
for fraudulently underreporting losses

on a new product in 2011 and, more
generally, understating likely expenses
on product warranties in 2012/2013—
all just to meet earnings expectations.

In October 2010, Logitech
launched “Revue”—a device for
streaming online media on a televi-
sion. Demand fell far short of expecta-
tions, resulting in well over 100,000
unsold units by fourth quarter 2011.
Generally Accepted Accounting Prin-
ciples (GAAP) require valuing such
inventory at market value if the firm
foresees slashing the sales price below
cost. Yet Logitech failed to fully mark
down unsold Revues, thereby seri-
ously overstating 2011 operating
income. On a broader scale, Logitech
also artificially boosted income in
2012 and 2013 by understating the
number of its products covered by
warranties as well as the size of likely
claims on defective devices.

In his 2002 letter to shareholders,
Berkshire Hathaway President, CEO,
and Board Chairman Warren Buffett
shared three enduring nuggets of

wisdom to keep in mind when looking
at financials: (i) weak accounting prac-
tices typically signify bigger problems,
(i) unintelligible information usually
indicates shifty management, and

(iii) earnings often fall short of rosy
forecasts because firms seldom oper-
ate in predictable environments. The
Sage of Omaha closed the newsletter
on a prophetic note: “Managers that
always promise to ‘make the numbers’
will at some point be tempted to
make up the numbers.”

» Logitech understated potential
warranty expenses by assuming
customers would submit defective-
product claims within one quarter—
even though warranties extended for
many years. Suppose instinct tells
you the assumption is reasonable
and ethical because problems with
electronic devices occur soon after
purchase or not at all. What evidence
might you compile to challenge your
instincts and satisfy auditors?

“SEC Announced Financial Fraud Cases,” U.S. Securities and Exchange Press Release 2016-74 (April 19, 2016). Two executives also lost their jobs and
agreed to pay five-figure fines. Link: https://www.sec.gov/news/pressrelease/2016-74.html.

on their fiscal year, which may or may not align with a calendar year. Kroger’s
fiscal year, for example, ends on or near January 31, so the company would
report earnings for the fiscal year 2017 in January 2018. About 70% of U.S.
public companies align their fiscal year with the calendar year. Most large com-
panies produce income statements at least monthly, but they use these statements
internally and do not publicly release them.

Table 3.1 presents Bartlett Company’s income statements for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018. The 2019 statement begins with sales revenue,
which is the total dollar amount of sales during the period. Next we subtract the
cost of goods sold to obtain Bartlett’s gross profit of $986,000, which represents
the amount remaining to pay operating, financial, and tax costs. Then we deduct
operating expenses—which include selling expense, general and administrative
expense, lease expense, and depreciation expense—to arrive at operating profits
of $418,000. Operating profits represent what the company earned from pro-
ducing and selling products before deducting any costs related to debt financing


https://www.sec.gov/news/pressrelease/2016-74.html

CHAPTER 3 Financial Statements and Ratio Analysis 117

(i.e., interest expense) and taxes. For this reason, operating profit is often called
earnings before interest and taxes, or EBIT. Finally we deduct the cost of any
debt financing—interest expense—to find net profits (or earnings) before taxes.
After subtracting $93,000 in 2019 interest, Bartlett Company had $325,000 of
net profits before taxes.

Once we have the before-tax profit, we can calculate taxes due based on the
appropriate tax rates. Deducting taxes leaves us with net profits (or earnings)
after taxes, also referred to as net income. Bartlett Company’s net profits after
taxes for 2019 were $231,000. We must subtract preferred stock dividends (if
the firm has preferred stock) from net profits after taxes to arrive at earnings
available for common stockholders, which is the amount earned by the firm on
behalf of its common stockholders.

Dividing earnings available for common stockholders by the number
of shares of common stock outstanding results in earnings per share (EPS).
EPS represent the number of dollars earned during the period on behalf of
each outstanding share of common stock. In 2019, Bartlett Company earned
$221,000, and it had 76,262 common shares outstanding. Dividing earnings
available for common stockholders by shares outstanding results in earnings
per share of $2.90.

TABLE 3.1 Bartlett Company Income Statements ($000)

For the years ended December 31

2019 2018
Sales revenue $3,074 $2,567
Less: Cost of goods sold 2,088 1,711
Gross profits $ 986 $ 856
Less: Operating expenses
Selling expense $ 100 $ 108
General and administrative expenses 194 187
Other operating expenses 35 35
Depreciation expense 239 223
Total operating expense $ 568 $ 553
Operating profits $ 418 $ 303
Less: Interest expense 93 91
Net profits before taxes $ 325 $ 212
Less: Taxes 94 64
Net profits after taxes $ 231 $ 148
Less: Preferred stock dividends 10 10
Earnings available for common stockholders $§ 221 $ 138
Earnings per share (EPS)* $2.90 $1.81
Dividend per share (DPS)? $1.29 $0.75

“Calculated by dividing the earnings available for common stockholders by the number of
shares of common stock outstanding: 76,262 in 2019 and 76,244 in 2018. Earnings per share
in 2019: $221,000 + 76,262 = $2.90; in 2018: $138,000 + 76,244 = $1.81.

bCalculated by dividing the dollar amount of dividends paid to common stockholders by the number
of shares of common stock outstanding. Dividends per share in 2019: $98,000 + 76,262 = $1.29;
in 2018: $57,183 + 76,244 = $0.75.
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Companies are not legally required to pay dividends to shareholders, and in
fact many firms do not pay dividends, preferring to reinvest their earnings in new
assets to finance growth. However, many companies do pay dividends, and man-
agement (along with the board of directors) determines the size of the payments.
The doll In 2019, Bartlett decided to pay $98,000 in dividends to shareholders, which

e dollar amount of cash . . e
distributed during the period translates into a dividend per share of $1.29. Because Bartlett pays cash divi-
on behalf of each outstanding dends to its shareholders, the income statement shows how much cash the com-
share of common stock. pany paid to each share in 2019.

dividend per share (DPS)

PERSONAL FINANCE EXAMPLE 3.1  Jan and Jon Smith, a mid-30s married couple with no chil-
dren, prepared a personal income and expense statement,
which is similar to a corporate income statement. A condensed version of their

income and expense statement follows.

Jan and Jon Smith’s Income and Expense Statement
for the Year Ended December 31, 2019

Income
Salaries $91,500
Interest received 195
Dividends received 120
(1) Total income $91,815
Expenses
Mortgage payments $11,500
Auto loan payments 4,280
Utilities 3,180
Home repairs and maintenance 1,050
Food 8,235
Car expense 5,450
Health care and insurance 3,150
Clothes, shoes, accessories 2,745
Insurance 1,380
Taxes 36,600
Appliance and furniture payments 1,250
Recreation and entertainment 4,575
Tuition and books for Jan 3,830
Personal care and other items 915
(2) Total expenses $88,140
(3) Cash surplus (or deficit) [(1) — (2)] $ 3,675

During the year, the Smiths had total income of $91,815 and total expenses of
$88,140, which left them with a cash surplus of $3,675. They can save and invest the
surplus. Notice that the $3,675 represents just about 4% of the Smiths’ total income.
Most financial advisors would suggest a much higher savings rate, so Jan and Jon
may want to take a hard look at their budget to see where they can cut expenses.



balance sheet

Summary statement of the firm’s
financial position at a given
point in time.

current assets

Short-term assets, expected to be
converted into cash within 1 year.

current liabilities
Short-term liabilities, expected
to be paid within 1 year.
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Balance Sheet

The balance sheet presents a summary statement of the firm’s financial position
at a given time. The statement balances the firm’s assets (what it owns) against
its financing, which can be either debt (what it owes) or equity (what owners
provided). Bartlett Company’s balance sheets as of December 31 of 2019 and
2018 appear in Table 3.2. They show a variety of asset, liability (debt), and
equity accounts.

The balance sheet makes a clear distinction between short-term and long-
term assets and liabilities. The current assets and current liabilities are short-term
assets and liabilities, which means that the firm will convert them into cash

1y\:i05 =< Bartlett Company Balance Sheets ($000)

December 31
Assets 2019 2018
Cash $ 363 $ 288
Marketable securities 68 51
Accounts receivable 503 365
Inventories 289 300
Total current assets $1,223 $1,004
Land and buildings $2,072 $1,903
Machinery and equipment 1,866 1,693
Furniture and fixtures 358 316
Vehicles 275 314
Other (includes financial leases) 98 96
Total gross fixed assets (at cost) $4,669 $4,322
Less: Accumulated depreciation 2,295 2,056
Net fixed assets $2,374 $2,266
Total assets $3,597 $3,270
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Accounts payable $ 382 $ 270
Notes payable 79 99
Accruals 159 114
Total current liabilities $ 620 $ 483
Long-term debt (includes financial leases) 1,023 967
Total liabilities $1,643 $1,450
Preferred stock: cumulative 5%, $100 par, 2,000 shares $ 200 $ 200
authorized and issued
Common stock: $2.50 par, 100,000 shares authorized, 191 191
shares issued and outstanding in 2019: 76,262;
in 2018: 76,244
Paid-in capital in excess of par on common stock 428 417
Retained earnings 1,135 1,012
Total stockholders’ equity $1,954 $1,820

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $3,597 $3,270
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long-term debt
Debt for which payment is not
due in the current year.

paid-in capital in excess

of par

The amount of proceeds in
excess of the par value received
from the original sale of com-
mon stock.

retained earnings

The cumulative total of all earn-
ings, net of dividends, that have
been retained and reinvested in
the firm since its inception.

(current assets) or pay them (current liabilities) within 1 year. The balance sheet
classifies all other assets and liabilities, along with stockholders’ equity, as long-
term, or fixed, because they will likely remain on the firm’s books for more than
1 year.

Accountants refer to an item on the balance sheet as being liguid if the item
is easy to convert into cash quickly without much loss in value. The balance sheet
lists assets from the most liquid—cash—down to the least liquid. Marketable
securities are very liquid short-term investments, such as U.S. Treasury bills or
certificates of deposit, held by the firm. Most financial analysts view marketable
securities as almost perfect substitutes for cash because they are so easy to sell
quickly. Accounts receivable represent the total monies owed the firm by its cus-
tomers on credit sales. They are not as liquid as cash and marketable securities
because some uncertainty always exists regarding whether a firm’s customers
will pay their bills. Inventories include raw materials, work in process (partially
finished goods), and finished goods held by the firm. Inventories are even less
liquid because the firm must first sell the finished product and then collect on the
sale. The entry for gross fixed assets is the original cost of all fixed (long-term)
assets owned by the firm. Net fixed assets represent the difference between gross
fixed assets and accumulated depreciation, the total expense recorded for the
depreciation of fixed assets. The value of any item listed on the balance sheet is
called its book value.

Similarly, the balance sheet lists the liabilities and equity accounts from
short-term to long-term. Current liabilities include accounts payable, amounts
owed for credit purchases by the firm; notes payable, outstanding short-term
loans, typically from commercial banks; and accruals, amounts owed for ser-
vices for which a bill may not or will not be received. Examples of accruals
include taxes due the government and wages due employees. Long-term debt
represents debt for which payment is not due in the current year. Stockholders’
equity refers to the owners’ claims on the firm. The preferred stock entry shows
the historical proceeds from the sale of preferred stock ($200,000 for Bartlett
Company).

Next, the amount paid by the original purchasers of common stock
appears in two separate entries—common stock and paid-in capital in excess
of par on common stock. The common stock entry is the par value of com-
mon stock. Par value is an arbitrary number assigned to shares of stock when
they are first created. The par value is not related to the price investors pay
for the stock that a company issues. Paid-in capital in excess of par represents
the amount of proceeds in excess of the par value received from the original
sale of common stock. The sum of the common stock and paid-in capital
accounts divided by the number of shares outstanding represents the original
price per share received by the firm on a single issue of common stock. Bartlett
Company therefore received about $8.12 per share [($191,000 par +
$428,000 paid-in capital in excess of par) + 76,262 shares] from the sale of
its common stock.

Finally, retained earnings represent the cumulative total of all earnings, net
of dividends, that the company has retained and reinvested in the firm since its
inception. It is important to recognize that retained earnings do not represent a
pool of cash that the firm can draw upon. Rather, they are funds already rein-
vested in the business.
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statement of stockholders’
equity

Shows all equity account trans-
actions that occurred during a

given year.

statement of retained
earnings

Reconciles the net income earned
during a given year, and any cash
dividends paid, with the change
in retained earnings between the
start and the end of that year. An
abbreviated form of the state-
ment of stockholders’ equity.
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Bartlett Company’s balance sheets in Table 3.2 show that the firm’s total
assets increased from $3,270,000 in 2018 to $3,597,000 in 2019. The $327,000
increase was due to increases of $219,000 in current assets and $108,000 in net
fixed assets. The asset increase, in turn, appears to have been financed mainly by
increases of $123,000 in retained earnings and $193,000 in total liabilities.
Better insight into these changes can be derived from the statement of cash flows,
which we will discuss shortly.

The following personal balance sheet for Jan and Jon
Smith—the couple introduced earlier, who are married, in
their mid-30s, and have no children—is similar to a corporate balance sheet.

Jan and Jon Smith’s Balance Sheet: December 31, 2019

Assets Liabilities and Net Worth
Cash on hand $ 90 Credit card balances $ 665
Checking accounts 575 Utility bills 265
Savings accounts 760 Medical bills 75
Money market funds 800 Other current liabilities 45
Total liquid assets $ 2225 Total current liabilities $ 1,050
Stocks and bonds $ 2,250 Real estate mortgage $120,000
Mutual funds 1,500 Auto loans 14,250
Retirement funds, IRA 2,000 Education loan 13,800
Total investments $ 5,750 Personal loan 4,000
Real estate $180,000 Furniture loan 800
Cars 34,000 Total long-term liabilities $152,850
Household furnishings 3,700 Total liabilities $153,900
Jewelry and artwork 1,500 Net worth (N/W) 73,275
Total personal property $219,200 Tetiall Pl
Total assets $227.175 and net worth $227.175

The Smiths have total assets of $227,175 and total liabilities of $153,900. Personal
net worth (N/W) is a “plug figure”—the difference between total assets and total
liabilities—which in the case of Jan and Jon Smith is $73,275.

Statement of Retained Earnings

The statement of retained earnings is an abbreviated form of the statement
of stockholders’ equity. Unlike the statement of stockholders’ equity, which
shows all equity account transactions that occurred during a given year, the
statement of retained earnings reconciles the net income earned during a given
year, and any cash dividends paid, with the change in retained earnings between
the start and the end of that year. Table 3.3 presents this statement for Bartlett
Company for the year ended December 31, 2019. The statement shows that the
company began the year with $1,012,000 in retained earnings and had net profits
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statement of cash flows
Provides a summary of the firm's
operating, investment, and
financing cash flows and recon-
ciles them with changes in its
cash and marketable securities
during the period.

notes to the financial
statements

Explanatory notes keyed to rele-
vant accounts in the statements;
they provide detailed informa-
tion on the accounting policies,
procedures, calculations, and
transactions underlying entries in
the financial statements.

Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB)
Standard No. 52

Mandates that U.S.-based com-
panies translate their foreign-
currency-denominated assets
and liabilities into U.S. dollars,
for consolidation with the par-
ent company’s financial state-
ments. This process is done by
using the current rate (transla-
tion) method.
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Bartlett Company Statement of Retained Earnings ($000)
for the Year Ended December 31, 2019

TABLE 3.3

Retained earnings balance (January 1, 2019) $1,012
Plus: Net profits after taxes (for 2019) 231
Less: Cash dividends (paid during 2019)
Preferred stock 10
Common stock 98
Total dividends paid $ 108
Retained earnings balance (December 31, 2019) $1,135

after taxes of $231,000, from which it paid a total of $108,000 in dividends,
resulting in year-end retained earnings of $1,135,000. Thus, the net increase for
Bartlett Company was $123,000 ($231,000 net profits after taxes minus
$108,000 in dividends) during 2019.

Statement of Cash Flows

The statement of cash flows is a summary of the cash flows over the period. The
statement provides insight into the firm’s operating, investment, and financing
cash flows and reconciles them with changes in its cash and marketable securities
during the period. Bartlett Company’s statement of cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2019, appears in Table 3.4. We provide further insight into this
statement in our discussion of cash flow later in this text.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Included with published financial statements are explanatory notes keyed to the
relevant accounts in the statements. These notes to the financial statements pro-
vide detailed information on the accounting policies, procedures, calculations,
and transactions underlying entries in the financial statements. Common issues
addressed by these notes include revenue recognition, income taxes, breakdowns
of fixed asset accounts, debt and lease terms, and contingencies. Since passage of
Sarbanes-Oxley, notes to the financial statements have also included some details
about compliance with that law. Professional securities analysts use the data in
the statements and notes to develop estimates of the value of securities that the
firm issues, and these estimates influence the actions of investors and therefore
the firm’s share value.

CONSOLIDATING INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

So far, we’ve discussed financial statements involving only one currency, the U.S.
dollar. The issue of how to consolidate a company’s foreign and domestic financial
statements has bedeviled the accounting profession for many years. The current pol-
icy is described in Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Standard No. 52,



current rate (translation)
method

Technique used by U.S.-based
companies to translate their for-
eign-currency-denominated
assets and liabilities into U.S.
dollars, for consolidation with
the parent company'’s financial
statements, using the year-end
(current) exchange rate.
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Bartlett Company Statement of Cash Flows ($000)
LU REE  for the Year Ended December 31, 2019

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Net profits after taxes $ 231
Depreciation 239
Increase in accounts receivable -138¢
Decrease in inventories 11
Increase in accounts payable 112
Increase in accruals 45
Cash provided by operating activities $ 500
Cash Flow from Investment Activities
Increase in gross fixed assets —347
Change in equity investments in other firms 0
Cash provided by investment activities —$ 347
Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Decrease in notes payable =20
Increase in long-term debts 56
Changes in stockholders’ equity” 11
Dividends paid —108
Cash provided by financing activities -$ 61
Net increase in cash and marketable securities $ 92

“As is customary, parentheses are used to denote a negative number, which in this case is a
cash outflow.

PRetained earnings are excluded here because their change is actually reflected in the
combination of the “net profits after taxes” and “dividends paid” entries.

which mandates that U.S. companies translate their foreign-currency-denominated
assets and liabilities into U.S. dollars for consolidation with the parent company’s
financial statements. This process is done with a technique called the current rate
(translation) method, under which all of a U.S. parent company’s foreign-currency-
denominated assets and liabilities are converted into dollar values using the exchange
rate prevailing at the fiscal year ending date (the current rate). Income statement
items are treated similarly. Equity accounts, in contrast, are translated into dollars
by using the exchange rate that prevailed when the parent’s equity investment was
made (the historical rate). Retained earnings are adjusted to reflect each year’s oper-
ating profits or losses.

- REVIEW QUESTIONS MyLab Finance Solutions

3-1 What roles do GAAP, the FASB, and the PCAOB play in the financial

reporting activities of public companies?

Describe the purpose of each of the four major financial statements.

Why are the notes to the financial statements important to professional

securities analysts?

3-4 How is the current rate (translation) method used to consolidate a
firm’s foreign and domestic financial statements?

3-2
3-3



124 PART TWO Financial Tools

2) 3.2 Using Financial Ratios

ratio analysis

Involves methods of calculating
and interpreting financial ratios
to analyze and monitor the
firm’s performance.

cross-sectional analysis
Comparison of different firms’
financial ratios at the same
point in time; involves compar-
ing the firm’s ratios with those
of other firms in its industry or
with industry averages.

benchmarking

A type of cross-sectional analysis
in which the firm’s ratio values
are compared with those of a
key competitor or with a group
of competitors that it wishes to
emulate.

The information contained in the four basic financial statements has major sig-
nificance to a variety of interested parties who regularly need to have relative
measures of the company’s performance. Relative is the key word here, because
the analysis of financial statements is based on the use of ratios or relative values.
Ratio analysis involves methods of calculating and interpreting financial ratios to
analyze and monitor the firm’s performance. The basic inputs required to con-
duct ratio analysis are the firm’s income statement and balance sheet.

INTERESTED PARTIES

Ratio analysis of a firm’s financial statements is of interest to shareholders, credi-
tors, and the firm’s own management. Both present and prospective shareholders
are interested in the firm’s current and future level of risk and return, which
directly affect share price. The firm’s creditors concern themselves primarily with
the short-term liquidity of the company and its ability to make interest and prin-
cipal payments. A secondary concern of creditors is the firm’s profitability; they
want assurance that the business is healthy. Management, like stockholders,
focuses on all aspects of the firm’s financial situation, and it uses ratios to moni-
tor the firm’s performance from period to period.

TYPES OF RATIO COMPARISONS

Ratio analysis is not merely the calculation of a given ratio. More important is the
interpretation of the ratio value. Usually, the value of a particular ratio is less
important than how it changes over time or how it compares to the same ratios for
competing firms. Looking at ratios over time or in comparison to other firms in
the same industry allows users of financial ratios to make more refined judgments
about a company’s performance.

Cross-Sectional Analysis

Cross-sectional analysis involves the comparison of different firms’ financial
ratios at the same point in time. Analysts are often interested in how well a firm
has performed in relation to other firms in its industry. Frequently, a firm will
compare its ratio values with those of a key competitor, a group of competitors,
or even top-performing firms from other industries that it wishes to emulate.
Nearly all users of financial ratios employ this type of cross-sectional analysis,
called benchmarking.

One simple type of benchmarking compares a particular company’s financial
ratios to the industry averages. Several sources publish industry average ratios,
including the Almanac of Business and Industrial Financial Ratios, Dun & Brad-
street’s Industry Norms and Key Business Ratios, RMA Annual Statement Studies,
Value Line, and various online sources. Table 3.5 illustrates a brief cross-sectional
ratio analysis by comparing several ratios for pairs of firms that compete with each
other as well as for the industry average value.

Analysts have to exercise great care when drawing conclusions from ratio
comparisons. It’s tempting to assume that if one ratio for a particular firm is
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ay-\:]H= <} Financial Ratios for Select Firms and Their Industry Average Values

Average

collection  Total Net Return  Return on  Price to

Current Quick Inventory  period asset Debt profit ontotal common earnings
ratio ratio  turnover (days) turnover ratio margin  assets equity ratio
Apple 1.4 1.3 61.6 49.6 0.7 0.6 21.2% 14.2% 35.6% 16.9
Hewlett-Packard 1.0 0.7 8.8 31.1 1.7 0.7 5.2 8.6 16.4 10.7
Computers 1.5 0.6 21.0 57.0 0.8 0.4 156 11.9 32.3 16.0
Home Depot 1.3 0.4 4.3 5.3 1.6 0.5 4.0 6.5 13.7 22.7
Lowe’s 1.3 0.2 3.7 0.0 1.4 0.4 3.7 5.4 9.3 20.6
Building materials 2.8 0.8 3.7 5.3 1.6 0.3 4.0 6.5 13.7 26.2
Kroger 0.8 0.2 11.5 5.8 3.2 0.8 1.9 6.0 30.0 13.6
Whole Foods Market 1.5 1.1 19.9 5.6 2.5 0.5 3.2 8.0 15.7 18.0
Grocery stores 1.3 0.7 11.1 7.5 2.4 0.6 2.1 3.1 9.8 20.8
Target 0.9 0.3 5.9 3.9 1.8 0.7 3.8 7.1 24.4 10.7
Walmart 0.9 0.3 9.0 3.7 2.4 0.6 3.5 8.4 20.3 16.3
Merchandise stores 1.7 0.6 4.1 3.7 2.3 0.5 1.5 4.9 10.8 37.1

The data used to calculate these ratios are drawn from the Compustat North American database.

above the industry norm, it signifies that the firm is performing well, at least
along the dimension measured by that ratio. However, ratios may be above or
below the industry norm for both positive and negative reasons, and it is neces-
sary to determine why a firm’s performance differs from that of its industry
peers. Thus, ratio analysis on its own is probably most useful in highlighting
areas for further investigation.

EXAMPLE 3.3 In early 2019, Mary Boyle, the chief financial analyst at Caldwell Manufactur-
ing, a producer of heat exchangers, gathered data on the firm’s financial perfor-

MyLab Finance Solution mance during 2018, the year just ended. She calculated a variety of ratios and
Video obtained industry averages. She was especially interested in inventory turnover,

which reflects the speed with which the firm moves its inventory from raw mate-
rials through production into finished goods and to the customer as a completed
sale. Generally, analysts like to see higher values of this ratio because they indi-
cate a quicker turnover of inventory and more efficient inventory management.
Caldwell Manufacturing’s inventory turnover for 2018 and the industry average
inventory turnover were as follows:

Inventory Turnover, 2018

Caldwell Manufacturing 14.8
Industry average 9.7

Initially, Mary believed these data showed that the firm had managed its inven-
tory much better than the average firm in the industry. The turnover was nearly
53% faster than the industry average. On reflection, however, she realized that
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time-series analysis
Evaluation of the firm’s financial
performance over time using
financial ratio analysis.

a very high inventory turnover could be a sign that the firm is not holding enough
inventories. The consequence of low inventory could be excessive stockouts
(insufficient inventory to meet customer needs). Discussions with people in the
manufacturing and marketing departments did, in fact, uncover such a problem.
Inventories of raw materials during the year were extremely low, resulting in
numerous production delays that hindered the firm’s ability to meet demand and
resulted in disgruntled customers and lost sales. A ratio that initially appeared to
reflect extremely efficient inventory management was actually the symptom of a
major problem.

Time-Series Analysis

Time-series analysis evaluates performance over time. Comparison of current to
past performance, using ratios, enables analysts to assess the firm’s progress and
to spot trends. Any significant year-to-year changes may indicate a problem,
especially if the same trend is not an industry-wide phenomenon.

Combined Analysis

The most informative approach to ratio analysis combines cross-sectional and
time-series analyses. A combined view makes it possible to assess the trend in the
behavior of the ratio in relation to the trend for the industry. Figure 3.1 depicts
this type of approach. The figure shows the net profit margin for American Air-
lines as well as the U.S. airline industry from 2013 to 2016. A glance at the figure
reveals several interesting patterns. First, American Airlines was more profitable
than the industry in 2014 and 20135, but it lagged the industry in 2013 and 2016.
In other words, relative to industry profitability, American’s net profit margin
shows no discernible trend. Second, the airline industry seems quite volatile, with

FIGURE 3.1
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industry net profit margins fluctuating from a low of 4.4% in 2014 to a high of
15.0% in 2015. Like American, the airline industry’s profitability does not
exhibit any particular trend over this period. Third, American Airlines’ profits
are even more volatile than the industry’s, ranging from —6.9% to 18.6% during
this 4-year period. Of course, it makes sense that the financial results of one com-
pany would fluctuate more than the industry average, because grouping firms
together and taking an average smooths out some of the ups and downs that
individual firms experience.

CAUTIONS ABOUT USING RATIO ANALYSIS

Before discussing specific ratios, we should consider the following cautions about
their use:

1. Ratios that reveal large deviations from the norm merely indicate the possi-
bility of a problem. Analysts must do additional work to determine whether
a problem exists and to isolate the causes of the problem.

2. A single ratio does not generally provide sufficient information on which to
judge the overall performance of the firm. However, if an analysis focuses
only on certain specific aspects of a firm’s financial position, one or two
ratios may suffice.

3. Analysts should take care to use financial statements dated at the same
point in the year before calculating ratios for different companies. Other-
wise, the effects of seasonality may produce erroneous conclusions and
decisions.

4. It is preferable to use audited financial statements for ratio analysis. If state-
ments have not been audited, the data in them may not reflect the firm’s true
financial condition.

5. The financial data being compared should have been constructed using the
same set of accounting principles, such as GAAP. The use of differing
accounting treatments can distort the results of ratio comparisons.

6. Results can be distorted by high inflation, which can cause the book values of
inventory and depreciable assets to differ greatly from their replacement val-
ues. Additionally, inventory costs and depreciation write-offs can differ from
their true values, thereby distorting profits. Without adjustment, inflation
tends to make older firms (older assets) appear more efficient and profitable
than newer firms (newer assets). Clearly, in using ratios, you must be careful
when comparing older with newer firms or comparing a firm to itself over a
long period.

As noted above, no single financial ratio can reveal much about a firm’s financial
health, which has many different facets. Consequently, financial experts typically
analyze a firm using many different ratios.

Financial ratios fall into five general categories based upon the specific attri-
butes of performance they are designed to assess: liquidity, activity, debt, profit-
ability, and market ratios. Calculating these ratios requires, at a minimum, a
firm’s income statement and balance sheet. In the next section we will begin a
thorough ratio analysis of Whole Foods Market Inc. (prior to its acquisition by
Amazon) by using data from their balance sheets and income statements, which
appear in Table 3.6 and Table 3.7, respectively. We have condensed the actual
statements and simplified them slightly for presentation here. Note, however,
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= < Whole Foods Market Inc. Balance Sheets for 2016 and 2015 ($ millions)

Assets 2016 2015 Liabilities and Equity 2016 2015
Cash $ 852 $ 519 Accounts payable $ 307 $ 295
Accounts receivable 242 218 Other current liabilities 1,034 957
Inventory 517 500 Total current liabilities $1,341 $1,252
Other current assets 364 307 Long-term debt 1,776 720
Total current assets $1,975 $1,544 Total liabilities $3,117 $1,972
Property, plant, and equipment (net) 3,442 3,163 Common stock 907 1,780
Other long-term assets 924 1,034 Retained earnings 2,317 1,989
Total fixed assets $4,366 $4,197 Total equity $3,224 $3,769
Total assets $6,341 $5,741 Total liabilities plus equity $6,341 $5,741

Note: The company had 318.3 million and 348.9 million shares outstanding in 2016 and 20135, respectively.

TABLE 3.7

for 2016 and 2015 ($ millions)

Whole Foods Market Inc. Income Statements

2016 2015

Sales $15,724 $15,389
Less: Cost of goods sold 10,313 9,973

Gross profit $ 5,411 $ 5,416
Less: Selling, general, and administrative expenses 4,477 4,472
Other operating expenses 77 83
Operating profit (EBIT) $ 857 $ 861
Less: Interest expense 41 0
Plus: Other income 11 17
Pre-tax income $ 827 $ 878
Less: Taxes 320 342

Net income $§ 507 $§ 536
Dividends paid $ 177 $ 186

that you could analyze almost any company using the ratios presented in the
remainder of this chapter. Of course, many companies in different industries use

ratios that focus on aspects particular to their industry.

- REVIEW QUESTIONS MyLab Finance Solutions

3-5 With regard to financial ratio analysis, how do the viewpoints held by
the firm’s present and prospective shareholders, creditors, and manage-
ment differ?

3-6 What is the difference between cross-sectional and time-series ratio
analysis? What is benchmarking?

3-7 When performing cross-sectional ratio analysis, the analyst should pay
primary attention to what types of deviations from the norm? Why?

3-8 Why is it preferable to compare ratios calculated using financial state-

ments that are dated at the same point in time during the year?
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LCO 3.3 Liquidity Ratios

liquidity

A firm’s ability to satisfy its
short-term obligations as
they come due.

current ratio

A measure of liquidity calcu-
lated by dividing the firm’s
current assets by its current
liabilities.

The liquidity of a firm reflects its ability to satisfy its short-term obligations as
they come due. Generally speaking, a firm with greater liquidity will have an
easier time paying its bills and is less likely to become insolvent. Because a com-
mon precursor to financial distress and bankruptcy is low or declining liquidity,
these ratios can provide early warning signs that a company has cash flow prob-
lems that could cause the business to fail. Clearly, the ability of a firm to pay its
bills is desirable, so having enough liquidity for day-to-day operations is impor-
tant. However, liquid assets, like cash held at banks and marketable securities,
do not earn a particularly high rate of return, so shareholders will not want a
firm to overinvest in liquidity.

How much liquidity is enough? The liquidity needed depends on a variety of
factors, including the firm’s size, its access to short-term financing sources like
bank credit lines, and the volatility of its business. Larger firms with access to
bank credit need less liquidity than smaller firms that may not be able to borrow
in a crisis. All firms have to balance the need for safety that liquidity provides
against the low returns that liquid assets generate for investors. Beyond safety,
liquidity provides other benefits. For example, a firm with large cash reserves
will be able to make strategic investments quickly rather than going through the
process of raising additional funds to invest.

We can make some general statements about the optimal liquidity position
for a firm, though quantifying that precisely is probably impossible. To the
extent that a firm needs liquidity for safety, then a firm in an industry that is
volatile (like airlines, as we saw in Figure 3.1) needs more liquidity than one in a
more stable industry. Within a single industry, a firm that is itself riskier than
others in the industry (e.g., a firm that has more long-term debt) probably
requires more liquidity. From the strategic investment perspective, a firm in an
industry where the competitive dynamics are changing rapidly or consolidation is
taking place may need the ability to make sudden strategic investments, and that
need could justify a higher investment in liquid assets.

Though determining exactly how much liquidity a firm needs represents a
challenge, measuring a firm’s liquidity is relatively straightforward. The two
most common measures of liquidity are the current ratio and the quick (acid-test)
ratio.

CURRENT RATIO

The current ratio measures liquidity by comparing a firm’s current assets to its
current liabilities. The mathematical expression for the current ratio is

Current ratio = Current assets ~ Current liabilities (3.1)

The data required to calculate the current ratios for Whole Foods in 2016 and
2015 appear in Table 3.6. The current ratios for Whole Foods in those 2 years are

2016: $1,975 = $1,341 = 1.47
2015: $1,544 =+ $1,252 = 1.23
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MATTER OF FACT

Determinants of Liquidity Needs

Glance back at the first column of data in Table 3.5, which shows the current ratio for a
variety of companies and industries. Notice that the industry with the highest current
ratio (i.e., most liquidity) is building materials, an industry notoriously sensitive to busi-
ness cycle swings. The current ratio for that industry is 2.8, indicating that the typical firm
in that business has almost 3 times as much in current assets as in current liabilities. Two
of the largest competitors in that industry, The Home Depot and Lowe's, operate with a
current ratio of 1.3, less than half the industry average. Does this ratio mean that these
firms have a liquidity problem? Not necessarily. Large enterprises generally have well-
established relationships with banks that can provide lines of credit and other short-term
loan products in the event that the firm needs liquidity. Smaller firms may not have the
same access to credit and therefore tend to operate with more liquidity.

Whole Foods increased its liquidity position in 2016 to a level slightly above the
industry average, as shown in Table 3.5. The grocery industry is one in which cash
flows are relatively stable and predictable—people have to eat whether the economy
is booming or in recession. Ordinarily, we would therefore expect grocers to main-
tain less liquidity than firms in most other industries. Indeed, Table 3.5 shows that
the average current ratio in the grocery industry (1.3) is less than that in industries
such as computers (1.5), building materials (2.8), and retail merchandise stores
(1.7). However, prior to its acquisition by Amazon, Whole Foods occupied a unique
position in the grocery industry, one that catered to upscale consumers by offering
gourmet, organic food products at higher prices compared to traditional grocers
such as Kroger. Imagine what might happen to Whole Foods in a recession. Cus-
tomers cut back spending on luxury items first, which might mean a switch from
Whole Foods to a grocery provider with lower prices. Thus, we expect Whole Foods
to be riskier than the average grocery company, and that in turn may justify their
relatively high current ratio.

PERSONAL FINANCE EXAMPLE 3.4 = Individuals, like corporations, can use financial ratios to ana-

MyLab Finance Solution
Video

lyze and monitor their performance. Typically, personal
finance ratios are calculated using the personal income and expense statement
and personal balance sheet for the period of concern. Here we use these state-
ments, presented in the preceding personal finance examples, to demonstrate cal-
culation of Jan and Jon Smith’s liquidity ratio for calendar year 2019.

The personal liquidity ratio is calculated by dividing total liquid assets by
total current debt. It indicates the percentage of annual debt obligations that an
individual can meet using current liquid assets. The Smiths’ total liquid assets
were $2,225. Their total current debts are $18,080 (total current liabilities of
$1,050 + mortgage payments of $11,500 + auto loan payments of $4,280 +
appliance and furniture payments of $1,250). Substituting these values into the
ratio formula, we get

Total liquid assets  $2,225
Total current debts  $18,880

Liquidity ratio = = 0.123, 0or 12.3%

The ratio indicates that the Smiths can cover only about 12% of their existing
1-year debt obligations with their current liquid assets. Clearly, the Smiths plan to



quick (acid-test) ratio

A measure of liquidity calcu-
lated by dividing the firm’s
current assets less inventory
by its current liabilities.
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meet these debt obligations from their income, but this ratio suggests that their
liquid funds do not provide a large cushion. As one of their goals, they should
probably build up a larger fund of liquid assets to meet unexpected expenses.

QUICK (ACID-TEST) RATIO

The quick (acid-test) ratio is similar to the current ratio except that it excludes
inventory, which is generally the least liquid current asset. The generally low
liquidity of inventory results from two primary factors: (1) Many types of inven-
tory cannot be easily sold because they are partially completed items, special-
purpose items, and the like; and (2) inventory is typically sold on credit, which
means that it becomes an account receivable before being converted into cash.
An additional problem with inventory as a liquid asset is that the times when
companies face a dire need for liquidity, when business is bad, are precisely the
times when it is most difficult to convert inventory into cash by selling it. The
quick ratio is calculated as

Current assets — Inventory

Quick ratio = (3.2)

Current liabilities

The quick ratio calculations for Whole Foods show that the company increased
its most liquid assets significantly in 2016. A glance back at the balance sheet
makes it clear that Whole Foods dramatically increased its cash holdings in 2016,
whereas most other current asset and liability accounts did not change as much.
The consequence was a jump in the quick ratio, as shown below:

$1,975 — $517 _ §$1,458

2016 T siam Y
Sops, S1a544 = 8500 _ 51,044 _
81,252 %1252

The important question arising from these calculations is whether Whole
Foods was building up cash because it perceived a need for greater financial
safety, because it was planning to use the cash for a major investment, or for
some other reason.

MATTER OF FACT

The Importance of Inventories

Turn again to Table 3.5 and examine the columns listing current and quick ratios for dif-
ferent firms and industries. Notice that Apple has a current ratio of 1.4, almost identical
to current ratios for Home Depot and Lowe’s, which are both 1.3. The quick ratios for
Home Depot and Lowe's are much lower than their current ratios, but for Apple that is
not true—that firm’s current and quick ratios are nearly equal. Why? First, Apple relies
primarily on contract manufacturers to make its products, so it holds little or no inventory
while its devices are being made. Second, the popularity of Apple’s products means that
inventory does not sit on retail store shelves very long. In contrast, all it takes is a trip to
your local Home Depot or Lowe's store to see that the business model in this industry
requires a massive investment in inventory, which implies that the quick ratio will be
much less than the current ratio for building materials firms.
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As with the current ratio, the quick ratio level that a firm should strive to
achieve depends largely on the nature of the business in which it operates. The
quick ratio provides a better measure of overall liquidity only when a firm’s
inventory cannot be easily converted into cash. If inventory is liquid, the current
ratio is a preferred measure of overall liquidity.

> REVIEW QUESTIONS MyLab Finance Solutions

3-9 Under what circumstances would the current ratio be the preferred
measure of overall firm liquidity? Under what circumstances would the
quick ratio be preferred?

3-10 In Table 3.5, most of the specific firms listed have current ratios that
fall below the industry average. Why? One exception to this general
pattern is Whole Foods Market, which competes at the very high end
of the retail grocery market. Why might Whole Foods Market operate
with greater-than-average liquidity?

LG@ 3.4 Activity Ratios

activity ratios Activity ratios measure the speed with which various asset and liability accounts
Measure the speed with which  are converted into sales or cash. Activity ratios measure how efficiently a firm
various accounts are converted  gperates along a variety of dimensions, such as inventory management, disburse-
into sales or cash, orinflows or - yents, and collections. A number of ratios measure the activity of the most

outflows. important current accounts, which include inventory, accounts receivable, and
accounts payable. We can use ratios to assess the efficiency with which a firm
manages its total assets as well.
INVENTORY TURNOVER
For firms whose business involves holding significant inventory balances, the
inventory turnover ratio inventory turnover ratio is a metric used by analysts to judge the effectiveness of
Measures the activity, or liquid-  inventory management practices. Here again, the value of the inventory ratio
ity, of a firm’s inventory. that represents good management depends on the nature of the business. As you

would expect (and as you will soon see), grocery stores turn their inventory over
quite rapidly. After all, many items in a grocer’s inventory spoil quickly. In con-
trast, a firm that manufactures heavy equipment will turn its inventory over
much more slowly, partly because the manufacturing process itself takes a long
time, requiring a large investment in raw materials and work-in-process inven-
tory. The formula for calculating inventory is

Inventory turnover = Cost of goods sold + Inventory (3.3)

Remember that cost of goods sold represents the cost of all items sold by the
firm in a year, whereas inventory refers to the goods on hand at any moment.
Thus, when calculating this ratio, we arrive at a figure that represents the num-
ber of times per year the company “turns over,” or sells, its inventory balance.
To calculate inventory turnover for Whole Foods, we need information from



average age of inventory
Average number of days’ sales
in inventory.

average collection period
The average amount of time
needed to collect accounts
receivable.
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their income statement and balance sheet. Calculations show that Whole Foods
turned its inventory 19.9 times in both 2015 and 2016.

2016: $10,313 + $517 = 19.9
2015: $9,973 + $500 = 19.9

Another inventory activity ratio measures how many days of inventory the
firm has on hand. You can easily convert inventory turnover into an average age
of inventory by dividing the turnover ratio into 365. For example, if Whole
Foods sells its inventory 19.9 times within a single year, then that means its
inventory balance lasts, on average, about 18.3 days (365 +~19.9 = 18.3). Obvi-
ously, some items in inventory turn every day or two, such as freshly baked bread
or ready-to-eat food cooked in the store. If these items do not sell rapidly, they
spoil and go to waste. Other items, like canned goods or cleaning supplies, do
not sell as rapidly. On average, though, the typical item in a Whole Foods store
sells in about 18 days, and that figure didn’t change in 2016.

To illustrate how much financial ratios can vary across industries, consider
the Oregon-based company Willamette Valley Vineyards. Wine producers age
most varieties of wine they make before selling them to customers. In its recent
financial statements, Willamette reported that it held $10.63 million in inventory
and its cost of goods sold for the year was $7.1 million. Plugging those numbers
into Equation 3.3 reveals that Willamette’s inventory turnover ratio was just
0.67 times per year. Dividing that number into 3635 tells us that the average prod-
uct made by Willamette stays in inventory for 544 days!

AVERAGE COLLECTION PERIOD

The average collection period, or average age of accounts receivable, is useful in
evaluating credit and collection policies. It equals the accounts receivable balance
divided by average daily sales:!

Accounts receivable

A llecti iod =
verage collection perio Average sales per day
. (3.4)

_Accounts receivable

Annual sales
365

Applying data from Whole Foods’ income statement and balance sheet to
Equation 3.4, we find that the company’s collection period is exceedingly short
at just over 5 days.

$242

2016: —=2=_ = 56d
$15,724 ays

365
$218
2015: —=—_ = 524d
$15,389 s

365

1. The formula as presented assumes, for simplicity, that all sales are made on a credit basis. If that is not the case,
average credit sales per day should be substituted for average sales per day.
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A result like this for a grocery store company isn’t particularly surprising. Most
customers pay with cash, a check, or a credit card. Accounting practices treat all
those payment forms as cash sales. That is, when a customer pays Whole Foods
with a credit card (as long as the card is a Visa, MasterCard, or any card not
issued by Whole Foods), the transaction goes to cash on the firm’s balance sheet,
not to accounts receivable. The low collection period for Whole Foods really
reflects that they make very few sales on credit—not that they collect quickly
when they do sell on credit.

To get a different perspective on the average collection period, let’s examine
financial data from Whirlpool Corp. Whirlpool manufactures consumer durable
goods like ovens, refrigerators, washers, and dryers. It sells very little directly to
consumers. Instead, Whirlpool sells to appliance retailers like Best Buy, Lowe’s,
Home Depot and others. Nearly all these sales occur on credit, with Whirlpool
giving its retail partners some time to sell the appliances before they have to sub-
mit payment back to Whirlpool.

In 2016 Whirlpool’s receivables balance was $2.7 billion, with sales of
$20.7 billion. Plugging those numbers into Equation 3.4 shows that Whirlpool’s
average collection period was just less than 48 days. The year before, the compa-
ny’s collection period numbered about 44 days, so collections appear to have
slowed a little in 2016. A slowdown in collections would not be unusual in an
economy that was losing steam as customers struggled to pay their bills on time.
However, the U.S. economy performed relatively well in 2016, so does the slowing
collection period indicate an internal problem with Whirlpool’s collection efforts?

Although the overall economy performed well in 2016, many parts of the
brick-and-mortar retail segment struggled, largely (though not entirely) due to
competition from Amazon. Two of Whirlpool’s biggest U.S. customers, Sears and
Best Buy, reported declining or flat sales that year, and managers at Sears took the
unusual step of publicly announcing that they were not sure the company could
survive in the long term. The situation was better at Home Depot, where sales
increased, but their payables rose even faster, suggesting that Home Depot was
taking more time to pay its suppliers. The increase in Whirlpool’s collection period
from 44 to 48 days may not seem like a major change, but it represents hundreds
of millions of additional dollars tied up in the company’s accounts receivable.

The average collection period is meaningful only in relation to the firm’s
credit terms. If Whirlpool had extended its credit terms slightly in 2016, then that
alone could explain the increase in its collection period. If Whirlpool implemented
no change in credit terms in 2016, then the rising collection period could easily

MATTER OF FACT

Who Gets Credit?

Notice in Table 3.5 the vast differences across industries in the average collection peri-
ods. Companies in the building materials, grocery, and merchandise store industries col-
lect in just a few days, whereas firms in the computer industry take a month or two to
collect on their sales. This difference exists primarily because these industries serve very
different customers. Grocery and retail stores serve individuals who pay cash or use
credit cards (which, to the store, are essentially the same as cash). Computer manufactur-
ers sell to retail chains, businesses, and other large organizations that negotiate agree-
ments allowing them to pay well after the sale is made.



average payment period
The average amount of time
needed to pay accounts
payable.

total asset turnover
Indicates the efficiency with
which the firm uses its assets to
generate sales.
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indicate either deteriorating financial conditions among Whirlpool’s customers or
perhaps even problems with its collections department. Either situation would
require further attention from the company’s financial management team.

AVERAGE PAYMENT PERIOD

The average payment period, or average age of accounts payable, is calculated in
the same manner as the average collection period:

Accounts payable

A t period =
SRS R rE Average purchases per day

(3.5)

_ Accounts payable

 Annual purchases
365

The difficulty in calculating this ratio stems from the need to find annual pur-
chases,” a value not available in published financial statements. Ordinarily,
purchases are estimated as a given percentage of cost of goods sold. If we
assume that Whole Foods’ purchases equaled 70% of its cost of goods sold, its
average payment period is

$307

2016: = 15.
016 520> 510313 5.5 days

365
$295
2015: — 2220 _ 154
070 x §9.073 _ 34 days

365

Whole Foods pays for purchases in about 15 days, a figure that barely moved in
2016. As was true with the average collection period, we can make judgments
about Whole Foods’ 15-day average payment period only if we know the credit
terms offered by their suppliers. If Whole Foods’ suppliers have extended, on
average, 15-day credit terms, an analyst would conclude that the company is
doing a good job of paying its bills on time. Although we have no information
about the credit terms granted to Whole Foods, there are likely no issues of con-
cern here because the payment period remained virtually fixed for 2 years.

TOTAL ASSET TURNOVER

The total asset turnover is a measure of the efficiency with which the firm uses its
assets to generate sales. This ratio simply indicates how many dollars of sales a
firm produces for each dollar of assets that it has invested in the business. The
formula for total asset turnover is

Total asset turnover = Sales = Total assets (3.6)

2. Technically, we should use annual credit purchases—rather than annual purchases—in calculating this ratio. For
simplicity, we ignore this refinement here.
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MATTER OF FACT

Sell It Fast

Observe in Table 3.5 that the grocery business has more rapid total asset turnover than
any other industry. That makes sense because inventory is among the most valuable
assets held by these firms, and grocery stores must sell baked goods, dairy products, and
produce quickly or throw such items away when they spoil. It's true that some items in a
grocery store have a shelf life longer than anyone really wants to know (think Twinkies),
but on average a grocery store has to replace its entire inventory in just a few days or
weeks, and that practice contributes to the rapid turnover of the firm’s total assets.

For Whole Foods, the total asset turnover figures for 2015 and 2016 are

2016: $15,724 + $6,341 = 2.48
2015: $15,389 + $5,741 = 2.68

Whole Foods’ asset turnover slowed a bit in 2016, and that would concern manag-
ers if it was part of a long-term trend for the company. Looking back at Table 3.5,
we see that the average asset turnover ratio for the grocery industry is 2.4, so
Whole Foods’ performance is in line with the industry norm.

Generally, the higher a firm’s total asset turnover, the more efficiently its
assets have been used. This measure is probably of greatest interest to manage-
ment because it indicates whether the firm’s operations have been financially
efficient.

- REVIEW QUESTION MyLab Finance Solutions

3-11 To assess the firm’s average collection period and average payment
period ratios, what additional information is needed, and why?

L@ 3.5 Debt Ratios

The debt position of a firm indicates the amount of money the firm uses that
does not come from shareholders, but rather from lenders. In general, analysts
center most on long-term debts that commit the firm to a stream of contractual
payments over many years. The greater the debt, the greater is the firm’s risk of
being unable to meet its contractual debt payments. Because firms must satisfy
creditors’ claims before they can pay shareholders, current and prospective share-
holders pay close attention to the firm’s ability to repay debts. Lenders are also
concerned about the firm’s indebtedness, because holding everything else con-
stant, a firm with more debt has a greater risk of failing to repay its lenders.

In general, the more debt a firm uses in relation to its total assets, the greater
financial leverage is its financial leverage. The term financial leverage refers to the degree to which
The magnification of risk and a firm uses debt financing (or other types of fixed-cost financing, such as pre-
return through the use of fixed-  ferred stock) and to the effects of debt financing. When a firm finances more of
cost financing, such as debtand s investment by borrowing money, the expected return on the investment
preferred stock. increases, but so does the risk.



EXAMPLE 3.5

degree of indebtedness

Ratios that measure the amount

of debt relative to other signifi-
cant balance sheet amounts.
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Patty Akers is incorporating her new business. After much analysis, she deter-
mined that an initial investment of $50,000—$20,000 in current assets and
$30,000 in fixed assets—is necessary. These funds can be obtained in one of two
ways. The first is the no-debt plan, under which she would invest the full $50,000
without borrowing. The other alternative, the debt plan, involves investing
$25,000 and borrowing the balance of $25,000 at 6% annual interest.

Patty expects $30,000 in sales, $18,000 in operating expenses, and a 21%
tax rate. Projected balance sheets and income statements associated with the two
plans appear below in Table 3.8. The no-debt plan results in after-tax profits of
$9,480, which represent a 19% rate of return on Patty’s $50,000 investment.
The debt plan results in $8,295 of after-tax profits, which represent a 33.2% rate
of return on Patty’s investment of $25,000. The debt plan provides Patty with a
higher rate of return, but also has a greater risk because the annual $1,500 of
interest must be paid whether Patty’s business is profitable or not.

The previous example demonstrates that with increased debt comes greater
risk as well as bigher potential return. Therefore, the greater the financial lever-
age, the greater the potential risk and return. A detailed discussion of the effect
of debt on the firm’s risk, return, and value appears later in this text. For now we
will focus on how analysts use financial leverage ratios to assess a firm’s debt
position.

Leverage measures are of two general types: measures of the degree of indebt-
edness and measures of the ability to repay debts. The degree of indebtedness
ratios measure the amount of debt relative to other significant balance sheet
amounts. Two common measures of the degree of indebtedness are the debt ratio
and the debt-to-equity ratio.

AR Financial Statements Associated with Patty’s Alternatives

Balance sheets No-debt plan Debt plan

Current assets $20,000 $20,000

Fixed assets 30,000 30,000
Total assets $50,000 $50,000

Debt (6% interest) $ 0 $25,000

(1) Equity 50,000 25,000
Total liabilities and equity $50,000 $50,000

Income Statements

Sales $30,000 $30,000

Less: Operating expenses 18,000 18,000
Operating profits $12,000 $12,000

Less: Interest expense 0 0.06 X $25,000 = $ 1,500
Net profits before taxes $12,000 $10,500

Less: Taxes (rate = 21%) 2,520 2,205
(2) Net profits after taxes $ 9,480 $ 8,295

, $9,480 $8,295
Return on equity [(2) + (1) ] m =19% m = 33.2%
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ability to repay debt
coverage ratios

Ratios that measure a firm'’s
ability to make required debt
payments and to pay other
fixed charges such as lease
payments.

debt ratio

Measures the proportion of
total assets financed by the
firm's creditors.

debt-to-equity ratio
Measures the relative propor-

tion of total liabilities and com-

mon stock equity used to
finance the firm’s total assets.

Financial Tools

The second type of leverage measures focuses on a firm’s ability to repay debt.
These ratios compare the income that a firm earns to the fixed payments (for debts
and obligations such as leases) that it is obliged to make. These ratios are also called
coverage ratios, and they help analysts assess whether a company can service their
debts (i.e., make payments on time). Typically, lenders prefer higher coverage
ratios, but a very high ratio might indicate that the firm’s management is too con-
servative and could earn higher returns by borrowing more. In general, lower cov-
erage ratios mean that a firm is less likely to repay its debt in full and on time. If a
firm is unable to pay these obligations, its creditors may seek immediate repayment,
which in most instances would force a firm into bankruptcy. Two popular coverage
ratios are the times interest earned ratio and the fixed-payment coverage ratio.

DEBT RATIO

The debt ratio measures the proportion of total assets financed by the firm’s
creditors. A higher debt ratio means that a firm is using a larger amount of other
people’s money to finance its operations, or equivalently, the firm is using greater
financial leverage. The formula for debt ratio is

Debt ratio = Total liabilities +~ Total assets (3.7)

Plugging values from Whole Foods’ balance sheet into Equation 3.7, we find that
the company’s debt ratios are

2016: $3,117 + $6,341 = 0.49 = 49%
2015: $1,972 = $5,741 = 0.34 = 34%

This value indicates that the company has financed close to half its assets with
debt as of 2016 and that the company dramatically increased its debt ratio that
year. An increase in the debt ratio could reflect a strategic financial decision by
Whole Foods’ management to position the company in a way that would allow it
to earn higher returns while taking greater risk. In fact, a reading of manage-
ment’s commentary that accompanies the financial statements in the annual
report indicates that in the past year the firm issued new long-term notes (i.e., it
borrowed money) and used some of the proceeds from that borrowing to repur-
chase shares, thus shifting its financing mix away from equity toward debt.

DEBT-TO-EQUITY RATIO

The debt-to-equity ratio measures the relative proportion of total liabilities to
common stock equity used to finance the firm’s assets. As with debt ratio, a
higher debt-to-equity ratio means that the firm uses more financial leverage. The
debt-to-equity ratio is calculated as

Debt-to-equity ratio = Total liabilities +~ Common stock equity  (3.8)

The debt-to-equity ratios for Whole Foods look like this

2016: $3,117 + $3,224 = 0.97
2015: $1,972 + $3,769 = 0.52



times interest earned ratio
Measures the firm’s ability to
make contractual interest pay-
ments; sometimes called the
interest coverage ratio.
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This result tells us that in 2016, for every $1.00 common stockholders have
invested in Whole Foods, the company owes about 97¢ to creditors. These ratios
show even more dramatically the shift in the company’s financing mix away
from equity toward debt. Of note, several methods exist for calculating the debt-
to-equity ratio. A common alternative uses only long-term debt in the numera-
tor. In that case, the ratios for Whole Foods are

2016: $1,776 + $3,224 = 0.55
2015: $720 + $3,769 = 0.19

When conducting ratio analyses, some financial analysts choose to consider all
stockholders, including both preferred and common stockholders, rather than
only common stockholders, in which case they use values relevant to all stock-
holders, such as net profits after taxes (instead of earnings available for common
stockholders) and total stockholders’ equity (instead of common stock equity).
Clearly, different methods can lead to very different results, although in this case
the two methods produce the same results because Whole Foods has only com-
mon stock outstanding. Here again we note that high versus low debt ratios
reflect a tradeoff, specifically that higher debt leads to both higher return and
risk. Making blanket statements that a firm clearly has too much or too little
debt is difficult, except perhaps when the firm’s debts are so high that it can’t
repay them. Assessing a firm’s ability to repay debts is the focus of the coverage
ratios that we turn to next.

TIMES INTEREST EARNED RATIO

The times interest earned ratio, sometimes called the interest coverage ratio, mea-
sures the firm’s ability to make contractual interest payments. The higher its
value, the better able the firm is to fulfill its interest obligations. The times inter-
est earned ratio is calculated as

Times interest earned ratio = Earnings before interest and taxes =+ Interest (3.9)

The figure for earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) is the same as that for
operating profits shown in the income statement. The income statement for Whole
Foods in 2015 shows interest expense of $0, so we cannot use Equation 3.9 in
that year. The times interest earned ratio in 2016 is

Time interest earned ratio = $857 + $41 = 20.9

At first glance, this ratio seems to indicate that Whole Foods has EBIT more than
20 times what it needs to cover the interest charges on its debt. If that were true,
it would indicate that the company should have no problem meeting its long-
term obligations. However, the figure may be somewhat misleading because
Whole Foods leases many of its properties. Lease payments are very similar to
interest payments in the sense that the payments are fixed and the firm must
make those payments whether business is good or bad. In other words, lease
expenses influence a firm’s risk and return profile in much the same way that
borrowing money does.
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fixed-payment coverage
ratio

Measures the firm’s ability to
meet all fixed-payment
obligations.

FIXED-PAYMENT COVERAGE RATIO

The fixed-payment coverage ratio measures the firm’s ability to meet all fixed-
payment obligations such as loan interest and principal, lease payments, and pre-
ferred stock dividends. As is true of the times interest earned ratio, the higher this
value, the better. The formula for the fixed-payment coverage ratio is

Fixed-

payment Earnings before interest and taxes + Lease payments
coverage B Interest + Lease payments +

ratio {(Principal payments + Preferred stock dividends ) X [1/(1— T)]}

(3.10)

where T is the corporate tax rate applicable to the firm’s income. The term
1/(1 — T) is included to adjust the after-tax principal and preferred stock divi-
dend payments back to a before-tax equivalent that is consistent with the before-
tax values of all other terms. Unfortunately, from the abbreviated financial
statements in Tables 3.6 and 3.7, we cannot calculate this ratio for Whole Foods.

Like the times interest earned ratio, the fixed-payment coverage ratio mea-
sures risk. The lower this ratio, the greater is the risk to both lenders and owners;
the greater this ratio, the lower is the risk. This ratio allows interested parties to
assess the firm’s ability to meet additional fixed-payment obligations without
being driven into bankruptcy.

- REVIEW QUESTIONS MyLab Finance Solutions

3-12 What is financial leverage?
3-13 What ratio measures the firm’s degree of indebtedness? What ratios
assess the firm’s ability to service debts?

LCO 3.6 Profitability Ratios

common-size income
statement

An income statement in which
each item is expressed as a per-
centage of sales.

There are many measures of profitability. As a group, these measures enable ana-
lysts to evaluate the firm’s profits with respect to its sales, assets, or the owners’
investment. Owners, creditors, and managers pay close attention to boosting
profits because of the great importance the market places on them.

COMMON-SIZE INCOME STATEMENTS

A useful tool for evaluating profitability in relation to sales is the common-size
income statement. Each item on this statement is expressed as a percentage of
sales. Common-size income statements prove especially useful when comparing
performance across years because it is easy to see if certain categories of expenses
are trending up or down as a percentage of the total volume of business that the
company transacts. Three frequently cited ratios of profitability that come
directly from the common-size income statement are (1) the gross profit margin,
(2) the operating profit margin, and (3) the net profit margin.



gross profit margin
Measures the percentage of
each sales dollar remaining
after the firm has paid for its
goods.
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TABLE 3.9 Whole Foods Common-Size Income Statements

Evaluation®
2016 2015 2015-2016
Sales revenue 100.0% 100.0%
Less: Cost of goods sold 65.6 64.8 Worse
(1) Gross profit margin 34.4% 35.2% Worse
Less: Operating expenses
Less: Selling, general, and administrative 28.5% 29.1% Better
expenses
Other operating expenses 0.5 0.5 Same
(2) Operating profit margin 5.4% 5.6% Worse
Less: Interest expense 0.3 0.0
Plus: Other income 0.1% 0.1%
Pre-tax income 52% 5.7% Worse
Less: Taxes 2.0 2.2 Better
(3) Net profit margin 3.2% 3.5% Worse

9Subjective assessments based on data provided.

Table 3.9 shows common-size income statements for 2016 and 2015 for
Whole Foods. These statements reveal that the firm’s cost of goods sold increased
from 64.8% of sales in 2015 to 65.6% in 2016, resulting in a worsening gross
profit margin. Operating income and net income fell as well, but a decline in
operating expenses helped to moderate the company’s decline in income.

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

The gross profit margin measures the percentage of each sales dollar remaining
after the firm has paid for its cost of goods sold. The higher the gross profit margin,
the better. Analysts pay close attention to changes in a company’s gross profit
margin, particularly when a company’s profits depend on its intellectual property
(like high technology) or its brand value. The reason why the gross profit margin
is so important is simple. You can loosely think of the gross profit margin as a
measure of the “markup” on a firm’s products. A company with a high gross profit
margin is able to charge a high price relative to what it spends to make a prod-
uct, and that is an indicator of a strong competitive position in the market.
Conversely, a thin gross profit margin suggests that the company cannot charge a
great deal more than the production costs of the product, which is a sign that the
company operates in a highly competitive environment or has noncompetitive
manufacturing costs. When analysts see a dip in a company’s gross profit margin,
they may interpret it as a sign of a weakening competitive position.

To understand this point, look at Figure 3.2, which shows how Apple’s
introduction of the iPhone changed that company’s gross margin. Apple sold its
first iPhone in the fourth quarter of its 2007 fiscal year, and the company quickly
increased its share of the smartphone market from nothing to 17% by the third
quarter of 2009. Over that same period, Apple’s gross margin improved from
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FIGURE 3.2

Apple Gross Margin and Share of Smartphone Market 2004-2016
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34.7% to 41.8%. That increased gross profit margin meant that for every dollar
of revenue Apple generated, it earned roughly an additional 7¢ in gross profit.
For several years, Apple’s competitive position strengthened as the share of the
firm’s total revenues coming from smartphones increased. By the middle of 2012,
Apple’s gross margin and its share of the smartphone market peaked at 47% and
23%, respectively. Since then, competition has reduced Apple’s share of smart-
phone sales and its gross margin, although Apple is still much more profitable
than it was before it launched the iPhone.
The formula for the gross profit margin is

Sales — Cost of goods sold  Gross profits

Gross profit margin = (3.11)

Sales Sales

Returning to our running ratio analysis of Whole Foods’ financial performance,
we see that their gross profit margin for 2016 and 2015 is

$15,724 — $10,313

2016: $15724 = 0.344 = 34.4%
2015, 315,389 = 89973 uor 3500
: $15,389 T T e

We can also see that the gross profit margin is labeled (1) on the common-size
income statement in Table 3.9. Whole Foods’ gross profit margin slipped a bit in
2016, which is a worrisome sign that managers would want to watch carefully.



operating profit margin
Measures the percentage of
each sales dollar remaining
after all costs and expenses
other than interest, taxes, and
preferred stock dividends are
deducted; the “pure profits”
earned on each sales dollar.

net profit margin

Measures the percentage of
each sales dollar remaining
after all costs and expenses,
including interest, taxes, and
preferred stock dividends, have
been deducted.
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OPERATING PROFIT MARGIN

The operating profit margin measures the percentage of each sales dollar remain-
ing after deducting all costs and expenses other than interest, taxes, and pre-
ferred stock dividends. It represents the “pure profits” earned on each sales
dollar. Operating profits are “pure” because they measure only the profits earned
on operations and ignore interest, taxes, and preferred stock dividends. The
operating profit margin is calculated as

Operating profit margin = Operating profits + Sales (3.12)

The operating margin for Whole Foods looks like this:

2016: $857 + $15,724 = 0.054 = 5.4%
2015: $861 + $15,389 = 0.056 = 5.6%

This value is labeled (2) on the common-size income statement in Table 3.9. As
was the case with the company’s gross margin, Whole Foods’ operating margin
declined a bit in 2016.

NET PROFIT MARGIN

The net profit margin measures the percentage of each sales dollar remaining
after all costs and expenses, including interest, taxes, and preferred stock divi-
dends, have been deducted. Naturally, managers and analysts view a high net
profit margin in a positive light. The higher the firm’s net profit margin, the bet-
ter. The net profit margin is calculated as

Net profit margin = Earnings available for common stockholders + Sales (3.13)

Applying Equation 3.13 to the numbers in Whole Foods’ income statements, we
find that their net profit margin is

2016: $507 + $15,724 = 0.032 = 3.2%
2015: $536 + $15,389 = 0.034 = 3.4%

This value is labeled (3) on the common-size income statement in Table 3.9.
Does it surprise you that Whole Foods makes just a little more than 3¢ of net
profit for each dollar of groceries that it sells? The grocery industry earns notori-
ously thin net profit margins, largely because food products are undifferentiated.
An apple you buy at one grocery store looks and tastes pretty much like an apple
you buy anywhere else, so grocery pricing tends to be very competitive. Notice in
Table 3.5, however, that Whole Foods’ net profit margin is a little higher than
Kroger’s, which is consistent with Whole Foods’ strategy to sell more unique
food items to upscale customers.

The net profit margin is a commonly cited measure of the firm’s success
with respect to earnings on sales. “Good” net profit margins differ considerably
across industries. A net profit margin of 2% or less would not be unusual for a
grocery store, whereas a net profit margin of 10% would be low for a retail jew-
elry store.
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PART TWO Financial Tools

EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS)

The firm’s earnings per share (EPS) is generally of interest to present or pro-
spective stockholders and management. As we noted earlier, EPS represents the
number of dollars earned during the period on behalf of each outstanding share
of common stock. Unlike most of the ratios we’ve studied so far, EPS is not a
figure that analysts can compare across companies in a meaningful way. That’s
because every company has a different number of common shares outstanding.
If we observe that Whole Foods has EPS that are roughly 3 times greater than
Kroger’s EPS, we cannot conclude that managers at Whole Foods are doing a
better job. The difference in EPS is a function of both the profits earned by each
company and the number of outstanding shares. Therefore, analysts look
closely at how EPS change over time for a particular company and at how a
firm’s EPS compare to its stock price (as we will see shortly). Earnings per share
is calculated as

Earnings available for common stockholders

Earnings per share = -
2 Number of shares of common stock outstanding

The note to Whole Foods’ balance sheet in Table 3.6 tells us how many shares of
stock the company had outstanding in 2015 and 2016, so combining that infor-
mation with the net income figures from Table 3.7 we have

2016: $507 + 318.3 = $1.59
2015: $536 + 348.9 = $1.54

Notice an interesting pattern here. Whole Foods earned a smaller net profit in
2016 ($507 versus $536 in 2015) and a smaller net profit margin (3.2% versus
3.4% in 2015), but it reported higher earnings per share in 2016 ($1.59 versus
$1.54). How did the company earn less money overall and at the same time
earn more per share? The answer is that Whole Foods repurchased shares in
2016, so the total number of outstanding shares declined. Firms repurchase
shares for many reasons. One reason is to put excess cash held by a company
into the hands of shareholders, but another may be to increase the EPS figure.
We will return to the motivations for and consequences of share repurchases
later in this book.

Besides repurchasing shares, firms can return cash to shareholders by pay-
ing dividends. The dollar amount of cash actually distributed to each share is
the dividend per share (DPS). Table 3.7 shows that Whole Foods paid $177
million and $186 million in dividends in 2016 and 20135, respectively. Divid-
ing those figures by the number of outstanding shares in each year, we see that
the company paid DPS of about $0.56 in 2016 and $0.53 in 2015. Thus,
although Whole Foods decreased its total dividend payments in 2016, the DPS
increased because the company decreased the number of outstanding shares
that year. Notice that Whole Foods” DPS are quite a bit less than its EPS.
Most firms that pay dividends do not pay out all earnings as dividends.
Instead, they reinvest some of their earnings to help finance future investment
and growth.



return on total assets (ROA)
Measures the overall effective-
ness of management in gener-
ating profits with its available
assets; also called the return on
investment (ROI).

return on equity (ROE)
Measures the return earned on
the common stockholders’
investment in the firm.
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RETURN ON TOTAL ASSETS (ROA)

The return on total assets (ROA), one of several ratios that are sometimes called the
return on investment (ROI), measures the overall effectiveness of management in
generating profits with its available assets. The return on total assets is calculated as

ROA = Earnings available for common stockholders + Total assets  (3.15)

For Whole Foods, the ROA results for 2016 and 2015 are

2016: $507 + $6,341 = 0.080 = 8.0%
2015: $536 + $5,741 = 0.093 = 9.3%

The numbers here tell us that Whole Foods earned about 9.3¢ for each dollar of
assets in 20135, but it earned just 8¢ in 2016.

The decline in Whole Foods” ROA in 2016 is one of the more alarming
changes we’ve identified in this ratio analysis of the firm’s performance. This
drop occurred because net income fell about 5.4% in 2016, while total assets
increased by 10.4%. Whole Foods invested more assets in its business and simul-
taneously earned less income—clearly not an outcome desired by the company or
its investors. Financial analysts working at Whole Foods or at outside firms that
might invest in Whole Foods’ stock would surely investigate this result in more
depth, and in so doing they would explore several questions. First, the analysis
here examines just 2 years of data. Analysts could easily calculate the company’s
ROA going back several more years to see if Whole Foods’ ROA in 2015 was
unusually good. In that case, the 2016 ROA of 8.0% might be more in line with
the company’s